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Council Meeting Details

At the time of printing this Agenda, the Council Meeting to be held on Monday 24 June 2024, will 
be open to the public to attend in person but will be subject to venue seating capacity. This will be 
a hybrid meeting consisting of Councillors attending in person and remotely. 

If we are unable to accommodate you indoors, you will still be able to watch the webcast live on the 
Urban Screen in Harmony Square. To view the webcast and stay informed about the status of 
Council Meetings please visit Council's website.

The Civic Centre basement carpark will be opened to all members of the public during 
library opening hours. Any parking in this area will be subject to availability and time limits 
as notified by any signage posted.

Your Councillors

Mayor Lana Formoso Cr Bob Milkovic

Deputy Mayor Richard Lim OAM Cr Sean O’Reilly

Cr Phillip Danh Cr Sophaneth (Sophie) Tan

Cr Tim Dark Cr Loi Truong

Cr Rhonda Garad

Cr Angela Long

Cr Jim Memeti

https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/council-meetings
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/deputy-mayor-cr-lana-formoso-noble-park-north-ward
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-bob-milkovic-dandenong-north
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-richard-lim-oam-springvale-central-ward
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-sean-oreilly-springvale-north-ward
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-phillip-danh-yarraman-ward
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-sophaneth-sophie-tan-noble-park-ward
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-tim-dark-keysborough-ward
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-loi-truong-springvale-south-ward
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-rhonda-garad-keysborough-south-ward
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-angela-long-cleeland-ward
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/councillor/cr-jim-memeti-dandenong-ward
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COUNCIL OBLIGATIONS AND AGENDA REPORTS 
Council has several obligations in relation to its Community Vision, Council Plan, Instruments of Legislation 
and Council policy. These are summarily considered in each Agenda report and further details are added as 
required. The obligations are as follows:

Community Vision 2040 (Community Vision | Greater Dandenong Council)

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted for themselves 
and our city, the Greater Dandenong People’s Panel developed a new Community Vision for 2040:

The City of Greater Dandenong is a home to all. 
It's a city where you can enjoy and embrace life through celebration and equal opportunity.
We harmonise the community by valuing multiculturalism and the individual.
Our community is healthy, vibrant, innovative and creative.
Our growing city is committed to environmental sustainability.
Welcome to our exciting and peaceful community.

Reports in this Agenda will identify when any of the above principles are relevant.

The Council Plan 2021-25 (Council Plan 2021-25 | Greater Dandenong Council)

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this over 
four years. The Council Plan has the following key strategic objectives: 

• A socially connected, safe and healthy city  
• A city that respects and celebrates diversity, our history and the arts
• A city of accessible, vibrant centres and neighbourhoods
• A green city committed to a sustainable future
• A city that supports entrepreneurship, quality education and employment outcomes
• A Council that demonstrates leadership and a commitment to investing in the community.

Reports in this Agenda will identify when any of the above principles are relevant.

The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020

Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 states that a Council must in the performance of its role give 
effect to the overarching governance principles. These are:

a) Council decisions are to be made and actions taken in accordance with the relevant law; 
b) priority is to be given to achieving the best outcomes for the municipal community, including future 

generations; 
c) the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and 

planning for climate change risks, is to be promoted; 
d) the municipal community is to be engaged in strategic planning and strategic decision making; 
e) innovation and continuous improvement are to be pursued; 
f) collaboration with other Councils and Governments and statutory bodies is to be sought; 
g) the ongoing financial viability of the Council is to be ensured; 
h) regional, state and national plans and policies are to be taken into account in strategic planning and 

decision making; 
i) the transparency of Council decisions, actions and information is to be ensured.

Also, in giving effect to the overarching governance principles above, a Council must take into account the 
following supporting principles:

a) the community engagement principles (section 56); 
b) the public transparency principles (section 58); 
c) the strategic planning principles (section 89); 
d) the financial management principles (section 101); 
e) the service performance principles (section 106).

Reports in this Agenda will identify when any of the above principles are relevant.

https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/community-vision
https://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/council-plan-2021-25-0
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The Gender Equality Act 2020

The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take positive 
action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their policies, 
programs and services. The objects of the Act are as follows:
a) to promote, encourage and facilitate the achievement of gender equality and improvement in the 

status of women; and 

b) to support the identification and elimination of systemic causes of gender inequality in policy, 
programs and delivery of services in workplaces and communities; and 

c) to recognise that gender inequality may be compounded by other forms of disadvantage or 
discrimination that a person may experience on the basis of Aboriginality, age, disability, ethnicity, 
gender identity, race, religion, sexual orientation and other attributes; and 

d) to redress disadvantage, address stigma, stereotyping, prejudice and violence, and accommodate 
persons of different genders by way of structural change; and 

e) to enhance economic and social participation by persons of different genders; and 

f) to further promote the right to equality set out in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities and the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women.

Council is obligated to think about how its programs and services affect different people and different 
communities and how we can avoid reinforcing unintentional inequalities. Reports authors must consider the 
requirements of the Gender Equality Act 2020 and Council’s Diversity, Access and Equity Policy when 
asking Council to consider or review any issues which have a direct or significant impact on members of the 
Greater Dandenong community.

Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities  

Council, Councillors and members of Council staff are a public authority under the Charter of Human Rights 
and Responsibilities Act 2006 and, as such, are all responsible to act in accordance with the Victorian 
Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 2006 (the Charter). The Charter is founded on the following 
principles:

• human rights are essential in a democratic and inclusive society that respects the rule of law, human 
dignity, equality and freedom;

• human rights belong to all people without discrimination, and the diversity of the people of Victoria 
enhances our community;

• human rights come with responsibilities and must be exercised in a way that respects the human 
rights of others; 

• human rights have a special importance for the Aboriginal people of Victoria, as descendants of 
Australia’s first people, with their diverse spiritual, social, cultural and economic relationship with their 
traditional lands and waters.

Given this municipality’s diversity and inclusiveness, when developing or preparing a report for Council 
consideration, report authors are required to ensure their report is consistent with the standards set by the 
Charter.
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Consideration of Climate Change and Sustainability

One of the overarching governance principles of the Local Government Act 2020 is that the economic, social 
and environmental sustainability of the municipal district, including mitigation and planning for climate 
change risks, is to be promoted. 

In January 2020, this Council joined a growing number of cities around Australia and declared a “Climate 
and Ecological Emergency” and committed this Council to emergency action on climate change. Council has 
developed a Climate Change Emergency Strategy and Action Plan 2020-30 to help the City of Greater 
Dandenong become a resilient, net zero carbon emission city with an active community prepared for the 
challenges of changing climate. 

When developing or preparing a report for Council consideration, report authors are required to consider 
what impacts their issue has on Council’s Declaration on a Climate and Ecological Emergency, Council’s 
Climate Change Emergency Strategy and the requirements of the Local Government Act 2020 in relation to 
the overarching principle on climate change and sustainability. 

Related Council Policies, Strategies or Frameworks

Report authors will consider how their report aligns with existing Council policies, strategies, frameworks or 
other documents, how they may affect the decision of this report or are relevant to this process.
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1 MEETING OPENING

1.1 OPENING OF MEETING BY MAYOR

Cr Lana Formoso opened the Meeting at 7.00 pm.

 
 
1.2 ATTENDANCE

Apologies

Cr Jim Memeti.

Councillors Present

Cr Lana Formoso, Mayor (Chair), Cr Richard Lim OAM, Deputy Mayor,
Cr Phillip Danh, Cr Tim Dark, Cr Rhonda Garad, Cr Angela Long, 
Cr Bob Milkovic, Cr Sean O'Reilly, Cr Sophie Tan, Cr Loi Truong.

Officers Present 

Jacqui Weatherill, Chief Executive Officer; Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City 
Futures; Peta Gillies, Executive Director Community Strengthening;  Andrew 
Foley, Executive Director Corporate Development; Dani Trimble, Coordinator Governance.
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1.3 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TRADITIONAL CUSTODIANS OF LAND

We acknowledge the Traditional Custodians of this land, the Bunurong People, and pay respect to 
their Elders past and present.

We recognise and respect their continuing connections to climate, Culture, Country and waters and 
we also pay our respect and acknowledge all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and 
their Elders present here today, in acknowledging their journey.

1.4 OFFERING OF PRAYER, REFLECTION OR AFFIRMATION

All remained standing as Imam Mehmet Salih Dogan, a member of the Greater Dandenong 
Interfaith Network, read the following:  

"In the name of Allah, The Beneficent, The Merciful.
Praise be to Allah, Lord of the worlds.The Beneficent, The Merciful.
Master of the day of judgement. 
You alone we worship and you alone we ask (for help for each and everything). 
Guide us to the straight path. 
The path of those upon whom you have bestowed favour, 
not of those who have earned (your) anger or of those who are astray."
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1.5 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS

Meeting of Council held 11 June 2024.

Recommendation
That the Minutes of the Meeting of Council held 11 June 2024 be confirmed.

MINUTE No.1087
Moved by: Cr Sean O'Reilly
Seconded by: Cr Richard Lim OAM

That the Minutes of the Meeting of Council held 11 June 2024 be confirmed.
 CARRIED 10 / 0

 

1.6 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Nil.
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1.7 ADOPTION OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES

The Audit and Risk Committee held a meeting on 6 June 2024 and Minutes of this meeting, 
as summarised in the following table, are presented to Council for adoption.

Item Topic

1. The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed actions arising from previous meetings.

2. The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed, discussed and noted the following 
reports with Council officers:

• Chief Executive Officer’s Report
• Risk Management Update
• South East Leisure Pty Ltd Update
• Procurement Exemptions
• Policy Register
• Financial and Performance Quarter 3 Report
• Fixed Asset Policy 2024-2025 Update
• Update of Council's Fixed Asset Valuations 2023-2024
• Interim Management Letter for the Year Ending 30 June 2024
• Review of Council Expenses, Support and Accountability Policy
• Self-Assessment Against VAGO’s Recommendations in the Results of 

2022-23 Audits: Local Government Report; and
3. The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed, discussed and noted the following 

reports with Council officers and the internal auditor (HLB Mann Judd):
• Internal Audit Program Status
• Next Internal Audit Plans for Consideration
• Review of Cyber Security - Dandenong Market Pty Ltd
• Review of Procurement, Contractor Appointment & Contractor 

Management
• Council’s Status of Internal Audit Actions

Officer Recommendation
That the unconfirmed minutes of the Audit and Risk Committee meeting held on 6 June 
2024 be adopted. 

MINUTE No.1088
Moved by: Cr Sean O'Reilly
Seconded by: Cr Phillip Danh

That the unconfirmed minutes of the Audit and Risk Committee meeting held on 6 June 
2024 be adopted. 

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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2 OFFICERS REPORTS - PART 1

2.1 DOCUMENTS FOR SEALING
2.1.1 Documents for Sealing

Responsible Officer: Manager Governance, Legal & Risk
Attachments: Nil

Executive Summary
1. Under the Local Government Act 2020, each Council is a body corporate and a legal entity in 

its own right.  Each Council must therefore have a common seal (like any corporate entity) 
that is an official sanction of that Council. Sealing a document makes it an official document 
of Council as a corporate body. Documents that require sealing include agreements, 
contracts, leases or any other contractual or legally binding document that binds Council to 
another party. 

2. This report recommends that the listed documents be signed and sealed. 



  2.1.1 Documents for Sealing

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 13 of 576

Item Summary
3. There is one (1) item being presented to Council’s meeting of 24 June 2024 for signing and 

sealing as follows: 

a) A letter of recognition to Paula Glover, Community Strengthening for 10 years of service to 
the Greater Dandenong City Council.

Officer Recommendation
That the listed documents be signed and sealed.  

MINUTE No.1089
Moved by: Cr Angela Long
Seconded by: Cr Loi Truong

That the listed documents be signed and sealed.  
 CARRIED 10 / 0
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2.2 PETITIONS AND JOINT LETTERS
2.2.1 Petitions and Joint Letters

Responsible Officer: Manager Governance, Legal & Risk
Attachments: 1. Petitions and Joint Letters 1 [2.2.1.1 - 2 pages]

Executive Summary
1. Council receives a number of petitions and joint letters on a regular basis that deal with a 

variety of issues which have an impact upon the City.
2. Issues raised by petitions and joint letters will be investigated and reported back to Council if 

required.
3. A table containing all details relevant to current petitions and joint letters is provided in 

Attachment 1. It includes:
a) the full text of any petitions or joint letters received;
b) petitions or joint letters still being considered for Council response as pending a final 

response along with the date they were received; and
c) the final complete response to any outstanding petition or joint letter previously tabled 

along with the full text of the original petition or joint letter and the date it was responded 
to.

4. This report recommends that the listed items in Attachment 1, and the current status of each, 
be received and noted.



  2.2.1 Petitions and Joint Letters

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 15 of 576

Petitions and Joint Letters Tabled
5. Council received no new petitions and no joint letters prior to the Council Meeting of 24 June 

2024. 

Note: Where relevant, a summary of the progress of ongoing change.org petitions and any 
other relevant petitions/joint letters/submissions will be provided in the attachment to this 
report.

Officer Recommendation
That this report and its attachment be received and noted. 

MINUTE No.1090
Moved by: Cr Bob Milkovic
Seconded by: Cr Richard Lim OAM

That this report and its attachment be received and noted. 
 CARRIED 10 / 0
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2.3 STATUTORY PLANNING APPLICATIONS
2.3.1 Planning Delegated Decisions Issued – May 2024

Responsible Officer: Executive Director City Futures
Attachments: 1. Planning Delegated Decisions Issued - May 2024 [2.3.1.1 

- 10 pages]

Executive Summary
1. This report provides Council with an update on the exercise of delegation by Council officers.

2. It provides a listing of Town Planning applications that were either decided or closed under 
delegation or withdrawn by applicants in May 2024.

3. It should be noted that where permits and notices of decision to grant permits have been 
issued, these applications have been assessed as being generally consistent with the 
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme and Council’s policies. 

4. Application numbers with a PLA#, PLN#.01 or similar, are applications making amendments 
to previously approved planning permits.

5. The annotation ‘SPEAR’ (Streamlined Planning through Electronic Applications and 
Referrals) identifies where an application has been submitted electronically. SPEAR allows 
users to process planning permits and subdivision applications online.

Officer Recommendation
That the items listed in Attachment 1 to this report be received and noted.

MINUTE No.1091
Moved by: Cr Angela Long
Seconded by: Cr Bob Milkovic

That the items listed in Attachment 1 to this report be received and noted.

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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2.3.2 Planning Decisions Issued by Planning Minister’s Delegate – May 2024

Responsible Officer: Executive Director City Futures
Attachments: Nil

Executive Summary
1. This report provides Council with an update on the exercise of delegation by Planning 

Minister's delegate.

2. No decisions were reported for the month of May 2024.

Officer Recommendation
That the report be noted.

MINUTE No.1092
Moved by: Cr Loi Truong
Seconded by: Cr Richard Lim OAM

That the report be noted.

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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2.3.3 Town Planning Application - No. 37 Emerald Drive, Springvale (Planning 
Application No. PLN23/0243)

Responsible Officer: Executive Director City Futures
Attachments: 1. Assessed Plans [2.3.3.1 - 10 pages]

2. Location of Objectors [2.3.3.2 - 1 page]
3. Clause 22 09 Assessment [2.3.3.3 - 8 pages]
4. Clause 52 06 Assessment [2.3.3.4 - 5 pages]
5. Clause 55 Assessment [2.3.3.5 - 29 pages]

Application Summary
Applicant: Abacus Design & Planning
Proposal: Development of the land for three (3) dwellings comprising two (2) 

double storey dwellings and one (1) single storey dwelling to the rear
Zone: General Residential Zone (Schedule 1)
Overlay: Nil 
Ward: Springvale Central 

1. This application is brought before the Council as it has received seven (7) objections.

2. The application proposes the development of the land for three (3) dwellings, comprising two 
(2) double storey dwellings and one (1) single storey dwelling to the rear.

3. A permit is required under the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme pursuant to:

• Clause 32.08-7 (General Residential Zone) of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme to 
construct two or more dwellings on a lot.  

Objectors Summary
4. The application was advertised to the surrounding area through the erection of a notice on-site 

and the mailing of notices to adjoining and surrounding owners and occupiers.  Seven (7) 
objections were received to the application.  Issues raised generally relate to matters of: 

• Overdevelopment / Too many dwellings.
• Inconsistent with existing character.
• The proposed dwellings would be occupied by undesirables.
• Inadequate parking.
• Potential blocking of neighbouring driveways from vehicles of future residents.
• Too many bins on the street. 
• Noise. 
• Increase traffic and traffic hazard.

Assessment Summary 
5. The site is located within an established residential area and is well suited for medium density 

housing given that the site is zoned for incremental change. The proposal seeks to provide a 
medium density development which is generally consistent with the emerging pattern of 
development and surrounding neighbourhood character. It is noted that the development 
complies with most of the design principles, as demonstrated in the attachments to this report.
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6. The development is generally compliant with Clause 55, responding to site context and site 
circumstances, while respecting the existing and preferred neighbourhood character 
envisaged by Clause 22.09.

Recommendation Summary
7. As assessed, the proposal is consistent with and appropriately responds to the provisions of 

the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme. The proposal appropriately responds to strategic 
policy for residential development for the area with this report recommending that the 
application be supported, and a Notice of Decision (which provides appeal rights to objectors) 
to grant a permit be issued containing the conditions as set out in the recommendation. If the 
application was to be appealed to the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT), it is 
the officer’s view that it is highly likely that VCAT would also issue a planning permit for this 
proposal.
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Subject Site and Surrounds
Subject Site

8. The subject site is located on the southern side of Emerald Drive.   

9. The land is rectangular in shape with a frontage of 19.20 metres, a length of 32 metres and a 
total land area of 615 square metres.  

10. The site contains a single storey dwelling with hipped roof.    

11. Vehicle access to the site is via an existing crossover on Emerald Drive located near the 
eastern boundary. 

12. There are several small shrubs throughout the site.  The shrubs do not require a planning 
permit for removal and also do not require a Local Law permit for removal. 

13. A 2.44 metres wide drainage and sewerage easement is located along the rear (south) 
boundary.  

14. The site is relative flat with a slope of 0.41 metre from the southeast corner (rear) to the 
northwest corner (front).

15. A large tree is located on the nature strip at the front of the site.  The tree would not be 
impacted by the proposed development.  

Surrounding Area

16. The subject site and surrounding land are located within the General Residential Zone 
(Schedule 1).  

17. Surrounding development is predominantly single and double storey in height. 

18. A multi-unit development containing two (2) double storey dwellings and one (1) single storey 
is located at No. 1 Upwey Avenue, Springvale (35 metres to the east). 

19. The Springvale Activity District core is located 940 metres to the northeast.   

Locality Plan

20. Zoning map of the site and surrounding area.

21. Aerial photograph of the site and surrounding properties (February 2024).
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Background
Previous Applications

22. A search of Council records revealed no previous planning applications have been considered 
for the subject site. 

Subject Application

23. After the advertising process, the applicant submitted a Section 57A Amendment on 17 May 
2024 to the application by altering the layout of Dwelling 2 to improve the size of the living 
area and amend the common driveway to improve the turning templates for vehicles to enter 
and exit the common accessway. 

24. The amended plans were not advertised as the amendments are minor and it is considered 
that the amendments would not result in additional concern to the adjoining or surrounding 
properties.  
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Proposal
25. The application proposes the development of the land for three (3) dwellings comprising two 

(2) double storey dwellings and one (1) single storey dwelling at the rear as follows:

Type of proposal Multi dwellings.

Number of dwellings Three (3).

Number of bedrooms Dwellings 1-3 (inclusive) - 2 bedrooms each.

Levels Dwellings 1-2 (inclusive) – double storey.
Dwelling 3 – single storey. 

Maximum Height 7.37 metres (Dwelling 2 West Elevation).

Orientated to Dwelling 1 is orientated towards Emerald Drive.  
Dwellings 2 and 3 are orientated toward the common accessway.

External materials Mixed of bricks and lightweight cladding at ground floor.
Rendered at first floor level.

Setbacks Minimum ground floor setbacks:
• North (frontage): 7.25 metres for Dwelling 1. 
• South (rear boundary): 2.44 metres for Dwelling 3.  1.48m for Carport 3.
• East (side boundary): 3.5m for Dwelling 3. On the boundary for Carport 

3. 
• West (side boundary): 2m for Dwelling 3. On the boundary for Garage 1.  
 
Minimum first floor setbacks:
• North (frontage): 7.7 metres (as measured) for Dwelling 1. 
• South (rear boundary): 8.6 metres for Dwelling 2.
• East (side boundary): 5.08 metres for Dwelling 2.  
• West (side boundary): 1.98 metres for Dwelling 1.  

Open space type Dwelling one
Private open space total: 123.2sqm (including frontage which has an area 
of 88.2sqm).

Secluded private open space: 44.3sqm, with a primary secluded private 
open space area of 30.3sqm with a minimum dimension of 5.01 metres and 
convenient access from a main living room. 

Dwelling two
Secluded private open space: 52sqm, with a primary secluded private open 
space area of 30sqm with a minimum dimension of 5.27 metres and 
convenient access from a main living room. 

Dwelling three
Secluded private open space: 59.9sqm, with a primary secluded private 
open space area of 30.5sqm with a minimum dimension of 5.36 metres and 
convenient access from a main living room. 
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Number of car parking 
spaces provided

Four (4) car spaces provided.

A single car garage and tandem car space is proposed for Dwelling 1. 

A single carport is proposed to each dwelling for Dwellings 2 and 3.  

Number of car parking 
spaces required

Three (3) car spaces required.

Each dwelling has two (2) bedrooms and requires one (1) car space.  

Access Dwelling 1 benefits from individual access. 
Access is located to the north of the site near the western boundary and 
connecting to Emerald Drive.  Its minimum width is 3 metres. 

Dwellings 2 and 3 would have a shared accessway arrangement. 
Proposed access is located to the north of the site near the eastern 
boundary and connecting to Emerald Drive.  Its minimum width is 3 metres.

Front Fence A 0.6 metre high brick fence exists, which will be removed.  
No front fence is proposed. 

Garden Area:
Provided 243sqm or 39.51% 

Required 215.25sqm or 35%.

26. A copy of the submitted plans (as per the Section 57A Amendment received on 17 May 2024) 
is provided in Attachment 1 to this report.

Financial Implications  
27. There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

Planning Scheme and Policy Frameworks
28. Pursuant to the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, a planning permit is required:

• Under Clause 32.08-7 to construct two or more dwellings on a lot in a General Residential 
Zone.

29. The relevant controls and policies are as follows:

Zoning Controls

30. The subject site is located in a General Residential Zone, as is the surrounding area.  

31. The purpose of the General Residential Zone outlined at Clause 32.08 is: 

• To implement the Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework.

• To encourage development that respects the neighbourhood character of the area.
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• To encourage a diversity of housing types and housing growth particularly in locations 
offering good access to services and transport.

• To allow educational, recreational, religious, community and a limited range of other non-
residential uses to serve local community needs in appropriate locations.

32. Pursuant to Clause 32.08-7, a permit is required to construct two or more dwellings on a lot in 
a General Residential Zone. 

33. It is noted that in Schedule 1 to the zone, different requirements are set out as following:

• Standard B6 (Street Setback) – As per B6 or 7.5 meters, whichever is the lesser;

• Standard B9 (Permeability) –Minimum 30%;

• Standard B13 (Landscaping) – 70% of ground level front setback, and side and rear 
setbacks, planted with substantial landscaping and canopy trees;

• Standard B28 (Private Open Space) – An area of 50 square metres, with one part to 
consist of secluded private open space at the side or rear of the dwelling or dwelling with 
a minimum area of 30 square metres, a minimum dimension of 5 metres and convenient 
access from a living room; or, a balcony with a minimum area of 10 square metres with a 
minimum width of 2 metres and convenient access from a living room; or, a roof-top area 
of 10 square metres with a minimum width of 2 metres and convenient access from a 
living room.

• Standard B32 (Front Fence Height) – Maximum 1.5 metre height in streets in a Transport 
Zone 2; 1.2 metre maximum height for other streets.

Overlay Controls

34. No overlays affect the subject site or surrounding area.

Planning Policy Framework

35. The Operation of the Planning Policy Framework outlined at Clause 71.02 seeks to ensure 
that the objectives of planning in Victoria are fostered through appropriate land use and 
development planning policies and practices which integrate relevant environmental, social 
and economic factors in the interests of net community benefit and sustainable development.

36. In order to achieve these objectives, there are a number of more specific objectives contained 
within the Planning Policy Framework that need to be considered under this application.

37. Clause 11 (Settlement) encourages planning to facilitate sustainable development that takes 
full advantage of existing settlement patterns and investment in transport, utility, social, 
community and commercial infrastructure and services. It also encourages planning to 
contribute towards diversity of choice, energy efficiency, a high standard of urban design and 
amenity, and land use and transport integration.

38. Further guidance is provided by Clause 11.01-1R (Settlement), which seeks to promote the 
sustainable growth and development of Victoria and deliver choice and opportunity for all 
Victorians through a network of settlements. It includes strategies to develop compact urban 
areas that are based around existing or planned activity centres to maximise accessibility to 
facilities and services.

39. Clause 15 (Built Environment and Heritage) states that planning is to recognise the role of 
urban design, building design, heritage and energy and resource efficiency in delivering 
liveable and sustainable cities, towns and neighbourhoods.
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40. It adds that planning should ensure all land use and development appropriately responds to its 
surrounding landscape and character, valued built form and cultural context. Planning should 
promote development that is environmentally sustainable and should minimise detrimental 
impacts on the built and natural environment.

41. According to the clause, planning should promote excellence in the built environment and 
create places that:

• Are enjoyable, engaging and comfortable to be in.

• Accommodate people of abilities, ages and cultures.

• Contribute positively to local character and sense of place.

• Reflect the particular characteristics and cultural identity of the community.

• Enhance the function, amenity and safety of the public realm.

42. These overall objectives are reinforced by a number of sub-clauses, including Clause 15.01-
1S (Urban design) and Clause 15.01-1R (Urban design – Metropolitan Melbourne), which 
seek to create urban environments that are safe, healthy, functional and enjoyable and that 
contribute to a sense of place and cultural identity.

43. Clause 15.01-2S (Building design) aims to achieve building design outcomes that contribute 
positively to the local context and enhance the public realm, while Clause 15.01-5S 
(Neighbourhood character) has an objective to recognise, support and protect 
neighbourhood character, cultural identity, and sense of place.

44. Clause 15.01-4S (Healthy neighbourhoods) has an objective to achieve neighbourhoods 
that foster healthy and active living and community wellbeing. Clause 15.01-4R (Healthy 
neighbourhoods - Metropolitan Melbourne) reinforces this, with a strategy to create a city 
of 20-minute neighbourhoods that give people the ability to meet most of their everyday needs 
within a 20-minute walk, cycle or local public transport trip from their home.

45. Clause 16 (Housing) contains two key objectives, which can be summarised as relating to 
housing diversity, sustainability of housing and the provision of land for affordable housing.

46. These objectives are reinforced by a number of sub-clauses, including Clause 16.01-1S 
(Housing Supply), which seeks to facilitate well-located, integrated and diverse housing that 
meets community needs, and Clause 16.01-2S (Housing affordability) which seeks to 
deliver more affordable housing closer to jobs, transport and services.

47. Clause 16.01-1R (Housing supply – Metropolitan Melbourne), includes several strategies 
to manage the supply of new housing including increased housing in established areas to 
create a city of 20-minute neighbourhoods close to existing services, jobs, public transport; as 
well as a strategy that allows for a range of minimal, incremental and high change residential 
areas that balance the need to protect valued areas with the need to ensure choice and 
growth in housing.

48. Clause 18.01-1S (Land use and transport planning) has a strategy to plan urban 
development to make jobs and community services more accessible by ensuring access is 
provided to developments in accordance with forecast demand, taking advantage of all 
available modes of transport and to minimise adverse impacts on existing transport networks 
and the amenity of surrounding areas.
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Local Planning Policy Framework

49. The Local Planning Policy Framework (LPPF) includes the Municipal Strategic Statement 
(MSS) and Local Policies.

50. The MSS is contained within Clause 21 of the Scheme. The MSS at Clause 21.02 focuses on 
the Municipal Profile, within which the following is noted:

• There is considerable diversity within Greater Dandenong’s housing stock. Most housing 
stock is aged between 30 to 50 years old, though there are some areas with dwellings in 
excess of 100 years old. Areas of newer housing are located in the north-east and 
central-southern areas, with in-fill development occurring across the municipality (Clause 
21.02-3).

• Higher density housing is generally located in proximity to railway stations and major 
shopping centres, in particular in central Dandenong (Clause 21.02-3).

• Whilst there is a clear pre-dominance of single detached dwellings, there are a range of 
other types of dwellings including dual occupancies, villa-units, town houses and 
apartments. The highest concentration of older villa units and apartments and more 
recent multi-unit redevelopments have occurred around central Dandenong, Springvale 
and Noble Park activity centres (Clause 21.02-4).

• With diverse cultural groups that call Greater Dandenong home, there are certain distinct 
precincts that are emerging that have their own character. Their built form is 
characterised by buildings with flat unarticulated facades, prominent balconies, limited 
frontage/side setbacks, limited or no landscaping (Clause 21.02-4).

51. A Vision for Greater Dandenong is outlined at Clause 21.03. The vision is that Greater 
Dandenong will be a municipality where housing diversity and choice is promoted in its various 
attractive neighbourhoods.

52. The objectives and strategies of the MSS are under four (4) main themes including: land use; 
built form; open space and natural environment; and, infrastructure and transportation 
(considered individually under Clauses 21.04 to 21.07). Of particular relevance to this 
application are Clauses 21.04 – Land Use and 21.05 – Built Form:

53. Clause 21.04-1 Housing and community

• Greater Dandenong’s population is expected to rise by 22 percent, from 147,000 to 
179,000 in the decade to 2024, placing pressure on transport networks, infrastructure, 
services and public open space.

• Approximately 9,950 new households will need to be accommodated across the 
municipality by 2024 (Greater Dandenong Housing Strategy 2014-2024). 

• Supporting urban consolidation and providing housing in existing areas close to activity 
centres means that people do not need to travel as far to work, shop or to take part in 
sports/leisure activities thus reducing the environmental impacts of transport.

• Increases in housing density must be balanced by adequate provision of open space, 
good urban design and improvements to the public realm.

• Encourage the provision of housing that is adaptable to support the needs of the 
changing needs of present and future residents.

• Encourage innovative redevelopment and renewal of deteriorating housing stock and 
older styled higher-density apartments and multi-unit developments.
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• Encourage new residential development that incorporates adequate space for the 
planting and the long term viability and safe retention of canopy trees.

• Respect the valued, existing neighbourhood character within incremental and minimal 
change areas.

• Requiring medium-density developments to be site and locality responsive and to respect 
existing and proposed neighbourhood character.

54. Clause 21.05-1 – Urban design, character, streetscapes and landscapes – contains the 
following relevant objectives and strategies:

55. To facilitate high quality building design and architecture.

• Ensure building design is consistent with the identified future character of an area and 
fully integrates with surrounding environment.

• Encourage high standards of building design and architecture, which allows for flexibility 
and adaptation in use.

• Encourage innovative architecture and building design.

• Encourage development to incorporate sustainable design elements that enhance 
occupant comfort and environmental performance.

56. To facilitate high quality development, which has regard for the surrounding environment and 
built form.

• Promote views of high quality landscapes and pleasing vistas from both the public and 
private realm.

• Promote all aspects of character – physical, environmental, social and cultural.

• Encourage planting and landscape themes, which complement and improve the 
environment.

• Encourage developments to provide for canopy trees.

• Recognising valued existing neighbourhood character and promoting identified future 
character as defined in the Residential Development and Neighbourhood Character 
Policy at Clause 22.09.

57. To protect and improve streetscapes.

• Ensure that new developments improve streetscapes through generous landscape 
setbacks and canopy tree planting.

• Ensure landscaping within private property that complements and improves the 
streetscapes and landscaping of public areas.

58. To ensure landscaping that enhances the built environment.

• Encourage new developments to establish a landscape setting, which reflects the local 
and wider landscape character.

• Encourage landscaping that integrates canopy trees and an appropriate mix of shrubs 
and ground covers and complements and integrates with existing or proposed 
landscaping in public areas.
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59. Clause 22.09 – Residential Development & Neighbourhood Character Policy – contains the 
following objectives at Clause 22.09-2:

• To guide the location and design of different types of residential development within 
Greater Dandenong, having regard to State and local planning policies, while respecting 
the valued characteristics and identified future character of residential neighbourhoods.

• To ensure that new residential development is consistent with the identified future 
character and preferred built form envisaged for the three Future Change Areas.

• To provide certainty about which areas are identified for, or protected from, increased 
residential development consistent with the purpose of the applicable zone.

• To facilitate high quality, well designed residential development and on-site landscaping.

• To promote a range of housing types to accommodate the future needs of the 
municipality’s changing population.

• To ensure that residential development uses innovative, responsive and functional siting 
and design solutions that:

a) Achieve high quality internal amenity and private open space outcomes for future 
residents;

b) Make a positive contribution to the streetscape through quality design, contextual 
responsiveness and visual interest;

c) Promote public realm safety by maximising passive surveillance;

d) Demonstrate responsiveness to the site, adjoining interfaces, streetscape and 
landscape context;

e) Respect the amenity of adjoining residents and the reasonable development 
potential of adjoining properties;

f) Achieve environmentally sustainable design outcomes;

g) Use quality, durable building materials that are integrated into the overall building 
form and façade; and

h) Minimise the visual dominance of vehicle accessways and storage facilities, such as 
garages, car ports and basement entrances.

60. Clause 22.09-3.1 (Design Principles) provides design principles, which apply to all Future 
Change Areas.

61. Clause 22.09-3.3 (Incremental Change Areas) provides design principles, some of which also 
relate to the variances to the requirements of standards to Clause 55 under the schedule to 
the General Residential Zone. The guidelines consider matters such as the preferred housing 
type, building height, landscaping, setbacks, front boundary and width, private open space 
and bulk and built form.

62. An assessment against Clause 22.09 is included as Attachment 3 to this report.
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Particular Provisions

63. Car Parking (Clause 52.06)

64. The purposes of this provision are:

• To ensure that car parking is provided in accordance with the Municipal Planning 
Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework.

• To ensure the provision of an appropriate number of car parking spaces having regard to 
the demand likely to be generated, the activities on the land and the nature of the locality.

• To support sustainable transport alternatives to the motor car.

• To promote the efficient use of car parking spaces through the consolidation of car 
parking facilities.

• To ensure that car parking does not adversely affect the amenity of the locality.

• To ensure that the design and location of car parking is of a high standard, creates a safe 
environment for users and enables easy and efficient use.

65. Clause 52.06-2 notes that a new use must not commence or the floor area of an existing use 
must not be increased until the required car spaces have been provided on the land.

66. The required spaces are identified in the table to Clause 52.06-5. Clause 52.06-3 further notes 
that a permit may be granted to reduce or waive the number of car spaces required by the 
table.

67. The site is not within the Principal Public Transport Network. Therefore, the car parking rate in 
Column A of 52.06-5 is applicable.

68. The table in Column A at Clause 52.06-5 notes that a dwelling with 1 or 2 bedrooms requires 
1 car space and a dwelling with 3 or more bedrooms requires 2 spaces to each dwelling. 1 
visitor car space is required for visitors to every 5 dwellings for developments of 5 or more 
dwellings.

69. Car parking is to be designed and constructed in accordance with the requirements of Clause 
52.06-9 and 52.06-11 of the Scheme.

70. An assessment against Clause 52.06 is included as Attachment 4 to this report.

71. Two or more dwellings on a lot and residential buildings (Clause 55)

72. Pursuant to Clause 55 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, the provisions of this 
Clause apply to an application:

• To construct two or more dwellings on a lot.

73. The purposes of this clause are:

• To implement the Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework.

• To achieve residential development that respects the existing neighbourhood character 
or which contributes to a preferred neighbourhood character.

• To encourage residential development that provides reasonable standards of amenity for 
existing and new residents.

• To encourage residential development that is responsive to the site and the 
neighbourhood.
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74. A development:

• Must meet all of the objectives of this clause.

• Should meet all of the standards of this clause.
75. If a zone or a schedule to a zone specifies a requirement of a standard different from a 

requirement set out in this clause, the requirement in the zone or a schedule to the zone 
applies.

76. An assessment against Clause 55 is included as Attachment 5 to this report.

General Provisions

77. Clause 65 – Decision Guidelines need to be considered, as is the case with all applications.  
For this application the requirements of Clause 65.01 for the approval of an application or plan 
are of relevance.  This Clause outlines the requirements that the responsible authority must 
consider when determining the application.

Restrictive Covenants
78. No covenants or any restrictive measures are registered on the Certificate of Title for the 

subject site.

Links to the Community Vision and Council Plan
79. The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will 

do this over four years. In accordance with the commitment in Council’s Annual Plan, all 
applications are considered on their merits.

Diversity, Access and Equity
80. It is not considered that the planning assessment of this application raises any diversity 

issues. The application itself does not have a direct and significant impact on the wider 
Greater Dandenong community.

Community Safety
81. It is considered that there would be no adverse community safety implications in permitting the 

proposal.

Safe Design Guidelines
82. Consideration of the relevant requirements of these Guidelines has been undertaken within 

the Assessment of this application.

Referrals
83. The application was not required to be referred to any external referral authorities pursuant to 

Section 55 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987.
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84. The application was internally referred to the following Council departments for their 
consideration.  The comments provided were considered in the assessment of the application.

Internal Department  

Civil Development No objection (subject to conditions)

Transport Planning No objection (subject to conditions)

Sustainability Planning No objection (subject to conditions)

Parks Department (including Arborist) No objection (subject to conditions)

Waste Management No objection.  No condition.

Advertising
85. The application was advertised on 25 October 2023 pursuant to section 52 of the Planning 

and Environment Act 1987, by:

• sending notices to the owners and occupiers of adjoining land; and

• placing a sign on site facing Emerald Drive. 

86. The notification has been carried out correctly. Council has received seven (7) objection(s) to 
date. 

87. The amended plans receive in May 2024 were not advertised as the amendments are minors 
and it is considered that the amendments would not result in additional concerns to the 
adjoining or surrounding properties.  

88. The location of objectors/submitters is shown in Attachment 2 to this report.

Summary of Grounds of Submissions/Objections
89. The objections are summarised below (bold), followed by the Town Planner’s Response 

(italics).  

90. Overdevelopment / Too many dwellings.

The size and scale of the development is consistent with the preferred neighbourhood 
character set out in Clause 22.09 and complies with objectives of Clause 55 (two or more 
dwellings and residential buildings) of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme (see Clause 
22.09 and Clause 55 assessments below and attached to this report).

91. Inconsistent with existing character.

The size and scale of the development is consistent with the preferred neighbourhood 
character set out in Clause 22.09. Furthermore, the proposal is consistent with the identified 
future character as set out at Clause 22.09-3.3 Incremental change areas – General 
Residential Zone, as it is a site responsive design which provides private open space at 
ground level, appropriate setbacks to allow for high quality landscaping on site and 
transitions to single storey development at the rear to protect the amenity of the adjoining 
dwellings.

92. The proposed dwellings would be occupied by undesirables.

The potential people that would occupy the proposed dwellings is not a planning 
consideration. 
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93. Inadequate parking.

The proposal provides for car parking that exceeds the car parking requirements of Clause 
52.06-5. As per Clause 52.06-5, a dwelling requires one (1) car parking space to each one- 
or two-bedroom dwelling (with studies or studios that are separate rooms counted as a 
bedroom), plus 1 car parking space for visitors to every 5 dwellings for developments of 5 
more dwellings. Each dwelling has two bedrooms requiring 1 car space per dwelling.  
Dwelling 1 would be provided with a single garage and tandem car space; and Dwellings 2 
and 3 would be provided with a single carport to each dwelling.  The number of car spaces 
provided, exceed the car parking requirement of Clause 52.06-5.  As the proposal is for less 
than 5 dwellings, no visitor car parking space is required or provided on the site. A full 
assessment of Clause 52.06 can be found in Attachment 4.

94. Potential blocking of neighbouring driveways from vehicles of future residents.

The proposal would provide car parking on the site exceeding the requirement of Clause 
52.06 (Car parking) of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme.  Any potential obstruction 
to neighbouring driveways is not a planning consideration. 

95. Too many bins on street. 

The application was referred to Council’s Waste Management team who advised that there is 
no concern with Council’s kerbside collection service for the proposed development.  Also 
given the width of the site's frontage, there is sufficient space for all bins on bin collection 
day.

96. Noise. 

The proposed use is a residential use and is located within a residential area. As such, it 
cannot be presumed that unacceptable noise will result from this proposal. If unacceptable 
noise were to occur, this is regulated by the Environment Protection (Residential Noise) 
Regulations 2018.

97. Increase traffic and traffic hazard.

The proposal also complies with the design principles of Clause 52.06-9. Access to the site is 
considered appropriate, providing crossovers with visibility lines for safe entry and exit of the 
site.

The application was assessed by Council’s Transport Planning team who did not raise 
concerns regarding any increase of traffic or traffic hazard as a result of the proposed 
development.  It is considered that the existing road network is capable of supporting the 
minor increase in vehicle movements and would not impact on the ability for emergency 
vehicles to access the site or surrounding properties.

Assessment
Use

98. As outlined in Clause 32.08-2 (General Residential Zone), a ‘Dwelling’ is listed as a Section 1 
use, and a planning permit is not required for the use of the proposal. However, a planning 
permit is required for the buildings and works, which is discussed below.
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Development

Planning Policy Framework / Local Planning Policy Framework.
99. With regard to the above preferred character, it is considered the proposal delivers on the 

objectives of clauses 15.01 (Urban Environment) and 21.05-1 (Built Form), which require 
development to respond to urban design, character, streetscape and landscape issues. The 
development includes adequate side and rear setbacks for landscaping opportunities, a strong 
design theme that reinforces the residential nature of the area and the incorporation of other 
measures to minimise visual impacts and amenity concerns.

100.The subject site is located within an established residential area and is well suited for the 
development of medium density housing given that the site is located in Springvale within 
easy walking distance of many community facilities and public transport, as required by the 
objective of Clause 16.01-1S Housing Supply.

101.The proposal also seeks to reduce pressure on the urban fringe by providing three (3) 
dwellings where previously only one (1) existed through the redevelopment of the site, thereby 
ensuring that the housing required for the growing population is facilitated in accordance with 
the strategies of Clause 11.02 Managing Growth. The proposal also provides housing choice 
that meets the needs of the community, in accordance with Clause 16.01-1R Housing Supply 
– Metropolitan Melbourne.

102.The proposal’s consistency with the identified future character and preferred built form also 
means that it is in accordance with Clause 21.05-1 (Urban design, character, streetscapes 
and landscapes) and Clause (21.04-1 Housing and community), which reinforce the 
expectation for development to achieve high quality outcomes that has regard for the 
surrounding environment and built form.

Clause 22.09 - Residential Development and Neighbourhood Character Policy
103.Clause 22.09 (Residential Development & Neighbourhood Character Policy) identifies existing 

character, preferred future character and provides design principles across three ‘future 
change areas’: Substantial, Incremental and Limited.

104.The subject site forms part of the ‘incremental change area’. The ‘identified future character’ 
outlined under Clause 22.09-3.3 states the following:

• ‘The future character of Incremental Change Areas will evolve over time to contain a 
greater proportion of well-designed and site responsive medium density infill 
development that respects the existing neighbourhood character. Future density will be at 
a lower intensity than in Substantial Change Areas, but a higher intensity than in Limited 
Change Areas.’

• ‘Residential development will comprise well designed houses, townhouses, units and 
dual occupancies of up to two (2) storeys with main living areas generally on the ground 
level. Residential development will give particular consideration to providing appropriate 
setbacks and private open space areas and high quality landscaping, including the 
planting of canopy trees, to protect the amenity of adjoining dwellings and to contribute to 
the landscape character’.

105.Design principles for all residential development are set out at Clause 22.09-3.1 and the 
design principles for the incremental change area are set out at Clause 22.09-3.3. The 
proposal meets the design principles set out at Clause 22.09-3.3; Maximum of two storeys is 
proposed, ground level living is provided and a significant amount of space is provided for 
boundary landscaping and canopy trees. The development also transitions to single storey at 
the rear of the site.  The development meets the design principles of Clause 22.09-3.1.
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106.An assessment against Clause 22.09 is included as Attachment 3.

Clause 55 Assessment

107.The proposal has been assessed against all of the Objectives and Standards of Clause 55 
and the variation in Schedule 1 to the General Residential Zone.  The development meets the 
objectives and standards of Clause 55, except for the following, which can be met via permit 
conditions:

108.Standard B18 Clause 55.04-2 Walls on boundaries objective 

• The standard requires that the height of a new wall constructed on or within 200 mm of a 
side or rear boundary or a carport constructed on or within 1 metre of a side or rear 
boundary should not exceed an average of 3.2 metres with no part higher than 3.6 
metres unless abutting a higher existing or simultaneously constructed wall.

• The average height of Garage 1 on the boundary is 3.28 metres and should be modified 
to a height of 3.2 metres to comply with this standard. This could be conditioned on any 
permit granted for the site. 

109.An assessment against Clause 55 is included as Attachment 5.

Car-Parking 
110.The proposed development provided four (4) on site car parking spaces. 

111.As per Clause 52.06-5, a dwelling requires one (1) car space to each one- or two-bedroom 
dwelling and two (2) car parking spaces to each three or more bedroom dwelling (with studies 
or studios that are separate rooms counted as a bedroom, plus 1 car parking space for visitors 
to every 5 dwellings for developments of 5 more dwellings).  

112.As each dwelling has two bedrooms, one car parking space to each dwelling is required.   

113.Dwelling 1 would be provided with a single garage and tandem car space.  Dwellings 2 and 3 
would be provided with a single carport to each dwelling.  

114.No visitor parking is required or provided.  

115.The number of car spaces for Dwellings 2 and 3 complies.  The number of car spaces for 
Dwelling 1 exceed the requirement. 

116.The application has been assessed against the design standards of Clause 52.06-9 as per the 
table attached to this report and is considered to comply with all of the design standards.  
Below is assessment of the standard, which is not met, however is still acceptable or can be 
resolved via permit conditions:

117.Design Standard 1: Accessways

• The standard requires that the accessway must have a corner splay or area of at least 
50% clear of visual obstructions extending at least 2 metres along the road frontage of an 
exit lane and 2.5 metres along the exit lane from the frontage to provide a clear view of 
pedestrians on the footpath.  

• A corner splay has been annotated to the common accessway.  However, a corner splay 
has not been annotated to the accessway for Dwelling 1. This could be conditioned.   

118.An assessment against Clause 52.06 is included as Attachment 4.
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Vegetation and Tree Impact (Site and Surrounds)

119.The site has some small trees and shrubs which would be removed for the proposed 
development.  These do not require a planning permit nor a Local Law permit for removal.  
The existing tree on the nature strip at the front of the site would be retained, and a condition 
would be provided requiring a tree protection zone around the tree during the development's 
construction.

120. It is considered that, subject to conditions of permit, the submitted landscape plan provides an 
appropriate replacement landscaping outcome, with canopy trees in the front and in the rear 
yards of each dwelling and smaller plantings along the accessways and along the side and 
rear boundaries.

121.An updated landscape plan should be requested requiring the canopy trees to be native and 
trees species selected from the City of Greater Dandenong Tree Selection and Planning. 

Environmentally Sustainable Development

122.The proposal complies with the requirements of Clause 22.06 by providing a Sustainable 
Design Assessment (SDA), a Built Environment Sustainability Scorecard (BESS) and a 
Stormwater Calculation, all completed by qualified professionals. 

123.The provided BESS score complies with a score of 55% for best practice encompassing the 
full life of the build and identifying the methods used for the best environmental performance 
outcome. Having regard to the sites opportunities and restraints, the proposal has included 
the necessary water tanks, and roof catchment areas, sufficient energy star ratings for fixtures 
and heating and cooling systems.

124.The referral response from Council’s ESD/Sustainability team identified that the submitted 
plans satisfied ESD requirements.  However, the SDA would require minor alterations which 
could be conditioned.  Conditions have been included to require these details on the plans to 
be updated, as well as relevant notations to be updated as required.



  2.3.3 Town Planning Application - No. 37 Emerald Drive, Springvale (Planning Application No. PLN23/0243)

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 48 of 576

Project Overall Score: 51% 

Fail Best Practice Design Excellence

BESS Information Summary

Dwelling Type:  Non-residential (<49%) (50-69%) (>70%)

BESS Category Score Initiatives 

Management 0%  

   Preliminary NatHERS rating to be undertaken.
Water 66%  
  5-star WELS rated washing machine product to be specified.
  Potable water consumption reduced by 41% compared to 

same building following minimum standards.
Energy 50%  
  Preliminary NatHERS energy rating to be undertaken with 

average 6.5 Star across all dwellings
  6 star gas instantaneous hot water system per dwelling 

specified.
  Estimated greenhouse gas emissions reduced by 65% 

compared to compared to same building following minimum 
standards

Stormwater 100%  
  Stormwater design meets industry best practice 

requirements though incorporation of rainwater collection 
and re-use and permeable concrete to portion of driveway  

Indoor Environment 
Quality

60%  

  Double glazing to all habitable room windows
  Over 50% of living areas orientated to the north
Transport 50%  
  Space for bicycle parking in each unit’s garage
Waste 0%  
Urban Ecology 62%  To be revised
  At least 48% of the site area will be vegetated
Innovation 0%  

Conclusion 
125.Subject to conditions, the proposed development of three (3) dwellings is considered 

acceptable and is of an appropriate design response in terms of height, scale, setbacks, 
private open space, car parking and landscaping with minimal amenity impacts on the 
adjoining residential properties and surrounding area.
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126.The application has been assessed against the relevant sections of the Greater Dandenong 
Planning Scheme, including the Planning Policy Framework, Local Planning Policy Framework 
and Municipal Strategic Statement as set out in this assessment. It is considered that the 
application complies with these policies, and it is therefore recommended that the proposal is 
approved with conditions.

Officer Recommendation
That Council resolves to issue a Notice of Decision to grant a permit in respect of the land 
known and described as 37 Emerald Drive, Springvale VIC 3171 (Lot 1 LP 54941) for “the 
development of the land for three (3) dwellings comprising two (2) double storey dwellings 
and one (1) single storey dwelling to the rear” in accordance with the plans submitted with 
the application, subject to the following conditions:

1. Before the development starts, amended plans to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority must be submitted to and approved by the Responsible 
Authority. The amended plans must be drawn to scale with dimensions. The 
amended plans must be generally in accordance with the plans submitted and 
assessed with the application but modified to show:

1.1 The accessway for Dwelling 1 to have a corner splay or area of at least 
50% clear of visual obstructions extending at least 2 metres along the 
road frontage of an exit lane and 2.5 metres along the exit lane from 
the frontage to provide a clear view of pedestrians on the footpath;  

1.2 The garage wall for Dwelling 1 on the western boundary to have an 
average height of 3.2 metres; 

1.3 Bollard lights along the common accessway;

 1.4. An updated landscape plan in accordance with Condition 2; 

 1.5. Any alterations required by Condition 5 hereon (Sustainable Design 
Assessment). 

 When approved, these plans will be endorsed and will form part of this permit.

2. Concurrent with the endorsement of the plans pursuant to Condition 1, an 
updated landscape plan to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority must 
be submitted to and approved by the Responsible Authority. The landscape 
plan must be prepared by a person or firm with suitable qualifications to the 
satisfaction of the Responsible Authority, drawn to scale with dimensions 
must be provided. The landscape plan must be generally in accordance with 
the landscape plan submitted with the application but modified to show:

2.1 The canopy trees within the front setback and secluded private open 
spaces must be native and selected from the City of Greater 
Dandenong Tree Selection and Planning.  

When approved, the amended landscape plan will be endorsed and will form 
part of this permit. 
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The provisions, recommendations and requirements of the landscape plan 
must be implemented and complied with to the satisfaction of the Responsible 
Authority. 

Landscaping in accordance with the endorsed landscaping plan and schedule 
must be completed before the building is occupied.

3. Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the layout 
of the land and the size, design and location of the buildings and works 
permitted must always accord with the endorsed plan and must not be altered 
or modified. 

4. Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the 
approved building must not be occupied until all buildings and works and the 
conditions of this permit have been complied with.

5. Concurrent with the endorsement of the plans pursuant to Condition 1, a 
revised Sustainable Design Assessment (SDA) to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority. The revised SDA must be in accordance with the 
design initiatives and recommendations specified in the approved Sustainable 
Design Assessment (prepared by Abacus Design & Planning, dated 11 
October 2023), but modified to include:

5.1 Preliminary energy efficiency assessment (NatHERS) rating for all 
dwellings. The revised energy rating assessment must achieve the 
average target rating of 6.5 stars, with the assumptions, results and 
preliminary certificates included in the appendix of the SDA. 

5.2 Selection of BESS Management credit 2.2 as yes once the 
preliminary NatHERS rating is complete.

5.3 Revised BESS energy calculator that includes the completed heating 
and cooling figures in accordance with the preliminary NatHERS 
rating.

5.4 Revised energy efficiency section that confirms the hot water 
system type (electric or gas), and the star rating to ensure 
consistency between the SDA and BESS report, and current plans.

5.5 Revised energy efficiency section that confirms the star rating of 
Heating and Cooling system to ensure consistency between the SDA 
and BESS report, and current plans.

5.6 Water Calculator: Washing machine WELS rating must be validated 
by specifying a specific 5-Star WLES rated product, should it be part 
of the base building. Should no washing machine be specified as 
part of the base building, then the BESS input should be revised to 
“default/unrated” for the occupant to install.

5.7 Revised urban ecology credit 2.1 that specifies site permeability or 
vegetated area that does not exceed the extent of permeability or 
landscape area specified in on the plans. 
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6. The provisions, recommendations and requirements of the endorsed SDA 
must be implemented and complied with to the satisfaction of the Responsible 
Authority. The endorsed SDA and supporting documentation must not be 
altered without the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority.

7. Prior to the commencement of the development, the street tree in front of 37 
Emerald Drive Springvale, must have a Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) fence 
installed to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. All TPZ activities 
must meet the following requirements:

7.1 TPZ fence must be installed prior to the commencement of any 
demolition, excavation, delivery of building/construction materials, 
temporary buildings and construction.

7.2 The TPZ fence shall not be removed until such works have been fully 
completed.

7.3 The TPZ fence must extend to the Tree Protection Zone as, 
calculated as being a radius of 12 times the Diameter at Breast 
Height (DBH –measured at 1.4 metres above ground level as defined 
by the Australian Standard AS 4970.2009) or as close as practically 
possible without blocking footpaths, roads or existing driveways.

7.4 If works are shown on any endorsed plans of this permit within the 
calculated TPZ, the Tree Protection Fencing must be taken in only 
the minimum amount necessary to allow the works to be completed.

7.5 Any excavation within the TPZ must be approved and supervised by 
a qualified Arborist.

7.6 Any roots encountered during supervised excavation must be 
documented with photographic evidence to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority and only pruned at the discretion and 
direction of the qualified Arborist.

7.7 Areas within the TPZ must not be used:

7.7.1 for vehicular or pedestrian access, no trenching or soil 
excavation is to occur.

7.7.2 for storage or dumping of tools, equipment, materials or 
waste disposal.

7.7.3 for storage of any vehicles, machinery, equipment or 
other materials.

8. Provision must be made for the drainage for the proposed development 
including landscaped and paved areas, all to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority.
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9. The connection of the internal drainage infrastructure to the Legal Point of 
Discharge (LPD) must be to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. 
 

10. Collected stormwater must be retained onsite and discharged into the 
drainage system at pre-development peak discharge rates as stated in the 
Legal Point of Discharge approval letter. Approval of drainage plan including 
any retention system within the property boundary is required.

11. Before the approved building is occupied, all piping and ducting above the 
ground floor storey of the building, except downpipes, must be concealed to 
the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

12. Standard concrete vehicular crossing/s must be constructed to suit the 
proposed driveway/s in accordance with the Council's standard specifications. 
Any vehicle crossing no longer required must be removed and the land, 
footpath and kerb and channel reinstated, to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority.

13. Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, floor levels 
shown on the endorsed plan/s must not be altered or modified.

14. Before the approved building is occupied, the development must be provided 
with external lighting capable of illuminating access to each garage, car 
parking space and pedestrian walkway. Lighting must be located, directed and 
shielded to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority so as to prevent any 
adverse effect outside the land.

15. Letterboxes and all other structures (including visually obstructive fencing 
and landscaping) should be constructed to a maximum height of 900mm or 
relocated clear of a splayed area (2m x 2.5m) along the frontage road at access 
points in accordance with Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme Clause 52.06-
9.

16. Before the approved building is occupied, the obscure glazing to the windows 
shown on the endorsed plans must be provided through frosted glass or 
similarly treated glass. Adhesive film or similar removable material must not 
be used. 
 
All glazing must at all times be maintained to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority.

17. Before the approved building is occupied, all boundary walls in the 
development must be constructed, cleaned and finished to the satisfaction of 
the Responsible Authority.

18. No buildings or works may be constructed over any easement or other 
restriction on the land or any sewers, drains, pipes, wires or cables under the 
control of a public authority without the prior written consent of the relevant 
authority and the Responsible Authority.
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19. This permit will expire if:

 19.1. The development or any stage of it does not start within two (2) years 
of the date of this permit, or

 19.2. The development or any stage of it is not completed within four (4) 
years of the date of this permit.

 Before the permit expires or within six (6) months afterwards the owner or 
occupier of the land may in writing request the Responsible Authority to 
extend the expiry date. 

The owner or occupier of the land may in writing request the Responsible 
Authority to extend the expiry date to complete the development or a stage of 
the development if:

  A) the request for the extension is made within twelve (12) months after 
the permit expires; and

  B) the development or stage started lawfully before the permit expired.

Permit Notes 

• Building Approval is required prior to the commencement of the approved 
development. This planning permit does not constitute any building approval.

• A report of consent for build over easement is required for the proposed 
carport over the existing drainage & sewerage easement along the Southern 
boundary.

• A drainage plan approval fee is to be paid to Council prior to the issue of 
approved drainage plans. Please contact the Civil Development department for 
the current schedule of fees.

• As this is an established site, the proposed internal drainage should be 
connected to the existing legal point of discharge.  The applicant may apply 
for local drainage information, if available; otherwise on-site verification 
should be undertaken by the applicant.

• A Vehicle Crossing Permit must be obtained from Council for all vehicular 
crossings prior to construction of the crossings. 

• Any works undertaken within the road reservation and easements will require 
the developer to obtain a Civil Works Permit from Council.



  2.3.3 Town Planning Application - No. 37 Emerald Drive, Springvale (Planning Application No. PLN23/0243)

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 54 of 576

• Prior to works commencing the developer will need to obtain an Asset 
Protection Permit from Council.  

MINUTE No.1093
Moved by: Cr Sean O'Reilly
Seconded by: Cr Bob Milkovic

That Council resolves to issue a Notice of Decision to grant a permit in respect of the land 
known and described as 37 Emerald Drive, Springvale VIC 3171 (Lot 1 LP 54941) for “the 
development of the land for three (3) dwellings comprising two (2) double storey dwellings 
and one (1) single storey dwelling to the rear” in accordance with the plans submitted with 
the application, subject to the following conditions:

1. Before the development starts, amended plans to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority must be submitted to and approved by the Responsible 
Authority. The amended plans must be drawn to scale with dimensions. The 
amended plans must be generally in accordance with the plans submitted and 
assessed with the application but modified to show:

1.1 The accessway for Dwelling 1 to have a corner splay or area of at least 
50% clear of visual obstructions extending at least 2 metres along the 
road frontage of an exit lane and 2.5 metres along the exit lane from 
the frontage to provide a clear view of pedestrians on the footpath;  

1.2 The garage wall for Dwelling 1 on the western boundary to have an 
average height of 3.2 metres; 

1.3 Bollard lights along the common accessway;

 1.4. An updated landscape plan in accordance with Condition 2; 

 1.5. Any alterations required by Condition 5 hereon (Sustainable Design 
Assessment). 

 When approved, these plans will be endorsed and will form part of this permit.

2. Concurrent with the endorsement of the plans pursuant to Condition 1, an 
updated landscape plan to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority must 
be submitted to and approved by the Responsible Authority. The landscape 
plan must be prepared by a person or firm with suitable qualifications to the 
satisfaction of the Responsible Authority, drawn to scale with dimensions 
must be provided. The landscape plan must be generally in accordance with 
the landscape plan submitted with the application but modified to show:
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2.1 The canopy trees within the front setback and secluded private open 
spaces must be native and selected from the City of Greater 
Dandenong Tree Selection and Planning.  

When approved, the amended landscape plan will be endorsed and will form 
part of this permit. 

The provisions, recommendations and requirements of the landscape plan 
must be implemented and complied with to the satisfaction of the Responsible 
Authority. 

Landscaping in accordance with the endorsed landscaping plan and schedule 
must be completed before the building is occupied.

3. Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the layout 
of the land and the size, design and location of the buildings and works 
permitted must always accord with the endorsed plan and must not be altered 
or modified. 

4. Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the 
approved building must not be occupied until all buildings and works and the 
conditions of this permit have been complied with.

5. Concurrent with the endorsement of the plans pursuant to Condition 1, a 
revised Sustainable Design Assessment (SDA) to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority. The revised SDA must be in accordance with the 
design initiatives and recommendations specified in the approved Sustainable 
Design Assessment (prepared by Abacus Design & Planning, dated 11 
October 2023), but modified to include:

5.1 Preliminary energy efficiency assessment (NatHERS) rating for all 
dwellings. The revised energy rating assessment must achieve the 
average target rating of 6.5 stars, with the assumptions, results and 
preliminary certificates included in the appendix of the SDA. 

5.2 Selection of BESS Management credit 2.2 as yes once the 
preliminary NatHERS rating is complete.

5.3 Revised BESS energy calculator that includes the completed heating 
and cooling figures in accordance with the preliminary NatHERS 
rating.

5.4 Revised energy efficiency section that confirms the hot water 
system type (electric or gas), and the star rating to ensure 
consistency between the SDA and BESS report, and current plans.

5.5 Revised energy efficiency section that confirms the star rating of 
Heating and Cooling system to ensure consistency between the SDA 
and BESS report, and current plans.

5.6 Water Calculator: Washing machine WELS rating must be validated 
by specifying a specific 5-Star WLES rated product, should it be part 
of the base building. Should no washing machine be specified as 
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part of the base building, then the BESS input should be revised to 
“default/unrated” for the occupant to install.

5.7 Revised urban ecology credit 2.1 that specifies site permeability or 
vegetated area that does not exceed the extent of permeability or 
landscape area specified in on the plans. 

6. The provisions, recommendations and requirements of the endorsed SDA 
must be implemented and complied with to the satisfaction of the Responsible 
Authority. The endorsed SDA and supporting documentation must not be 
altered without the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority.

7. Prior to the commencement of the development, the street tree in front of 37 
Emerald Drive Springvale, must have a Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) fence 
installed to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. All TPZ activities 
must meet the following requirements:

7.1 TPZ fence must be installed prior to the commencement of any 
demolition, excavation, delivery of building/construction materials, 
temporary buildings and construction.

7.2 The TPZ fence shall not be removed until such works have been fully 
completed.

7.3 The TPZ fence must extend to the Tree Protection Zone as, 
calculated as being a radius of 12 times the Diameter at Breast 
Height (DBH –measured at 1.4 metres above ground level as defined 
by the Australian Standard AS 4970.2009) or as close as practically 
possible without blocking footpaths, roads or existing driveways.

7.4 If works are shown on any endorsed plans of this permit within the 
calculated TPZ, the Tree Protection Fencing must be taken in only 
the minimum amount necessary to allow the works to be completed.

7.5 Any excavation within the TPZ must be approved and supervised by 
a qualified Arborist.

7.6 Any roots encountered during supervised excavation must be 
documented with photographic evidence to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority and only pruned at the discretion and 
direction of the qualified Arborist.

7.7 Areas within the TPZ must not be used:

7.7.1 for vehicular or pedestrian access, no trenching or soil 
excavation is to occur.

7.7.2 for storage or dumping of tools, equipment, materials or 
waste disposal.
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7.7.3 for storage of any vehicles, machinery, equipment or 
other materials.

8. Provision must be made for the drainage for the proposed development 
including landscaped and paved areas, all to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority.

9. The connection of the internal drainage infrastructure to the Legal Point of 
Discharge (LPD) must be to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. 
 

10. Collected stormwater must be retained onsite and discharged into the 
drainage system at pre-development peak discharge rates as stated in the 
Legal Point of Discharge approval letter. Approval of drainage plan including 
any retention system within the property boundary is required.

11. Before the approved building is occupied, all piping and ducting above the 
ground floor storey of the building, except downpipes, must be concealed to 
the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

12. Standard concrete vehicular crossing/s must be constructed to suit the 
proposed driveway/s in accordance with the Council's standard specifications. 
Any vehicle crossing no longer required must be removed and the land, 
footpath and kerb and channel reinstated, to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority.

13. Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, floor levels 
shown on the endorsed plan/s must not be altered or modified.

14. Before the approved building is occupied, the development must be provided 
with external lighting capable of illuminating access to each garage, car 
parking space and pedestrian walkway. Lighting must be located, directed and 
shielded to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority so as to prevent any 
adverse effect outside the land.

15. Letterboxes and all other structures (including visually obstructive fencing 
and landscaping) should be constructed to a maximum height of 900mm or 
relocated clear of a splayed area (2m x 2.5m) along the frontage road at access 
points in accordance with Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme Clause 52.06-
9.

16. Before the approved building is occupied, the obscure glazing to the windows 
shown on the endorsed plans must be provided through frosted glass or 
similarly treated glass. Adhesive film or similar removable material must not 
be used. 
 
All glazing must at all times be maintained to the satisfaction of the 
Responsible Authority.

17. Before the approved building is occupied, all boundary walls in the 
development must be constructed, cleaned and finished to the satisfaction of 
the Responsible Authority.
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18. No buildings or works may be constructed over any easement or other 
restriction on the land or any sewers, drains, pipes, wires or cables under the 
control of a public authority without the prior written consent of the relevant 
authority and the Responsible Authority.

19. This permit will expire if:

 19.1. The development or any stage of it does not start within two (2) years 
of the date of this permit, or

 19.2. The development or any stage of it is not completed within four (4) 
years of the date of this permit.

 Before the permit expires or within six (6) months afterwards the owner or 
occupier of the land may in writing request the Responsible Authority to 
extend the expiry date. 

The owner or occupier of the land may in writing request the Responsible 
Authority to extend the expiry date to complete the development or a stage of 
the development if:

  A) the request for the extension is made within twelve (12) months after 
the permit expires; and

  B) the development or stage started lawfully before the permit expired.

Permit Notes 

• Building Approval is required prior to the commencement of the approved 
development. This planning permit does not constitute any building approval.

• A report of consent for build over easement is required for the proposed 
carport over the existing drainage & sewerage easement along the Southern 
boundary.

• A drainage plan approval fee is to be paid to Council prior to the issue of 
approved drainage plans. Please contact the Civil Development department for 
the current schedule of fees.

• As this is an established site, the proposed internal drainage should be 
connected to the existing legal point of discharge.  The applicant may apply 
for local drainage information, if available; otherwise on-site verification 
should be undertaken by the applicant.

• A Vehicle Crossing Permit must be obtained from Council for all vehicular 
crossings prior to construction of the crossings. 
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• Any works undertaken within the road reservation and easements will require 
the developer to obtain a Civil Works Permit from Council.

• Prior to works commencing the developer will need to obtain an Asset 
Protection Permit from Council.  

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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3 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

Question 
Nick Vasilantonakis, Springvale
Regarding Item 2.3.3 Town Planning Application - No. 37 Emerald Drive, Springvale (Planning 
Application No. PLN23/0243). We object due to car congestion, noise, privacy and lighting. 

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
This item was passed earlier tonight as part of tonight’s meeting Agenda. Planning permit 
objections are accepted as stipulated under the Planning & Environment Act 1987. Objections 
must be received within the stipulated timeframes as per the Act.

Question 
Meaghan Mack, Keysborough
It is great to see the Keysborough South Community Hub finally getting built as it will strengthen 
community connection in this still relatively new part of Greater Dandenong. When will applications 
open for residents for a Keysborough South Committee, like the current Springvale Hub 
Committee, so residents can have meaningful input ongoing to help Council make the 
Keysborough South Community Hub a success?

Response
Peta Gillies, Executive Director Community Strengthening 
The development of a potential Keysborough South Community Hub Advisory Committee would 
be dependent on the feedback during the development of both the Strategic Plan and Action Plan, 
as to the community interests and what they would like to focus on. The consultation process 
relating to the Strategic Plan has recently been undertaken. We are currently reviewing all 
feedback and will make recommendations to Council in the coming months.

We will be sure to keep the community updated on the progress and opportunities to be involved 
in ensuring its success.

Question 
Elizabeth Grasso, Keysborough
What is the current balance of the Open Space – Acquisitions Reserve?

What is the balance of the Open Space – Acquisitions Reserve post 1 July 2024, when as per the 
endorsed Public Open Space Acquisition and Improvement Policy it will be topped up from the 
Open Space – Planning, Development and Improvements Reserve?

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
The Open Space Acquisition reserve currently has a balance of $6 million, and this will also be the 
balance on 1 July 2024. It will be topped up if any purchases happen over the next 6 months.
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Question 
Isabelle Nash, Keysborough
Question 1
One of the reasons for the officers not recommending the purchase of 51A Douglas Street, Noble 
Park as open space was due to the number of sites north of the railway line. However, this site is 
south of the railway line where the nearby streets have little green space. So why wasn't this taken 
into consideration?

Question 2
One of the reasons given by officers not recommending for the purchase of 51A Douglas Street, 
Noble Park as open space was the because of the purchase of the site in Frank Street. How is that 
relevant when we are talking about green space with trees and Frank Street is a concreted civic 
plaza?

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
It is important to note that the land at 51A Douglas Street is not for sale and as such there is no 
option for Council to purchase the land, even it was considered appropriate to do so.

In terms of the second question, when assessing sites for open space, all existing areas of open 
space are included in the considerations, including urban spaces such as Frank Street, which is a 
type of public open space as set out in the Open Space Strategy.  

Question 
Gaye Guest, Keysborough
Item 4.2.1 in tonight’s Agenda cannot be accepted until the wording is changed to reflect that 
Council does not “own” the Noble Park Public Hall and Paddy O Donoghue Centre. The Noble 
Park Public Hall Trust under deed owns the land 18-34 Buckley St and Council “manages“ the 
Paddy O’Donoghue centre on behalf of the Noble Park Public Hall Trust who have not been 
advised of the change in what Council is proposing.

Council has a copy of our deed on file. When will Council consult with the Hall Trustees over this 
matter before changes are made? Therefore, the boundaries of the hall and POD centre cannot be 
varied and must remain as they are. The wording that is incorrect is “The proposed planning 
scheme amendment affects 3 existing Council owned sites, by updating the Heritage Overlay 
controls which apply to the sites. The affected assets are:
a. Noble Park Public Hall (HO03) – to make minor correction to reduce the extent of the map and 
remove tree controls as it is no longer applicable.”

No changes can be to the map boundaries on HO03.This is a sensitive issue that Council have not 
consulted the Trustees and the deed cannot be challenged even at Supreme Court level.
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Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
It is noted that the site is owned by the Noble Park Hall Trust, however ownership does not alter 
the considerations of the report later in tonight’s Agenda.

This report only seeks support to commence the formal planning scheme amendment process, 
and to request authorisation from the Minister for Planning to start this process. It does not seek 
approval of the proposed changes to the Heritage Overlay.

If authorisation is provided by the Minister, Council will formally notify all interested parties, 
including the Noble Park Hall Trust. Council will then consider any submissions received before 
making a decision on whether to formally support the amendment. 

Question 
Gaye Guest, Keysborough
Referring to the budget submission response I have received, when the Cultural and Heritage 
Advisory Committee were told in 2021-22 that the Heritage Study would be revised and reviewed 
(Strategy Action 3.5). We were told that the review of the current sites was Stage 1 and it would be 
followed by a Stage reviewing new sites. Meanwhile our precious heritage buildings and 
infrastructure that have not been assessed are not protected by any local heritage overlay because 
they are not listed on Council's own Heritage Overlay register. Yet they are mentioned in local 
folklore stories, our own history books and Council documents so need to be assessed as soon as 
possible. 

This promise seems to have been broken. Who made the decision not to go ahead with Stage 2 
and when?

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Council has completed a review of the current sites listed on the Heritage Overlay in the Greater 
Dandenong Planning Scheme. This review has identified that 18 of the sites require a change to 
the heritage controls based on current on-site conditions.

It is proposed to undertake a planning scheme amendment in 2024/25 to make the required 
changes to the Heritage Overlay. A decision on whether to pursue this amendment will be made 
later in tonight's Agenda.

In terms of potentially adding additional sites to the Heritage Overlay, a decision has not been 
made on whether Council will undertake this work. Rather, that decision will be made following the 
completion of the currently proposed planning scheme amendment.
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Question 
Emily Sloan, Dandenong
As a Dandenong West resident, I am concerned from what I am hearing that three (3) trees near 
the corner of Wilma Avenue and Hemmings Street are planned to be removed. Compared to other 
streetscapes in Greater Dandenong that have few trees, the greenery of the redeveloped 
Hemmings Street shopping strip has been a joy and should be preserved. Could you please 
validate whether these three (3) trees are going to be removed or not?

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Council has scheduled pruning of two (2) trees on the north-east and north-west sides of the Wilma 
Avenue and Hemmings Street intersection to provide visibility for pedestrians and vehicles. 

A single nature strip tree located in front of 25A Wilma Avenue has been scheduled for removal.  If 
further information on the exact location is provided to Council, Officers can investigate further and 
provide a response.

Question 
Emily Sloan, Dandenong
In the minutes of the last Council meeting, I read that additional co-design sessions for the 
Dandenong Community Hub are going ahead to finish the job that the co-design sessions in 
January and February this year started in finalising the concept design of the Dandenong 
Community Hub. 

However, the expected timing was not mentioned.

Question 1
In what month of 2024 are the next co-design workshops taking place?

Question 2
The concept design process was kicked off with the Council meeting decision in September 2020. 
Since then, there have been Council votes on the site, the scope of features and also that co-
design will be used to finalise the concept design. However, the question after almost four (4) 
years has passed is when exactly will the concept design be finalised and we will move into the 
detailed design and construction phases? 

Response
Peta Gillies, Executive Director Community Strengthening 
As advised at the last Council meeting, we are pleased to have now received feedback from the 
Architects on required next steps. 
 
While further co-design sessions will be required to finalise the concept design, before they can 
proceed there are several items that need to be worked through. 
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For example, a broader precinct plan will inform vehicle and pedestrian management, and 
discussions are underway regarding potential options regarding parking, noting that the preference 
is to accommodate an active play area. 
 
Officers are currently working through these and will provide further information on future sessions 
as soon as possible. As soon as there are dates confirmed, we will let everybody know.

Question 
Pam Naylor, Noble Park
In March this year, in an answer to a public question at a Council meeting, it was revealed that the 
draft plan for the sensory trail at Tirhatuan Park had now been completed, and that community 
consultation will occur prior to the end of this financial year. I have not seen any sign of the 
consultation starting to date, when is the draft plan consultation now expected to start?

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Officers are undertaking additional internal consultation with Council’s disability planners regarding 
the design of the proposed sensory elements, to ensure the design can accommodate a diverse 
range of abilities. 

Once this is complete, it is intended to undertake community consultation following the upcoming 
Council election caretaker period.

Question 
Pam Naylor, Noble Park
It has been seven (7) months since the Sustainability Advisory Committee term ended. When is the 
recruitment process for the new Committee expected to start?

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
As advised at a previous Council meeting, officers are currently reviewing the Sustainability 
Advisory Committee. It is intended that further Council consideration will be given to the committee 
following the upcoming Council elections.

Question 
Pam Naylor, Noble Park
I was one of the members of the public who submitted to the budget process asking for more staff 
and project funding to catch up on the implementation of our endorsed climate change, 
sustainability and environmental strategies and plans. The community feedback response was that 
in the last year the shortfall of completed actions in the Climate Emergency Strategy and Action 
Plan is not as bad. 

When can I expect there will be a public progress report on the Climate Emergency Strategy and 
Action Plan so I can read what has been completed and importantly in what way. There has been 
no such report in 4 years, but now that the resourcing issues have apparently been fixed, I would 
expect that a progress report would be imminent. Am I correct?
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Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
As advised at the 25 March 2024 Council meeting, Council is currently looking at options to 
streamline the actions within the various sustainability and environmental strategies to assist in 
improving reporting capabilities. 

Due to the level of detail, this is a complex process that will be completed by the end of the 
calendar year. 

Council appreciates the community’s patience with this and will be able to provide further 
timeframes regarding future reporting following the completion of this work.

Question 
Phillip Lamaro, Dandenong
Can Council give an update on the progress and an estimated completion date on both the Vanity 
Lane and the new art gallery in Dandenong projects?

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures

The Vanity Lane project has been delayed due to issues associated with the proposed demolition 
of the existing fire damaged building. Timing for demolition and future construction of the laneway 
is currently under review. We can provide further updates once the review is completed in coming 
months. The new art project is currently under review and Council will provide timing once it is all 
completed. 

Question 
Phillip Lamaro, Dandenong
In the past few weeks, I have noticed that on Friday afternoons approx. 30 to 50 cars are illegally 
parking on the footpath on Cheltenham Road around the Keysborough Turkish centre. These cars 
are parking on the footpath blocking pedestrians from using this footpath and making people walk 
in the drain to get around them. Could Council please start policing this area and issuing fines to 
offenders that are risking pedestrians’ safety?

Response
Peta Gillies, Executive Director Community Strengthening 
Thank you, Phillip, for bringing this to our attention. 

Council’s Parking Compliance team will monitor and take appropriate enforcement action if 
needed.
 
As always, please do not feel you have to wait until a Council meeting to report such issues. 
Council encourages you to report issues at the time you observe them via Snap Send Solve so 
that we can respond as promptly as possible.
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Question 
Phillip Lamaro, Dandenong
Council is hosting a morning tea on Saturday for the LGBTIQA+ community. Can I ask if 
Councillors have been invited to this event and if any Councillor has accepted their invite to 
attend? 

Response
Marjan Hajjari, Executive Manager Strategic Growth & Advocacy
The Pride Month Morning Tea event is for the Rainbow communities to come together in 
celebration and provide members an opportunity to have input into the development of the new 
Council Plan and hear guest speaker Ian Seal from Many Coloured Sky. This informal public event 
has been widely promoted on Council website/social media and Councillors are welcome to attend 
if they are available.

Question 
Matthew Kirwan, Noble Park
Can Council please do traffic speed tests along Buckley Street between Noble Street and Wall 
Street, Noble Park. The 50 kms an hour speed limit is often not being observed which is a safety 
issue as this area is used by those dropping off and picking up children from Noble Park Primary 
School, as well as being an area of high pedestrian traffic. 

Can Council consider making the stretch between Noble Street and Wall Street a 40 km/hr area as 
it is much a school dropping and picking up area as further down Buckley Street. If Council do not 
think this area is suitable for this purpose, more no standing signs are required.

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
This section of Buckley Street should have a 40km/h speed limit in place. Our officers have 
inspected the site today and identified a missing 40km/h sign for southbound traffic just south of 
Noble Street and will have this replaced as soon as possible.

Once the sign is replaced, officers will collect new traffic data to identify any further speeding 
issues.
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4 OFFICERS REPORTS - PART 2

4.1 FINANCE AND BUDGET
4.1.1 Adoption of the 2024-25 Budget

Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate Development
Attachments: 1. Adopted Budget 2024-25 [4.1.1.1 - 167 pages]

2. Community Feedback Budget LTFP Council Plan Annual 
Plan [4.1.1.2 - 19 pages]

Executive Summary

1. At its meeting on 15 April 2024, Council resolved to adopt the Proposed 2024-25 Budget for 
public exhibition and community feedback from 15 May 2024 for a period of 28 days in 
accordance with Council’s Community Engagement Policy. 28 submissions were received 
during the community engagement period that closed on 12 June 2024 with four (4) submitters 
speaking in support of their submission.

2. This report recommends that Council: 
a. Adopts the 2024-25 Budget in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020. 
b. Declares the rates and charges for the 2024-25 financial year in accordance with the provisions 

of the Local Government Act 1989.  
c. Fixes the penalties for parking infringements in contravention of the Regulations made under 

the Road Safety Act 1986 as specified in the Fees and Charges (Section 6, page 27) of the 
2024-25 Budget, which will continue as the penalties so fixed until Council resolves otherwise.

d. Delegates authority to the Chief Executive Officer to approve the 2024-25 management 
services agreement payments to Council’s wholly owned subsidiary, South East Leisure (SEL) 
in accordance with its Annual Budget.
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Background

3. In accordance with section 94 of the Local Government Act 2020, Council must prepare and 
adopt a Budget for each financial year and the subsequent three (3) financial years by 30 
June.

4. The 2024-25 Proposed Budget was presented to Council on 15 April 2024, and it was resolved 
to place it out for public exhibition and community feedback for 28 days in accordance with 
Council’s Community Engagement Policy. 

5. The Budget will form the basis for monitoring Council’s financial performance over the 2024-25 
financial year.

Key Points / Issues / Discussion 
Community Feedback on the 2024-25 Budget and Long Term Financial Plan

6. Council received 28 feedback items for consideration during the second community 
engagement period (15 May 2024 to 12 June 2024).  

7. Four representatives requested to speak in relation to their feedback at the Councillor Briefing 
Session on 17 June 2024.

8. Responses have subsequently been provided in the Attachment to this report titled 
‘Community Feedback on Budget, LTFP, Council Plan, Annual Plan’.

9. The community feedback centred mainly on the following themes:

• Climate change and sustainability, biodiversity, and conservation
• Cultural and heritage
• Open space land acquisition (51A Douglas Street site)
• Entrepreneurship
• Primary resident issues: cost of living and living conditions
• Mental health support

10. Climate Change and Sustainability, biodiversity and conservation

11. In recent years, Council has made substantial progress towards meeting the challenge of 
climate change, including reducing its emissions by 83% since 2019 as part of the move 
towards net zero, the installation of 660kW of solar on Council buildings, transitioning a 
considerable number of fleet to electric or hybrid vehicles, the development of the Springvale 
Community Hub 6 Star Green Star certified building which represents world leading 
environmental performance, and the banning of gas in new Council buildings and development 
of a gas transition plan to remove gas from existing Council buildings. 

12. Staff resourcing has also been increased within the Sustainability Team in recent years, which 
has been crucial in delivering an increased number of the actions identified in the 27 February 
2023 Council Report.

13. The 2024-25 Budget includes several initiatives aimed at enhancing Council’s efforts in this 
critical area. $175,000 has been allocated to support the transition away from gas in Council 
buildings and towards net zero emissions. Additionally, extra funding of $286,000 has been 
designated to accelerate the Greening Our City tree planting program. This initiative, along 
with $80,000 allocated for landscape improvements within open spaces through 
implementation of the Urban Forest Strategy, aims to create a greener and more climate 
resilient Greater Dandenong.
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14. The 2024-25 Budget allocates more than $2 million across operating and capital to address 
the challenges posed by climate change.  Of this amount $1.9 million is recurrent operating 
expenditure dedicated to human resources, tree planting across the municipality ($928.000) 
and professional services and affiliation costs ($216,000) to address the challenge.  These 
amounts represent the minimum readily available and does not include other additional 
sustainability initiatives and features incorporated in capital projects and other departmental 
budgets.  

15. Complimenting the above and stated previously, the budget allocates a total of $255,000 at 
initiatives aimed to enhance Council’s efforts in this area including the transition away from 
gas in Council buildings and funds for landscape improvements within open spaces through 
the implementation of the Urban Forest Strategy.

16. Council also continues to expand its educational offerings in schools and direct community 
engagement through various environmental events and the use of our community 
Environmental Education Electric Van.

17. Further detail on how Council is continually working to support and educate our residents in 
how to prepare for extreme weather events can be found in in the ‘Preparedness for impacts 
of climate related events’ report as presented and endorsed by Council on 27 May 2024. This 
report highlights work undertaken to ensure that educational material, including videos is 
available in a range of languages and subtitles. Further, Council is continually working with 
community groups to support them in ensuring their members can access and understand the 
ways that they can best prepare for extreme events.

18. Cultural and Heritage

19. Council undertook a heritage review of existing sites listed in the Heritage Overlay of the 
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme in 2023-24. This involved a full review of each site to 
establish if any changes were required to the heritage controls. The study identified that 
several amendments are required to be made to the Heritage Overlay controls to accurately 
reflect current on-site conditions. Council invested $55,000 to engage expert heritage 
consultants to complete this work. 

20. In 2024-25, Council is proposing to undertake a planning scheme amendment to make the 
relevant amendments to the Heritage Overlay. This will be funded by Council through existing 
departmental budgets.

21. Open space land acquisition (51A Douglas Street site), entrepreneurship, primary resident 
issues: cost of living and living conditions and mental health support themes.

22. Individual responses in relation to the above themes have been provided in the Attachment to 
this report. Individual submitters will also receive a written response.

23. Despite facing budgetary constraints and limited resources, Council’s budget has been 
formulated under difficult economic conditions notably the cost-of-living pressures affecting our 
community and rate capping. The combined impacts of multiple years of rate capping and 
escalating costs of items above both inflation and the rate cap is significantly impacting our 
operations. Council endeavours to achieve a balanced budget by ensuring the provision of 
essential services and facilities on which our community relies, while maintaining a financially 
prudent and sustainable position. No changes are proposed to be made to the budget. 

24. Community feedback will continue to be prioritised and considered in the next iteration of the 
Council Plan, Budget, and Long-Term Financial Plan. 
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Declaration of rates and charges

25. Council is also required to declare in relation to rates and charges the amount by which it 
intends to raise and the methodology for calculating rates and charges.  This declaration is 
included in the Budget and the recommendation to this Council Report.  The provisions 
regarding rates and charges are governed under the Local Government Act 1989.

26. Valuation figures used in rating income calculations in the 2024-25 Budget are final certified 
valuations provided by the Valuer General’s office.  These valuations will now be reported to 
the Minister by the Valuer General.  The changes in valuations and rate in the dollar for each 
differential category between the Proposed 2024-25 Budget and the 2024-25 Adopted Budget 
are very minor and are detailed in the table below.

27.

28.
Waste charges - State Government Landfill Levy

29. During the community engagement period, Council received confirmation of the State 
Government landfill levy increase in 2024-25 of 2.68 per cent to $129.27 per tonne.  This was 
lower than the estimate used in the Proposed Budget 2024-25.  Consequently, the 2024-25 
Budget has been revised and the default waste charge (including the landfill levy) has 
decreased from $508 to $505.   

30. At the time of writing this report, advice was received that the landfill levy will increase by 30% 
to $167.9 a tonne from 1 July 2025 (2025-26 and future years) and will be updated as part of 
the next Budget and Long-Term Financial Plan cycle.  These amounts are fully recovered via 
Council’s waste charge.

Operating grant - Financial Assistance 2024-25 Grant Allocation

31. At the time of writing this report, Council received advice about its indicative grant allocation 
for 2024-25.  This has not been reflected in the 2024-25 Budget as the amounts are indicative 
and not yet confirmed (once officially confirmed, will be adjusted in the Mid-Year Budget).

Operating grant – Regional Assessment Service contract ending 30 June 2024

32. Subsequent to the 2024-25 Proposed Budget Council received advice that the government 
contract for the Regional Assessment Service in the Community Care department would be 
ceasing from 1 July 2024.  This has been reflected in the 2024-25 Budget by reducing the 
grant funding and staff / operating costs related to the program (overall nil impact).  Future 
years will be updated in the next review of the LTFP.

Rating Type

2024-25
Proposed 

Budget
($)

2024-25
Adopted 
Budget

($)
Mvmt

($)

2024-25
Proposed 

Budget
($)

2024-25
Adopted 
Budget

($)
General 38,962,630,000 38,962,630,000 0 0.0015440835 0.0015440904
Commercial 5,370,137,500 5,370,137,500 0 0.0025477378 0.0025477491
Industrial 21,838,400,000 21,838,200,000 (200,000) 0.0032425754 0.0032425898
Res vacant 487,382,500 487,382,500 0 0.0023161253 0.0023161355
Farm 450,882,500 450,882,500 0 0.0011580626 0.0011580678
Total 67,109,432,500 67,109,232,500 (200,000)

Total Value of Land Rate in the $
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Capital grant - Roads to Recovery

33. At the time of writing this report, Council has had recent advice that it will receive $8.96 million 
in Roads to Recovery grant funding for the five-year funding period 1 July 2024 to 30 June 
2029.  This has not yet been reflected in Council’s 2024-25 Budget or Long Term Financial 
Plan 2025-2034 as the annual allocations over the five year period are currently being 
determined.  To be eligible for this funding, certain conditions must be followed, and audited 
annual reports submitted.

Fees and charges - Parking infringements

34. To clarify that Council is complying with its legislative obligation in serving infringement notices 
with the penalties set out in the ‘MaxPenaltyUnits’ and corresponding ‘MaxMonetaryValue’, it 
is recommended that Council fixes the penalties for parking infringements in contravention of 
the Regulations made under the Road Safety Act 1986 in the amounts set out in the Fees and 
Charges Section of the 2024-2025 Budget, which amounts will continue as the penalties so 
fixed until Council resolves otherwise (whether during or after the 2024-2025 financial year).

South East Leisure Pty Ltd

35. This report also recommends Council delegates authority to the Chief Executive Officer to 
make payments to SEL for the provision of Management Services specified in the 
Management Services Agreement dated 13 September 2021 (Clauses 5.2 and 5.3) and SEL’s 
Annual Budget 2024-25.

Financial Implications  

36. The 2024-25 Budget provides the financial framework against which Council's financial 
performance will be measured during the coming financial year. The Budget represents a 
prudent financial approach which maintains funding for capital works and asset renewal 
spending. 

37. As is the current practice, quarterly financial reports highlighting Council’s progression against 
the adopted 2024-25 Budget will be made available to Councillors and the community for their 
information.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation 

38. The community, staff and Councillors had the opportunity to provide input into the 2024-25 
Budget and Long-Term Financial Plan 2025-2034, during two consultation periods.

a. The first consultation occurred from 30 October 2023 to 26 November 2023.  
b. The second period occurred from 15 May 2024 to 12 June 2024.  
39. These engagement periods were promoted through various channels including Council’s 

website and social media, advertisements in the local paper, Greater Dandenong Council 
News, posters in customer services centres and through targeted consultation lists.

40. The feedback received from the first consultation period (36 participants: 29 online, 6 emails 
and 1 hard copy form) was then used to inform Councillors and Council Officers to assist with 
the allocation of resources throughout the budget process.  The main feedback themes 
included Roads and Footpaths, Rubbish and Recycling, Parks and Gardens, Libraries and 
Street Lighting.
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41. Feedback was invited from the community during the 15 May to 12 June 2024 community 
engagement period and 28 submissions were received (7 online and 21 emails).  The main 
themes include Climate, Environment, Biodiversity and Conservation, Cultural and Heritage 
resourcing.

Links to the Community Vision and Council Plan

42. This report is consistent with the following principles in the Community Vision 2040:

• Safe and peaceful community. 
• Education, training, entrepreneurship and employment opportunities.
• Embrace diversity and multiculturalism.
• Sustainable environment.
• Mind, body and spirit.
• Art and culture.

43. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives from the Council Plan 
44. 2021-25:

• A socially connected, safe and healthy city.
• A city that respects and celebrates diversity, our history and the arts.
• A city of accessible, vibrant centres and neighbourhoods.
• A green city committed to a sustainable future.
• A city that supports entrepreneurship, quality education and employment outcomes.
• Council that demonstrates leadership and a commitment to investing in the community.

Legislative and Policy Obligations  

45. This report has considered Council’s legislative and policy obligations (where applicable) as 
outlined in the Report Considerations section detailed in the front of this Agenda. The 
applicable obligations considered and applied are:

• The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020.
• The Gender Equality Act 2020.
• Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 2006.
• Climate Change and Sustainability.
• Related Council Policies, Strategies or Frameworks.
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Conclusion 

46. Council is required to prepare and adopt a Budget for each financial year and the subsequent 
three (3) financial years (section 94(1) of the Act).  The 2024-25 Budget and the subsequent 
three (3) financial years represents a prudent financial approach and forms part of the 10-year 
Long-Term Financial Plan 2025-2034.

Officer Recommendation
That Council:

1 Adopts the 2024-25 Budget in accordance with Section 94 of the Local Government 
Act 2020.

2 Makes a ‘Declaration of rates and charges’ for the 2024-25 financial year in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1989 as follows:

2.1 Amount intended to be raised.

An amount of $173,555,824 (or such other amount as is lawfully raised as a 
consequence of this Resolution) be declared as the amount which Council 
intends to raise by general rates and the annual service charge (described later 
in this Resolution), which amount is calculated as follows:

General rates $146,306,904 (excludes supplementary rates)

Annual service charges $27,248,920

2.2 General rates

A general rate be declared in respect of the 2024-25 financial year.  It be further 
declared that the general rate be raised by the application of differential rates.

2.3 Differential rates

A differential rate be respectively declared for rateable land having the 
respective characteristics specified below, which characteristics will form the 
criteria for each differential rate so declared:

2.3.1 Residential (refer to Schedule A)

2.3.2 Any land which does not have the characteristics of Commercial, 
Industrial, Residential Vacant or Farm Land.

2.3.3 Commercial Land (refer to Schedule B)

2.3.4 Any land which is primarily used for commercial purposes.

2.3.5 Industrial Land (refer to Schedule C)

2.3.6 Any land which is primarily used for industrial purposes.

2.3.7 Residential Vacant Land (refer to Schedule D)

2.3.8 Any land which is vacant residential land.

2.3.9 Farm Land (refer to Schedule E)

2.3.10 Any land which is primarily used for the purposes of farming.
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2.4 Each differential rate will be determined by multiplying the Capital Improved 
Value of each rateable land (categorised by the characteristics described in 
paragraph 2.3 of this Resolution) by the relevant percentages indicated in the 
following table:
Category Cents in the dollar ($)

Commercial 0.0025477491 (of Capital Improved Value)

Industrial 0.0032425898 (of Capital Improved Value)

Residential vacant 0.0023161355 (of Capital Improved Value)

Farm land 0.0011580678 (of Capital Improved Value)

Residential (general) 0.0015440904 (of Capital Improved Value)

2.5 It be recorded that Council considers that each differential rate will contribute to 
the equitable and efficient carrying out of Council functions, and that:

2.5.1 the respective objectives of each differential rate be those specified in the 
Schedule to this Resolution,

2.5.2 the respective types or classes of land which are subject to each 
differential rate be those defined in the Schedule to this Resolution,

2.5.3 the respective uses and levels of each differential rate in relation to those 
respective types or classes of land be those described in the Schedule to 
this Resolution, and

2.5.4 the relevant:
a) uses of,

b) geographical locations of, and

c) planning scheme zonings of, and

d) types of buildings on
the respective types or classes of land be those identified in the Schedule 
to this Resolution.

2.6 Municipal charges

No municipal charge to be declared in respect of the 2024-25 financial year.

2.7 Annual service charges

An annual service charge be declared in respect of the 2024-25 financial year for 
the collection and disposal of refuse.
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The annual service charge be in the sum of, and be based on the criteria 
specified below:
Option A: 120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 240 litre garden bin $420.00

Option B: 80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 240 litre garden bin $382.00

Option C: 120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 120 litre garden bin $399.00

Option D: 80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 120 litre garden bin $361.00

Option E: 120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, no garden bin $339.00

Option F: 80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, no garden bin $304.00

Minimum waste charge for each residential property. $304.00

State Government landfill levy per service for each land that 
utilises domestic waste bin for the collection of landfill levies 
associated with the disposal of refuse.

$85.00

Additional bin services:

Bin option change of selection charge $21.00

120 litre waste bin service $218.00

- Plus a “one off” fee for the purchase of the bin $43.50

- Plus service for the collection of landfill levies associated with 
the disposal of refuse

$85.00

240 litre recycling bin service $55.00

- Plus a “one off” fee for the purchase of the bin $52.00

240 litre garden bin service $115.00

- Plus a “one off” fee for the purchase of the bin $52.00

Bin delivery $22.00

Recycling bin option – upgrade of 240 litre to 360 litre (or 
replacement of a damaged 360 litre bin)

$115.00

3 Rebates and Concessions

Council has entered into agreements with the Ministry of Housing to assess 50% of 
the general rate for certain purpose-built units for older persons.

Council also provides concessions of 10% and 40% of the relevant rate for qualifying 
properties under the Cultural and Recreational Lands Act.

4 Incentives

No incentive be declared for early payment of the general rates and annual service 
charge previously declared.
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5 Consequential

5.1 It be recorded that Council requires any person to pay interest on any amount of 
rates and charges to which:
a) That person is liable to pay, and
b) Have not been paid by the date specified for their payment.

5.2 The Chief Executive Officer be authorised to levy and recover the general rates 
and annual service charge in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 
and subject to section 181H(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1989.

6 Payment method

In accordance with Section 167 Local Government Act 1989, Council declares that 
Council rates will be payable by four (4) quarterly instalments on or before the 
following dates:

Instalment 1 - 30 September 2024

Instalment 2 - 30 November 2024

Instalment 3 - 28 February 2025

Instalment 4 - 31 May 2025.

Where the payment due date falls on a weekend or public holiday, the payment date 
will be the next business day.

or

Council offers a variety of flexible payment options available to residents who register 
online at pay.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au.  

Payments can be spread across the financial year until 31 May, and can be direct 
debited weekly, fortnightly, monthly, or quarterly from your bank account, debit or 
credit card.  Once registered payment details can be changed and updated anytime 
and set SMS reminders to stay on track with payments.

or 

Residents can also pay in full online at Council’s website (mygreaterdandenong.com)

7 In respect of ‘Fees and Charges’:

Fixes the penalties for parking infringements in contravention of the Regulations 
made under the Road Safety Act 1986 as specified in the Fees and Charges (Section 6, 
page 27) of the 2024-25 Budget, which will continue as the penalties so fixed until 
Council resolves otherwise.

8 In respect of South East Leisure Pty Ltd (SEL):

Council delegates authority to the Chief Executive Officer to make payments to SEL 
for the provision of Management Services in the 2024-25 financial year, as specified in 
the Management Services Agreement dated 13 September 2021 (Clauses 5.2 and 5.3) 
and SEL’s Annual Budget 2024-25.
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SCHEDULE A

GENERAL (Residential)

Objective:
To ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out 
the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure.
2. Development and provision of health and community services.
3. Provision of general support services.
4. Requirement to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake it’s strategic, 

statutory, and service provision obligations.

Types and classes:
Any land which does not have the characteristics of Commercial, Industrial, Residential Vacant or 
Farm Land.

Use and level of differential rate:
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council. The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
All buildings which are now constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the 
financial year.
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SCHEDULE B

COMMERCIAL LAND

The Commercial rate is to promote economic development objectives for the City including the 
retail development of the Dandenong, Springvale and Noble Park Activity Centre’s and the ongoing 
development of strip shopping centres.

Objective:
To ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out 
the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure related to the commercial sector.

2. Enhancement of the economic viability of the commercial sector through targeted programs 
and projects.

3. Encouragement of employment opportunities.

4. Promotion of economic development.

5. Requirement to ensure that streetscaping and promotional activity is complementary to the 
achievement of commercial objectives.

Types and classes:
Any land which is primarily used for commercial purposes.

Use and level of differential rate: 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
All buildings which are now constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the 
financial year.
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SCHEDULE C

INDUSTRIAL LAND

The Industrial rate is to promote economic development objectives for the municipality including 
industrial development in appropriately zoned areas.

Objective:
To ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out 
the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure related to the industrial sector.

2. Enhancement of the economic viability of the industrial sector through targeted programs 
and projects.

3. Encouragement of employment opportunities.

4. Promotion of economic development.

5. Requirement to ensure that street scaping and promotional activity is complementary to the 
achievement of industrial objectives.

Types and classes:
Any land which is used primarily for industrial purposes.

Use and level of differential rate: 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
All buildings which are now constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the 
financial year.
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SCHEDULE D

RESIDENTIAL VACANT LAND

The residential vacant land rate is to promote housing development objectives for the municipality 
including the development of vacant land in residential zoned areas.

Objective:
To provide an economic incentive for the development of residential vacant land and a disincentive 
for residential land-banking in order that all rateable land makes an equitable contribution to the 
cost of carrying out the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure.
2. Development and provision of health and community services.
3. Provision of general support services.
4. Requirement to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, 

statutory, and service provision obligations.

Types and classes:
Any land which is vacant residential land.

Use and level of differential rate: 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
Not applicable.
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SCHEDULE E

FARM LAND

The main objectives of having a farm rate are:
• To promote and support the use of sound agricultural practices.
• To conserve and protect areas which are suited to certain agricultural pursuits.
• To encourage proper land use consistent with genuine farming activities.

Objective:
To provide a financial subsidy to rateable farm land to ensure that all rateable land makes an 
equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure.
2. Development and provision of health and community services.
3. Provision of general support services.
4. Requirement to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, 

statutory, and service provision obligations.

Types and classes:
Any land which is primarily used for the purposes of farming.

Use and level of differential rate:
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
Not applicable.
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The officer recommendation was an amendment to the declaration of rates and charges and 
the Fees and Charges schedule in the 2024-25 Budget.  The recommendation is to remove 
the charge (cost) relating to the replacement of a damaged 360 litre bin.  Due to the minor 
requests and future phasing out of this bin it is recommended to remove the additional 
charge which has an immaterial impact on the budget.

MINUTE No.1094
Moved by: Cr Angela Long
Seconded by: Cr Rhonda Garad

That Council:

1 Adopts the 2024-25 Budget in accordance with Section 94 of the Local Government 
Act 2020.

2 Makes a ‘Declaration of rates and charges’ for the 2024-25 financial year in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1989 as follows:

2.1 Amount intended to be raised.

An amount of $173,555,824 (or such other amount as is lawfully raised as a 
consequence of this Resolution) be declared as the amount which Council 
intends to raise by general rates and the annual service charge (described later 
in this Resolution), which amount is calculated as follows:

General rates $146,306,904 (excludes supplementary rates)

Annual service charges $27,248,920

2.2 General rates

A general rate be declared in respect of the 2024-25 financial year.  It be further 
declared that the general rate be raised by the application of differential rates.

2.3 Differential rates

A differential rate be respectively declared for rateable land having the 
respective characteristics specified below, which characteristics will form the 
criteria for each differential rate so declared:

2.3.1 Residential (refer to Schedule A)

Any land which does not have the characteristics of Commercial, 
Industrial, Residential Vacant or Farm Land.

2.3.2 Commercial Land (refer to Schedule B)

Any land which is primarily used for commercial purposes.

2.3.3 Industrial Land (refer to Schedule C)

Any land which is primarily used for industrial purposes.

2.3.4 Residential Vacant Land (refer to Schedule D)
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Any land which is vacant residential land.

2.3.5 Farm Land (refer to Schedule E)

Any land which is primarily used for the purposes of farming.

2.4 Each differential rate will be determined by multiplying the Capital Improved 
Value of each rateable land (categorised by the characteristics described in 
paragraph 2.3 of this Resolution) by the relevant percentages indicated in the 
following table:

Category Cents in the dollar ($)

Commercial 0.0025477491 (of Capital Improved Value)

Industrial 0.0032425898 (of Capital Improved Value)

Residential vacant 0.0023161355 (of Capital Improved Value)

Farm land 0.0011580678 (of Capital Improved Value)

Residential (general) 0.0015440904 (of Capital Improved Value)

2.5 It be recorded that Council considers that each differential rate will contribute to 
the equitable and efficient carrying out of Council functions, and that:

2.5.1 the respective objectives of each differential rate be those specified in the 
Schedule to this Resolution,

2.5.2 the respective types or classes of land which are subject to each 
differential rate be those defined in the Schedule to this Resolution,

2.5.3 the respective uses and levels of each differential rate in relation to those 
respective types or classes of land be those described in the Schedule to 
this Resolution, and

2.5.4 the relevant:
a) uses of,

b) geographical locations of, and

c) planning scheme zonings of, and

d) types of buildings on
the respective types or classes of land be those identified in the Schedule 
to this Resolution.

2.6 Municipal charges

No municipal charge to be declared in respect of the 2024-25 financial year.

2.7 Annual service charges

An annual service charge be declared in respect of the 2024-25 financial year for 
the collection and disposal of refuse.
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The annual service charge be in the sum of, and be based on the criteria 
specified below:

Option A: 120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 240 litre garden bin $420.00

Option B: 80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 240 litre garden bin $382.00

Option C: 120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 120 litre garden bin $399.00

Option D: 80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 120 litre garden bin $361.00

Option E: 120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, no garden bin $339.00

Option F: 80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, no garden bin $304.00

Minimum waste charge for each residential property. $304.00

State Government landfill levy per service for each land that 
utilises domestic waste bin for the collection of landfill levies 
associated with the disposal of refuse.

$85.00

Additional bin services:

Bin option change of selection charge $21.00

120 litre waste bin service $218.00

- Plus a “one off” fee for the purchase of the bin $43.50

- Plus service for the collection of landfill levies associated with 
the disposal of refuse

$85.00

240 litre recycling bin service $55.00

- Plus a “one off” fee for the purchase of the bin $52.00

240 litre garden bin service $115.00

- Plus a “one off” fee for the purchase of the bin $52.00

Bin delivery $22.00

Recycling bin option – upgrade of 240 litre to 360 litre $115.00

3 Rebates and Concessions

Council has entered into agreements with the Ministry of Housing to assess 50% of 
the general rate for certain purpose-built units for older persons.

Council also provides concessions of 10% and 40% of the relevant rate for qualifying 
properties under the Cultural and Recreational Lands Act.

4 Incentives

No incentive be declared for early payment of the general rates and annual service 
charge previously declared.
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5 Consequential

5.1 It be recorded that Council requires any person to pay interest on any amount of 
rates and charges to which:
a) That person is liable to pay, and
b) Have not been paid by the date specified for their payment.

5.2 The Chief Executive Officer be authorised to levy and recover the general rates 
and annual service charge in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 
and subject to section 181H(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1989.

6 Payment method

In accordance with Section 167 Local Government Act 1989, Council declares that 
Council rates will be payable by four (4) quarterly instalments on or before the 
following dates:

Instalment 1 - 30 September 2024

Instalment 2 - 30 November 2024

Instalment 3 - 28 February 2025

Instalment 4 - 31 May 2025.

Where the payment due date falls on a weekend or public holiday, the payment date 
will be the next business day.

or

Council offers a variety of flexible payment options available to residents who register 
online at pay.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au.  

Payments can be spread across the financial year until 31 May, and can be direct 
debited weekly, fortnightly, monthly, or quarterly from your bank account, debit or 
credit card.  Once registered payment details can be changed and updated anytime 
and set SMS reminders to stay on track with payments.

or 

Residents can also pay in full online at Council’s website (mygreaterdandenong.com)

7 In respect of ‘Fees and Charges’:

Fixes the penalties for parking infringements in contravention of the Regulations 
made under the Road Safety Act 1986 as specified in the Fees and Charges (Section 6, 
page 27) of the 2024-25 Budget, which will continue as the penalties so fixed until 
Council resolves otherwise.
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8 In respect of South East Leisure Pty Ltd (SEL):

Council delegates authority to the Chief Executive Officer to make payments to SEL 
for the provision of Management Services in the 2024-25 financial year, as specified in 
the Management Services Agreement dated 13 September 2021 (Clauses 5.2 and 5.3) 
and SEL’s Annual Budget 2024-25.
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SCHEDULE A

GENERAL (Residential)

Objective:
To ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out 
the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure.
2. Development and provision of health and community services.
3. Provision of general support services.
4. Requirement to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake it’s strategic, 

statutory, and service provision obligations.

Types and classes:
Any land which does not have the characteristics of Commercial, Industrial, Residential Vacant or 
Farm Land.

Use and level of differential rate:
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council. The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
All buildings which are now constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the 
financial year.
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SCHEDULE B

COMMERCIAL LAND

The Commercial rate is to promote economic development objectives for the City including the 
retail development of the Dandenong, Springvale and Noble Park Activity Centre’s and the ongoing 
development of strip shopping centres.

Objective:
To ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out 
the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure related to the commercial sector.

2. Enhancement of the economic viability of the commercial sector through targeted programs 
and projects.

3. Encouragement of employment opportunities.

4. Promotion of economic development.

5. Requirement to ensure that streetscaping and promotional activity is complementary to the 
achievement of commercial objectives.

Types and classes:
Any land which is primarily used for commercial purposes.

Use and level of differential rate: 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
All buildings which are now constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the 
financial year.
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SCHEDULE C

INDUSTRIAL LAND

The Industrial rate is to promote economic development objectives for the municipality including 
industrial development in appropriately zoned areas.

Objective:
To ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out 
the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure related to the industrial sector.

2. Enhancement of the economic viability of the industrial sector through targeted programs 
and projects.

3. Encouragement of employment opportunities.

4. Promotion of economic development.

5. Requirement to ensure that street scaping and promotional activity is complementary to the 
achievement of industrial objectives.

Types and classes:
Any land which is used primarily for industrial purposes.

Use and level of differential rate: 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
All buildings which are now constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the 
financial year.
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SCHEDULE D

RESIDENTIAL VACANT LAND

The residential vacant land rate is to promote housing development objectives for the municipality 
including the development of vacant land in residential zoned areas.

Objective:
To provide an economic incentive for the development of residential vacant land and a disincentive 
for residential land-banking in order that all rateable land makes an equitable contribution to the 
cost of carrying out the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure.
2. Development and provision of health and community services.
3. Provision of general support services.
4. Requirement to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, 

statutory, and service provision obligations.

Types and classes:
Any land which is vacant residential land.

Use and level of differential rate: 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
Not applicable.
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SCHEDULE E

FARM LAND

The main objectives of having a farm rate are:
• To promote and support the use of sound agricultural practices.
• To conserve and protect areas which are suited to certain agricultural pursuits.
• To encourage proper land use consistent with genuine farming activities.

Objective:
To provide a financial subsidy to rateable farm land to ensure that all rateable land makes an 
equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out the functions of Council, including the:

1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure.
2. Development and provision of health and community services.
3. Provision of general support services.
4. Requirement to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, 

statutory, and service provision obligations.

Types and classes:
Any land which is primarily used for the purposes of farming.

Use and level of differential rate:
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the 
Budget adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above.

Geographic location:
Wherever located within the municipal district.

Use of land:
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme.

Planning scheme zoning:
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting 
maps referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme.

Types of buildings:
Not applicable.
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Mayor and CEO’s Introduction 
 
It’s a pleasure to present the 2024-25 Budget to the Greater Dandenong City community for 
comment.  The Budget forms an integral part of Council’s integrated strategic planning and reporting 
framework aligning with Greater Dandenong’s Council Plan 2021-25 and Community Vision. 
 
The Budget 2024-25 confirms Council’s commitment to maintaining and improving services and 
infrastructure, while delivering important capital projects of community value.  This is a responsible 
balanced budget set against a backdrop of economic volatility.  Council is working hard as it 
navigates a complex landscape to prioritise service sustainability amidst the urgent need to renew 
existing and ageing infrastructure and at the same time invest in new community infrastructure.   
 
Financial stability and sustainability are one of the highest and most pressing priorities and 
challenges facing the City of Greater Dandenong Council.  Dual pressures of escalating costs and 
the constraints of rate capping coupled with rises in service demand, Council confronts a pivotal 
juncture where financial sustainability intersects with the priority of sustaining essential services.   
 
For Council finances to remain sustainable and our services to remain affordable for the community, 
Council will need to continually assess the performance and future for current services to 
understand whether they are relevant and whether Council needs to continue to deliver them or 
whetherfinancia there is a role for an alternative delivery model.  As such we recognise Council’s 
proposed financial direction for future years may require changes.  
 
Council is committed to improving the liveability of the municipality for our residents and protecting 
and enhancing vital services in the City of Greater Dandenong. Our capital program continues to 
move forward, with a noteworthy investment in community facilities and infrastructure of $93 million 
in 2024-25.  Council has also committed to undertaking significant strategic investment over the 
coming four years including: 
 

 Construction of the Keysborough South Community Hub (total cost $29.5 million currently 
underway). 

 Dandenong Wellbeing Centre (total estimated cost $98.4 million). 
 Dandenong Community Hub (total estimated cost $30 million, currently in design and 

documentation phase). 
 
To achieve this level of capital works investment in 2024-25, Council has sought several funding 
sources other than rates, including borrowings, grant funding, contribution income and transfers 
from internal reserves.   
 
In addition, the 2024-25 Budget funds over $27 million in a variety of renewal programs and projects 
including roads, drainage, footpaths, buildings, CCTV, library resources and fleet.  Also included is 
continued investment in active reserves, passive open space, signage and lighting to improve the 
safety and amenity of our city’s natural environment.   
 
Continuing with the environmental theme, Council is again progressing the “Greening Our City” tree 
planting program to increase the green cover in our municipality at a faster rate than originally 
planned adding $286,000 to the 2024-25 operating expenditure budget.  An additional $30,000 will 
also be spent on a Gas Transition Feasibility for Noble Park Aquatic Centre. 
 
The 2024-25 Budget has been prepared on the following assumptions: 
 

 Council rates are capped to 2.75 per cent as per the rate capping legislation (no variation to 
the rate cap has been sought). 
 

 Waste charges have been determined on a full cost recovery basis.  The default residential 
waste charge (including State Government landfill levy) will increase by $14.00 (or 2.85 per 
cent) from $491 to $505.  This increase is due primarily to a confirmed increase in the State 
Government landfill levy combined with inflationary impacts on contract costs for domestic 
waste and recycling.  The landfill levy per household will increase from $79 to $85 in 2024-
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25.  New State Government Guidelines were introduced which detail what can be included in 
the waste charge.  Council is working on implementing the guidelines over the coming years. 
It will have a significant adverse impact. 

 
 Council’s total capital expenditure in 2024-25 is $93.47 million with $39.22 million being 

funded from Council rate revenue.  This represents a 1.9 per cent decrease in capital 
expenditure funded from rates from the 2023-24 Original Budget, mostly caused several 
operating initiative projects.   

 
 In 2024-25, Council will draw down $21.92 million in borrowings (to part fund the Keysborough 

South Community Hub and Dandenong Wellbeing Centre major projects) and repay $3.96 
million of existing borrowings.  $5.12 million of these borrowings are not new as they have 
been deferred due to delays in the Keysborough South Community Hub project. 
 

 Renewal and upgrade investment in 2024-25 totals $36.83 million which is greater than 
depreciation and amortisation.  This is a positive outcome which means Council is renewing 
assets faster than they are deteriorating. 

 
 Council continues to record an underlying operational surplus in terms of the accounting result 

in 2024-25 and future years. 
 
New facilities such as the Keysborough South Community Hub ($1.8-2.3 million annual estimate) 
and Dandenong Community Hub ($1.3-1.6 million annual estimate) will add considerable costs to 
Council’s operational budgets.  Council’s forward capital investment decisions and their 
consequential operational and infrastructure servicing expenditure (whole of life costing) will 
necessitate a shift in strategic thinking in the medium to long term.  
 
Highlights of the budget include: 
 
 $35 million Dandenong Wellbeing Centre (DWC) construction (partly funded by 

borrowings $16.8 million, reserve transfers $8.77 million and grant funding 
$7.11 million). 

 $19.74 million Keysborough South Community Hub construction (partly funded by 
borrowings of $5.12 million and reserve transfers of $6.44 million). 

 $12.81 million Road Resurfacing Program, Road Rehabilitation Program and Road 
Reconstruction Program (partly funded by grant funding $684,000). 

 $4.99 million Perry Road construction and widening from Greens Road to Pacific Drive 
(Stage 2 of 3) – DCP (partly funded by reserves $2.82 million and DCP 
contributions $1.45 million). 

 $2.14 million Building Renewal Program (including South East Leisure). 

 $2.10 million CCTV Safe Cities Renewal Program. 

 $1.6 million Drainage Renewal Program and Drainage Reactive Program. 

 $950,195 Parkfield Reserve - Tennis Courts Redevelopment - Northern Courts 
Construction 

 $790,000 Irrigation and/or Drainage Renewal Works Program. 

 $757,217 Footpath Renewal Program. 

 $584,200 Greaves Reserve - Oval 4 Lighting Installation Construction 

 
Complimenting the above, are nine operating initiatives totalling $686,000 which have also been 
included in the 2024-25 Budget (refer section 4.7 for details).  Highlights include the tree planting 
program $286,000, Springvale Revitalisation Action Plan $100,000 and the Urban Forest Strategy 
Implementation- landscape improvements $80,000.   
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Property Revaluations and the Rate Rise 
 
Average rates in 2024-25 will increase by 2.75 per cent, in line with the rate cap set by the Victorian 
Government under rate capping legislation.   
 
Valuation figures used in this 2024-25 budget report are final certified valuations provided by the 
Valuer General’s office.   
 
Since the introduction of rate capping it is important for residents to understand that the rate cap is 
applied to the total rates that Council can raise and not to individual properties.  A resident’s rate 
bill may vary by more or less than the rate cap due to the relative property valuation, the type of 
property classification (residential, commercial, industrial, etc) and other charges not subject to the 
rate cap (for example, the waste charge).  This means that ratepayers will experience changes to 
their rates that vary from the standard increase of 2.75 per cent (both higher and lower).  In practice, 
the total Council rates collected will increase by 2.75 per cent while individual property movements 
may vary greatly. 
 
Section 4.1.1(q) of this budget document explains the impact of the 2024 revaluation including the 
reasoning behind the differential rating structure included in the 2024-25 Budget. 
 
Overall, the increase in general rates and waste charges for the median residential valued property 
is 2.32 per cent.  The total annual impact is $34.80 or 67 cents per week. 
 

 
 

* Includes State Government landfill levy of $85 in 2024-25 ($79 in 2023-24). 
 
Reshaping Greater Dandenong  
 
As the local government landscape evolves, we must change to meet current and future 
challenges.  In late 2023 Council’s organisational structure underwent a transformation to position 
Council as an agile and innovative organisation. These changes will help support our financial and 
service sustainability. 
 
Community Safety 
 

The 2024-25 Budget includes a refreshed Community Safety function that will focus on developing 
a comprehensive community safety action plan that aligns with Council's strategic priorities. This 
function marks a significant step forward in our commitment to ensure a connected, safe and healthy 
city.  In addition, Council will invest $2.1 million in 2024-25 to renew CCTV assets. 
 
In summary, the Budget has been prepared for the four-year period ending 30 June 2028.  The 
Budget is one that strikes a good balance between ensuring Council continues to provide 
operational services and support to the community and a capital spending program to provide much 
needed local infrastructure.  Council’s financial position remains sound for 2024-25 but will continue 
to be tested by the compounding effect of rate capping and economic conditions.  Council will either 
have to make significant changes to its operational services or accept that timelines for new 
projects will face longer term delays to be affordable for Council. 
 
 
Lana Formoso, Mayor Jacqui Weatherill, Chief Executive Officer 

  

Forecast Budget % $

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

Median residential valuation in Greater Dandenong 647,650$    665,000$    

Residential rate in the dollar 0.0015533 0.0015441

General rates 1,006.02$   1,026.82$   2.07% 20.80$       

Waste charge (including State Government landfill levy) * 491.00$      505.00$      2.85% 14.00$       

Total rates and charges median residential property 1,497.02$   1,531.82$   2.32% 34.80$       

Residential rate in the dollar
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Budget process 
 
Council Plan outcomes  
 
The Budget is a rolling four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that 
Council requires to achieve the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan.   
 
Basis of budget preparation  
 
This section lists the budget processes to be undertaken in order to adopt the Budget in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2020 (the Regulations). 
 
Under the Act, Council is required to prepare and adopt a Budget for each financial year and the 
subsequent three financial years (section 94(1) of the Act).  
 
The 2024-25 Budget, which is included in this report, is for the year 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025, 
as well as the subsequent three financial years and is prepared in accordance with the Act and 
Regulations.  The budget includes financial statements being a Comprehensive Income Statement, 
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and Statement of Capital 
Works.  These statements have been prepared for the year ending 30 June 2025 in accordance 
with the Act and Regulations and are consistent with the annual financial statements which are 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.  The budget is required to include 
certain information about the rates and charges that Council intends to levy as well as a range of 
other information required by the Regulations which support the Act, such as the capital works 
program to be undertaken, the human resources required, and other financial information Council 
requires in order to make an informed decision about the adoption of the budget. 
 
In advance of preparing the budget, officers firstly review and update Council's long-term financial 
plan projections. Financial projections for ten years are included in Council's Long Term Financial 
Plan (LTFP), which is the key medium to long-term financial plan produced by Council on a rolling 
basis.  The preparation of the budget, within this broader context, begins with officers preparing the 
operating and capital components of the Budget during January and February.  A draft budget is 
then prepared and is considered by Council at an informal briefing during April.   
 
A ‘proposed’ budget is prepared in accordance with the Act and submitted to Council in May for 
approval ‘in principle’. Whilst not required under the Act, Council publicly exhibits its proposed 
budget for a period of four weeks in accordance with Council’s Community Engagement policy.  
Council then receives, hears and considers any community feedback on any information contained 
in the budget before adoption of the budget by Council. The budget is required to be adopted by 30 
June.   
 
The budget includes consideration of several long-term strategies to assist Council in considering 
the budget in a proper financial management context. 
 
Key dates for the Budget process: 
 
Budget process Timing 

Budget submitted to Council for approval “in principle” 13 May 

Budget available for public exhibition (community engagement period) 15 May – 12 June 

Community Feedback session 17 June 

Budget presented to Council for adoption 24 June 
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Budget influences 
 
This section sets out the key budget influences arising from the internal and external environment 
within which Council operates. 
 

External influences 
 
The four years represented within the Budget are 2024-25 to 2027-28.  In preparing the 2024-25 
Budget, several external influences have been taken into consideration.  These are outlined below: 
 
Location 
 
Greater Dandenong encompasses an area of 129 square kilometres in Melbourne’s south-east, 
approximately 35 kilometres from the central business district.  It is bounded by Police Road in the 
north, Dandenong Creek and South Gippsland Freeway to the east, Thompson Road in the south, 
and by Westall and Springvale Roads to the west.  
 
The suburbs of Greater Dandenong are Dandenong, Dandenong South, Bangholme, Springvale, 
Springvale South, Noble Park, Noble Park North and Keysborough.  Neighbouring councils include 
Casey, Knox, Monash, Kingston and Frankston. 
 
Greater Dandenong maintains over 35 sports reserves, 188 kilometres of bike and shared paths, 
1,100 kilometres of footpaths, 152 playgrounds, 197 parks and 33 bushland areas. 
 
Population 
 
Greater Dandenong has a population of approximately 164,000 in 2024.  This is forecast to increase 
to an estimated total of 185,000 over the next decade, largely as a result of residential developments 
in Keysborough, central Dandenong and dispersed construction across the city.  
 
Nearly two thirds of the residents of Greater Dandenong were born overseas, making this the most 
culturally diverse municipality in Victoria, with residents from over 154 different birthplaces. 
 
Reflecting its cultural diversity Greater Dandenong also has a wide diversity of spoken languages 
including Vietnamese, Khmer, Punjabi, Mandarin, Cantonese, Greek and Sinhalese.  860 asylum 
seekers live in Greater Dandenong and 6,900 immigrants settled in the municipality in 2020-21. 
 
Housing 
 
Rising housing costs and interest rates, combined with low incomes among many Greater 
Dandenong residents have caused increasing financial hardship for many local families with one in 
five renting households at risk of housing related financial stress or homelessness.  The cost of 
purchasing a home in this city has risen much faster than income levels.  62 per cent of residents 
own or are purchasing their homes and 36 per cent of residents rent their accommodation.  2,400 
people are homeless or living in severely overcrowded dwellings. 
 
Employment within Greater Dandenong 
 
Greater Dandenong provides 23,000 jobs in manufacturing for the region with health care and social 
assistance the next largest industry with over 11,000 jobs.  113,000 people work within CGD, who 
are mostly people living outside of the municipality. 
 
Health and Wellbeing  
 
13 per cent of residents ran out of food and could not afford more at some point in the year, and 
many did not meet dietary guidelines for either fruit or vegetable consumption. 
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Rate cap, supplementary rates, and property valuations 
 
The Victorian State Government cap on the average property rate increase for 2024-25 has been 
set at 2.75 per cent (2023-24 3.50 per cent).   
 
The Valuer General of Victoria now conducts annual rateable property general valuations.   
 
Supplementary rates are additional rates received after the budget is adopted each year, for the 
part of the year when a property valuation increases in value (for example due to improvements 
made or change in land class), or new residents become assessable.  Importantly, supplementary 
rates recognise that new residents require services on the day they move into Greater Dandenong 
and Council is committed to providing these.   
 
Supplementary rates income is based on historical and forecast data and is set at anticipated levels.  
Historically, Greater Dandenong has experienced a trend of high supplementary rate growth (over 
$2 million), however, in recent years (as shown in the graph below), this trend has declined.  The 
current financial year has seen a decrease in supplementary rates due to economic impacts like 
increased interest rates which have dampened development activity.   

 
 
 
Defined Benefits Superannuation 
 
Council has an ongoing obligation to fund any investment shortfalls in the Defined Benefits Scheme 
– the Local Authorities Superannuation Fund Defined Benefit Plan (LASF DB).  The last call on 
Local Government was in the 2012-13 financial year where Council was required to pay $10.57 
million to top up its share of the Defined Benefits Scheme.   
 
The amount and timing of any liability is dependent on the global investment market.  Equity markets 
have rebounded; however, market volatility remains.  The Vested Benefit Index (VBI) at 31 March 
2024 for the sub-plan was 106.3 per cent which satisfies superannuation prudential standards and 
is above the fund’s nominated shortfall threshold (currently 97 per cent).  Vision Super will continue 
to monitor the plan’s financial position.  At present the actuarial ratios are at a level that additional 
calls from Local Government are not expected in the next 12 months. 

ATT 4.1.1.1 Adopted Budget 2024-25

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 152 of 576



City of Greater Dandenong 

 

Budget 2024-25  Page 7 
 

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 G

R
E

A
T

E
R

 D
A

N
D

E
N

O
N

G
 2

02
4-

25
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 

 
Financial Assistance Grants 
 
The largest source of government funding to Council is through the annual Victoria Local 
Government Grants Commission (VLGGC) allocation.  The overall state allocation is determined by 
the Federal Financial Assistance grant.  Council’s Financial Assistance grant allocation for the 2023-
24 financial year increased from the prior year (by 5.93 per cent), which is the largest increase 
Council has seen in the last 10 years and mainly relates to an underpayment of the 2022-23 
allocation.  The average increase for the last five financial years is 1.84 per cent which has not 
matched the increased trend in operating expenditure.  The graph below demonstrates this disparity 
- VLGGC funding has been fairly constant (red line) compared to rising operating expenditure 
(purple line).    
 
The 2024-25 forecast is set at a conservative economic outlook assuming a 1 per cent indexation 
on the 2023-24 funding allocation amount.  At the time of writing this report, Council received 
indicative grant allocation advice for 2024-25 which is forecast to be favourable against the 
projections in this budget report.  The allocation is indicative and not yet confirmed (will be adjusted 
in the Mid-Year Budget). 
 

 
 
Capital Grants 
 
Council has been successful in obtaining several non-recurrent capital grants in 2023-24, such as 
the $20 million Federal Government grant funding from the Priority Community Infrastructure Grant 
Program for Dandenong Wellbeing Centre.  This grant is expected to be recognised over the next 
three years.  In addition, another $1.02 million in funding is expected in relation to the Local Roads 
and Community Infrastructure (LRCI) program – Phase 4. 
 
For several years, Greater Dandenong has also benefited from millions of dollars in Federal 
Government Roads to Recovery (R2R) funding to improve road safety and undertake local road 
upgrades.  At the time of writing this report, Council received advice that it will receive $8.96 
million for the five-year funding period 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2029.  This has not yet been 
reflected in Council’s 2024-25 Budget or Long-Term Financial Plan 2025-2034 as the annual 
allocations over the five year period are currently being determined. 
  

0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000

300000

Grant & Rates Income vs Operating Expenditure Trends

Rates

Grants ‐ operating (adjusted for VGC early distributions)

VGC funding allocation

Operating expenditure (excluding depreciation & amortisation)

ATT 4.1.1.1 Adopted Budget 2024-25

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 153 of 576



City of Greater Dandenong 

 

Budget 2024-25  Page 8 
 

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 G

R
E

A
T

E
R

 D
A

N
D

E
N

O
N

G
 2

02
4-

25
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 

Consumer Price Index 
 
The Melbourne All Groups (CPI) increased on goods and services by 3.8 per cent through the year 
to the December quarter 2023 and 3.6 per cent to the March quarter (ABS).   
 
The Minister for Local Government forecasts CPI to be 2.75 per cent for the 2024-25 year, setting 
the rate cap at this amount based on advice received from the Essential Services Commission. 
 
Cost Shifting 
 
A continuation of cost shifting where Federal and State government grants do not increase by the 
same percentage as Council’s cost of providing these services. 
 
Development Contributions 
 
The rate of growth and flow of development contributions income depends on land sales and the 
desire of developers to construct new developments within the municipality.  Changes in this impact 
on the level of non-monetary contributions received by Council. 
 
An increase in maintenance costs of parks and gardens occurs due to continued trend of receiving 
gifted open space assets from developers. 
 
Waste, Recycling and Landfill Levy 
 
The 2024-25 Waste Charges have been determined based on a full cost recovery reconciliation.   
 
Recently the State Government released the Minister’s Good Practice Guidelines for service rates 
and charges which are effective from 1 March 2024.  The Ministerial Good Practice Guidelines have 
not been applied in the 2024-25 Budget or the 2025-2034 Long Term Financial Plan, however, 
Council will demonstrate a pathway for compliance in future budgets.  This change in practice will 
have a significant adverse financial impact. 
 
The Environment Protection Agency (EPA) regulation also has a sustained impact on Council with 
regards to compliance with existing and past landfill sites.  Waste disposal costs are also impacted 
by industry changes such as increasing EPA landfill levies and negotiation of contracts, for example, 
recycling sorting and acceptance. 
 
The State Government Landfill Levy is increasing from $129.27 in 2023-24 to $132.76 in 2024-25.  
This 2.70 per cent increase in landfill levy results in additional costs to Council which are recovered 
via Council’s waste service charge.  At the time of writing this report, recent advice is that the landfill 
levy will increase to $167.9 a tonne from 1 July 2025.  This has not yet been reflected in the second 
year of the 2024-25 Budget or Long Term Financial Plan 2025-2034.      
 
The waste service charge for 2024-25, incorporating kerbside collection and recycling, will increase 
by an average 2.85 per cent or $14.00 (default waste charge).  This increase is mainly due to the 
impact the increase in the State Government landfill levy and inflationary impacts on contract costs.   
 
Fire Services Property Levy (FSPL) 
 
The FSPL will continue to be collected by Council on behalf of the State Government in accordance 
with the Fire Services Property Levy Act 2012.    
 
Council received advice during the 2023-24 year regarding the continuation of financial support 
arrangements for 2023-24 through to 2025-26 financial years for administration support (indexed 
annually by CPI).  
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Legislative Requirements - Gender Equality 
 
The Gender Equality Act 2020 came into operation on 31 March 2021 and requires councils to take 
positive action towards achieving workplace gender equality and to promote gender equality in their 
policies, programs and services. 
 
The Gender Equality Act 2020 requires that Council completes Gender Impact Assessments on all 
new policies, programs and services that directly and significantly impact the public. 
 
The 2024-25 Budget and Ten-Year Long-Term Financial Plan undoubtedly have an impact on the 
broader community given that they allocate financial resources to the delivery of programs and 
services and for the provision of community infrastructure.  
 
Conducting a Gender Impact Assessment (GIA) on these documents is, however, not an easy 
exercise given that both largely present aggregated financial information that does not readily lend 
itself to a GIA process.   
 
The most practical application of a GIA process to the Budget and Long-Term Financial Plan is to 
assess how the key components are developed prior to becoming aggregated data in the final 
documents.  The following assessments are made in respect of these key areas: 
 
Operational Services 
 
The most significant amount of funds allocated in the 2024-25 Budget and Long-Term Financial 
Plan relates to the ongoing cost of providing operational services to the community.  Council’s 
operational expenditure (excluding depreciation and amortisation) in the 2024-25 Budget amounts 
to $199.39 million. 
 
The preparation of the budgets for these services commences in November of the year prior and is 
largely concluded in draft format by the end of February immediately prior to the new financial year 
commencing on 1 July.  
 
The preparation included the development and finalisation of departmental business plans that 
include assessments of risk and new initiatives.  It is proposed that for all future Budget processes 
that the inclusion of a GIA process/lens is built into this stage for all services which would ensure 
the aggregation of all operating budgets embraces a ‘gender lens’.  A gender lens will, where 
practical, also include an intersectional approach to consider how gender inequality can be 
compounded by disadvantage or discrimination that a person may experience on the basis of other 
factors such as age, disability or ethnicity.  
 
Fees and Charges 
 
Whilst the most significant revenue amounts in Council’s Budget and Long-Term Financial Plan 
arises from Rates and Charges and Government Grants, Council has little control over either of 
these processes.  Rates are essentially a property tax based on a high degree of legislative 
guidance and grants are determined by the State and Federal Governments.  
 
Fees and Charges represent our third highest level of revenue and is the area that Council has the 
most discretion over.  For the Fees and Charges set by Council, Service Unit Managers and Leaders 
were prompted to reflect on gender equality considerations when reviewing the annual increase in 
Council-set Fees and Charges. 
 
For future periods, Council will amend its Revenue and Rating Plan which includes a Pricing Policy 
guideline for the setting of fees and charges to include the requirement for fees to have a GIA 
completed for all major fee areas. 
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Capital Improvement Program 
 
The second biggest expenditure component of Councils Budgets and Long-Term Financial Plans 
relates to allocation of funds to Capital Improvement Program (CIP). 
 
The preparation of the CIP program goes through multiple stages prior to being included in the final 
documents.  These include: 
 
• Preparation of bids for projects 
• Internal review and assessment of bids 
• Recommended prioritisation by Council Executive 
• Final Council consideration and development of final CIP plan 
• Delivery of the projects 
 
Rather than conducting a GIA on the Budget document, Council is currently developing criteria for 
identification of projects requiring a GIA as part of the business case bid process, ie - for all projects 
that have a significant impact on the public.  This would likely include bids such as road and footpath 
infrastructure as well as new community facilities. 
 
In the initial assessment of CIP bids, it is also proposed that an additional weighting criterion be 
included on gender impact.  Gender impact will, where practical, also include an intersectional 
approach. 
 
And finally, for major capital projects, it is proposed that prior to the delivery of these projects a 
further gender lens be applied.  This may include a review of concept/detailed designs to ensure it 
appropriately addresses gender issues. 
 

 
Internal influences 
 
In addition to the external factors noted, there are several internal factors which also impact on the 
setting of the 2024-25 Council Budget.   
 
Organisational Structure Changes 
 
After a comprehensive consultative process, Council’s organisational structure underwent a 
restructure to effectively address current and future challenges.  This transformation was effective 
30 October 2023 and positions Council as an agile and innovative organisation ready to meet the 
demands of the future.  The directorates were streamlined as per below:   
 

Former Directorates Revised Directorates 

 CEO  CEO Services (including Digital 
Technology and Strategic Growth and 
Advocacy) 

 City Planning, Design and Amenity 

 City Futures  Business, Engineering and Major 
Projects (including Greater Dandenong 
Business) 

 Community Strengthening  Community Strengthening 

 Corporate Services  Corporate Development 

 
A number of functions were also moved between departments to better reflect the changing 
landscape local government operates in. 
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Enterprise Agreement (EA) 
 
Employee costs represent the largest component of Council’s expenditure. 
 
Enterprise Agreement 2022 was approved by the Fair Work Commission and took effect 1 July 
2022.  This agreement provides for a 2.75 per cent tied to the rate cap in 2024-25.   
 
It also needs to be kept in mind the EA is not the only source of increased wage costs, with annual 
employee movements along the banding structures equating to a 0.5-0.7 per cent increase per 
annum and Council now paying an additional 0.5 per cent per annum in superannuation increases. 
 
Council is heavily reliant on rate revenue for income growth with on average 72 per cent of its 
income from this source (excluding non-monetary asset contributions).  In terms of Council’s net 
operating surplus outcome, there is a strong connection between the percentage increase in Council 
rates to the percentage increase in employee costs on an annual basis. 
 
 
Ongoing operational costs of capital works/asset construction 
 
Upon completion of the Keysborough South Community Hub, Council will take on the ongoing 
operational costs of the newly developed Hub which will add $1.8-2.3 million per annum in net costs 
to the Budget increasing annually over the Long-Term Financial Plan (estimates only).  Council’s 
forward capital investment decisions and their consequential operational and infrastructure 
servicing expenditure (whole of life costing) will necessitate a shift in strategic thinking in the medium 
to long term (for example the Dandenong Community Hub) which will also add ongoing operational 
costs of an estimated $1.3-1.6 million per annum when completed). 
 
 
Service Plans and Strategies - Planning for meeting community needs 
 
Council’s broad approach in fulfilling its long-term obligations to facilitate acceptable services for 
the community is to plan and develop service strategies.  These strategies: 
 

 Describe the nature and extent of existing service and the infrastructure presently facilitating 
the delivery of service. 

 Identify plausible scenarios that could impact on service delivery. 
 Establish key issues/challenges. 
 Develop/review goals and objectives. 
 Formulate and assess alternative strategic and policy responses. 
 Evaluate and recommend preferred strategy and policy. 
 Formulate action plans and programs to implement preferred strategy including proposals for 

funding. 
 Feed into the Asset Management Plan for the infrastructure group(s) that facilitates service 

delivery. 
 
Strategy examples include: Arts, Culture and Heritage Strategy, Climate Emergency Strategy, 
Positive Ageing Strategy, Waste and Litter Strategy and IT and Digital Strategy.  Allocating budget 
provisions for the actions underpinning all approved strategies is a significant challenge for Council 
when setting its budget each year. 
 
 
Capital expenditure funding 
 
Whilst the four-year Budget is based on a decrease in capital works investment funded from 
Council’s operations of around $39.22 million in 2024-25 to $37.34 million in 2027-28, the reduction 
is due to the funding of debt servicing costs for two significant major projects - Dandenong Wellbeing 
Centre (replacement of Oasis) and Dandenong Community Hub.  
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Council proposes to draw down on $74.97 million in new borrowings over the next four years (2023-
24 to 2026-27) to partly fund three significant capital projects that together will cost Council over 
$153 million over the same period.  The capital works investment funded from Council’s operations 
has been reduced in forthcoming years to offset the debt servicing costs of these new borrowings 
and the operational costs associated with the new Keysborough and Dandenong Community Hub 
facilities.  The remaining project costs will be funded by Council cash and internal reserves. 
 
It should be noted that the actual amount of capital expenditure will vary significantly from year to 
year depending on capital grant revenue, loan funds and the use of Council reserves.  
 
 
Investing in infrastructure and meeting the asset renewal challenge 
 
The challenge to fund the appropriate replacement of existing assets (roads, drains, buildings, etc) 
is one that City of Greater Dandenong shares with many other municipalities.  In our case, the 
challenge is beginning to become urgent as much of our key infrastructure was built in the 1960’s 
and 1970’s and will soon reach the end of their useful lives. 
 
The 2024-25 Council Budget continues to address the asset renewal challenge.  The 2024-25 
Budget allocates a total of $36.8 million for renewal and upgrade of our assets. 
 
In order to achieve Council’s objectives of meeting the asset renewal challenge whilst at the same 
point delivering key new infrastructure, it is essential that Council strongly scrutinise its operational 
budgets annually and look to achieve efficiencies. 
 

 
 
Note: future years may be subject to reductions due to the impacts of rate capping legislation and final cost 
outcomes of the Dandenong Wellbeing Centre and Dandenong Community Hub.   
 
The above table highlights an increase on 2024-25 Original Budget levels combined with significant 
funding sources other than from rates which will fund an increased level of capital works 
expenditure.  The $93.47 million in capital works in 2024-25 will be funded by borrowings of $21.92 
million, internal reserve transfers of $18.03 million, capital grant funding of $8.63 million and DCP 
contribution income of $5.68 million.  This will allow Council to progress the Keysborough South 
Community Hub, Dandenong Wellbeing Centre (replacement of Dandenong Oasis) and fund 
significant renewal and upgrade program works in roads, drains, buildings, library resources and 
active reserves.   
 
Over the next two years, further loan proceeds totalling $52.05 million and internal reserve funding 
of $9.73 million will fund significant works associated with the Dandenong Wellbeing Centre 
(replacement of Dandenong Oasis) and construction of the new Dandenong Community Hub. 
 

  

Original
Budget Budget

Capital expenditure 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
funding sources $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Capital grants 5,316 8,625 8,169 4,724 -            

Capital contributions -              5,676 -              -              -            

Transfer from reserves 6,908 18,031 10,731 1,000 1,000

Loan proceeds 6,120 21,920 37,100 14,950 -            

Funded from operational surplus 39,987 39,222 37,278 38,274 37,343

Total capital works funding 58,331 93,474 93,278 58,948 38,343

Projections
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Economic Assumptions 
 

In terms of the direct parameters upon which the 2024-25 Budget and subsequent three financial 
years is based, the below table highlights the broad escalation percentages in respect of key areas.  
 

In a more global sense however, it is worthwhile detailing the approach to the modelling process as 
broad percentages have not been universally applied. Certain accounts were coded for manual 
adjustment (or zero increase) rather than broad percentage increases (for example, consultants, 
professional services, printing/stationery, and temporary staff). It is therefore not possible to simply 
multiply the previous year’s base by a percentage and achieve the same outcomes as presented. 
 

 
 

Notes: 
 

1. Consumer Price Index (CPI) is forecast to be 3.25 per cent for the 2024-25 year.  CPI in the 
following year is assumed to drop to 3.00 per cent in the years thereafter.  The Budget will 
continue to be reviewed on an annual basis to address any issues arising from changes to the 
underlying assumptions as the economy enters a very disruptive era of “inflationary 
expectations and uncertainty”. 

 

2. Rate Revenue Cap is 2.75 per cent for 2024-25 as directed by the Minister Local Government.  
The remaining years are forecast at 2.5 per cent.  In addition, it is expected that over the life of 
the plan, a further $800,000 per annum will be received for growth (additional properties) 
because of supplementary rates. 

 

3. Fees and charges - Council are set to increase by 3.25 per cent for the first year and 3 per 
cent for the following years.  Fees and charges increases are closely aligned to labour cost 
increases as most services provided by Council have a significant labour component.  Council 
has reviewed fees in detail to determine accepted pricing principles and set levels that fully 
recover the cost of providing the service unless the overriding policy is in favour of 
subsidisation.  In addition, considerations of community factors are required such as 
encouraging use of a service and ability to pay. Therefore, fees have been adjusted based on 
this methodology rather than a blanket increase.   

 

Budget Year 2 Year 3 Year 4

 2024-25  2025-26  2026-27  2027-28 

CPI forecast 1 3.25% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Rate revenue cap 2 2.75% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Fees and charges - Council 3 3.25% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Fees and fines - statutory 3 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Financial Assistance Grants 4 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Grants operating 4 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Grants capital 4

Contributions monetary 5

Contributions non monetary 5 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Employee costs (EA) 6 2.75% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Employee costs (incremental costs) 6 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50%

Materials and services (general) 7 3.25% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Electricity 7 10.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Gas 7 20.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Insurance 7 10.00% 10.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Depreciation and amortisation 8

Other expenses 9 3.25% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

 Description Notes

Projections

Based on committed funding

Based on committed funding

Based on level of expenditure
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Council will continue to seek opportunities to maximise revenue from fees and charges through 
a thorough review across the organisation to ensure that ‘Best Value’ principles including 
service cost and quality standards, value for money are balanced with the affordability and 
accessibility of these services.  

 

Fees and fines – Statutory represent fees set by legislation and are frequently not indexed 
on an annual basis.  An estimated increase of 2 per cent has been allowed for statutory fee 
income to account for an assumed increase in volume.  

 

4. Grants - Council currently receives grants for tied (specific purpose grants) and un-tied 
Financial Assistance grant funding received via the Victorian Local Government Grants 
Commission (VLGGC).  Operating grants have been budgeted with a conservative economic 
outlook at 2 per cent and VLGGC grants at 1 per cent.  This low increase in grant revenue is 
to manage cost-shifting that is likely to occur on an annual basis with grants seldom increasing 
at an equivalent rate to the cost of providing the subsidised services.  

 
Capital grants are based on agreed funding agreements and are not indexed by a standard 
parameter.  The most significant capital grant in 2024-25 relates to the major project 
Dandenong Wellbeing Centre (DWC) which has been identified to receive grant funding under 
the Priority Community Infrastructure Program (PCIP).  This program delivers the 
Government’s 2022 election commitments for community infrastructure commitments 
announced by the former Government during the 2022 Pre-Election Fiscal and Economic 
Outlook.  A $20 million assumption has been factored in over the financial years 2024-25 to 
2026-27.   

 

5. Contributions – (monetary) are not incremented and are based on committed funding.  Non-
monetary contributions are difficult to forecast and $7.5 million has been included in the 2024-
25 with no increment in following years. 
 

6. Employee costs – Increases in employee costs reflect the salary increase for all staff pursuant 
to Council’s Enterprise Agreement (EA).  Enterprise Agreement 2022 was approved by the Fair 
Work Commission and took effect from 1 July 2022.  This Budget and future years are based 
on increases being linked to the rate cap (a minimum of 2.25 per cent or the declared rate cap 
whichever is greater) and a further 0.50 per cent to account for banding increments.  Therefore, 
the 2024-25 pay increase is 2.75 per cent in line with the rate cap.   

 

Superannuation guarantee charge increases were announced as part of the 2014 Federal 
Budget.  The increase in the Superannuation Guarantee of 0.5 percent each year through to 
2025-26 has been factored into the employee cost increases (forecast 11.5 per cent in 2024-
25, growing to 12 per cent by 2025-26).   
 

The cost of provision of Council services is very heavily based on labour costs which account 
for approximately 51 per cent of total adjusted operational spending (excl depreciation and 
amortisation). 
 

7. Material and Services costs include items required for the maintenance and repairs of Council 
buildings, roads, drains and footpaths which are more governed by market forces based on 
availability than CPI.  Other associated costs included under this category are utilities, 
materials, and consumable items for a range of services. 
 

Council also utilises external expertise on a range of matters, including legal services, 
valuations and audit.  Council also has significant ongoing contracts for service delivery of 
waste management and parks/gardens and building maintenance.  All these contracts are 
negotiated at near CPI levels where possible.  General materials and services excluding noted 
utility costs are expected to increase by 3.25 per cent in line with CPI.  Outside of the broad 
parameters, there have been several manually assessed items in this area, including election 
expenses, insurance costs, animal pound and waste landfill levy costs.  Electricity and gas 
market expectations indicate continued high prices in 2024-25 reverting back to a stable 
increase of 5 per cent thereafter.  These costs will be closely monitored.  
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8. Depreciation and amortisation estimates have been based on the projected capital spending 
over the next ten years as well as projected depreciation of existing assets. 
 

9. Other expenses include administration costs such as Councillor allowances, election costs, 
sponsorships, partnerships, community grants, lease expenditure, fire services property levy, 
audit costs and other costs associated with the day to day running of Council. 
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1. Link to the Integrated Planning and Reporting 
Framework 

 

This section describes how the Budget links to the achievement of the Community Vision and 
Council Plan within an overall integrated planning and reporting framework.     
 
This framework guides the Council in identifying community needs and aspirations over the long 
term (Community Vision and Financial Plan), medium term (Council Plan, Workforce Plan, and 
Revenue and Rating Plan) and short term (Budget) and then holding itself accountable (Annual 
Report). 
 
 

1.1 Legislative Planning and Accountability Framework 
 
The Budget is a rolling four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that 
Council requires to achieve the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan. The diagram 
below depicts the integrated planning and reporting framework that applies to local government in 
Victoria.  At each stage of the integrated planning and reporting framework there are opportunities 
for community and stakeholder input. This is important to ensure transparency and accountability 
to both residents and ratepayers. 
 

 
 
Source: Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions 
 
The timing of each component of the integrated strategic planning and reporting framework is critical 
to the successful achievement of the planned outcomes. 
 
  

ATT 4.1.1.1 Adopted Budget 2024-25

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 162 of 576



City of Greater Dandenong 

 

Budget 2024-25  Page 17 
 

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 G

R
E

A
T

E
R

 D
A

N
D

E
N

O
N

G
 2

02
4-

25
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 

1.1.2 Key planning considerations 
 
Service level planning 
 
Although councils have a legal obligation to provide some services— such as animal management, 
local roads, food safety and statutory planning—most council services are not legally mandated, 
including some services closely associated with councils, such as libraries, building permits and 
sporting facilities.  Further, over time, the needs and expectations of communities can change.  
Therefore, councils need to have robust processes for service planning and review to ensure all 
services continue to provide value for money and are in line with community expectations. In doing 
so, councils should engage with communities to determine how to prioritise resources and balance 
service provision against other responsibilities such as asset maintenance and capital works.  
Community consultation needs to be in line with a council’s adopted Community Engagement Policy 
and Public Transparency Policy. 
 
 

1.2 Our purpose 
 
 
Our vision 
 
The vision for Greater Dandenong was developed by the Greater Dandenong People’s Panel 
through a deliberative engagement process.  It highlights the long-term aspirations for our 
community to 2040 and highlights the key principles that Council can focus on to help achieve this. 
 
Community Vision 2040 
 
The City of Greater Dandenong is a home to all. It’s a city where you can enjoy and embrace life through 
celebration and equal opportunity!  

We harmonise the community by valuing multiculturalism and the individual. Our community is 
healthy, vibrant, innovative and creative.  

Our growing city is committed to environmental sustainability.  

Welcome to our exciting and peaceful community. 

 
Our values 
 
At the City of Greater Dandenong, we have adopted a set of values we call ‘REACH’ which define 
who we are and how we interact with each other and our community.  REACH stands for: 
 Respectful 

 Engaged 

 Accountable 

 Creative 

 Honest 
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1.3 Strategic objectives 
 
Strategic Objective Description 

1. A socially 
connected, safe and 
healthy city 

Council acknowledges that creating a connected, healthy and safe 
community is at the core of everything we do.  We make a 
commitment to improving participation in sport and recreation, 
supporting our residents to build greater social connections, and 
facilitate collaborations and partnerships which enhance health, 
wellbeing and resilience in our community. 

2. A city that respects 
and celebrates 
diversity, our history 
and the arts 

The cultural diversity of Greater Dandenong is the defining point of 
difference for this city.  There are many aspects of diversity in addition 
to multiculturalism.  Diversity of culture, ability, age, gender, faith and 
sexuality are all acknowledged and considered in the development 
and delivery of our services. Support for the arts and our local history 
are also key priorities for our municipality. 

3. A city of accessible, 
vibrant centres and 
neighbourhoods 

The appearance and amenity of the city defines its space.  Council 
strives for best practice urban design and planning to create a city for 
the future that has high quality amenity for current and future 
residents, and appropriate levels of development.  Planning and 
development within the city are regulated through the Greater 
Dandenong Planning Scheme which sets out the vision for the city 
through zoning, style and type of development, and regulatory 
functions. 

4. A green city 
committed to a 
sustainable future 

Council is committed to a proactive and collaborative approach to 
climate change. Council has a Sustainability Strategy and a Climate 
Emergency Strategy that provide guidance on many key priorities, 
such as reducing waste, increasing transport options, improving our 
built environment, protecting our natural environment and tackling the 
effects of climate change. 

5. A city that supports 
entrepreneurship, 
quality education 
and employment 
outcomes 

A key priority of Council is that Greater Dandenong will be a place 
where people of all ages and backgrounds can reach their potential, 
gain the skills and education they need for success in life, and be part 
of a prosperous economy where all trade, manufacturing and 
business activity flourishes. Council is committed to supporting and 
strengthening the manufacturing presence in the city as well as 
promoting local jobs for local people and supporting women in 
business. 

6. A Council that 
demonstrates 
leadership and a 
commitment to 
investing in the 
community 

Council is committed to the effective management of assets and 
resources to ensure our financial sustainability. Proactive 
engagement with residents to ensure that communication about all of 
council’s services, planning activities and decisions are accessible to 
everyone is key. Community input into decision making is actively 
encouraged through a range of consultation opportunities throughout 
the year. 
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2. Services and Service Performance Indicators 
 
This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the 
2024-25 year and how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the 
Council Plan.  It also describes several initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for 
key areas of Council’s operations. Council is required by legislation to identify major initiatives, 
initiatives and service performance outcome indicators in the Budget and report against them in 
their Annual Report to support transparency and accountability.  The relationship between these 
accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the Budget and the Annual Report is shown below. 
 

 
 
Source: Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions 
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2.1 Strategic Objective 1 - A socially connected, safe and healthy 
city 

 
Council acknowledges that creating a connected, healthy and safe community is at the core of 
everything we do.  We make a commitment to improving participation in sport and recreation, 
supporting our residents to build greater social connections, and facilitate collaborations and 
partnerships which enhance health, wellbeing and resilience in our community. 
 
Please note that some service areas contribute to more than one strategic objective, however, for 
the purposes of the financial tables in Section 2, the service area has been allocated to the most 
relevant strategic objective. 
 

Services 
 

 

 

Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income -      -      -      
Expenditure (451)    (854)    (654)    
Surplus/(deficit) (451)    (854)    (654)    

Income 15,393 16,822 13,056
Expenditure (19,647)  (28,370)  (19,981)  
Surplus/(deficit) (4,254)   (11,548)  (6,925)   

Income 763 634 551
Expenditure (8,625)    (8,920)    (9,164)    
Surplus/(deficit) (7,862)   (8,286)   (8,613)   

Income 9,072 8,231 9,786
Expenditure (12,595)  (14,451)  (14,042)  
Surplus/(deficit) (3,523)   (6,220)   (4,256)   

Income 9,223 11,379 8,958
Expenditure (8,974)    (10,527)  (10,212)  
Surplus/(deficit) 249 852 (1,254)   

(15,841)  (26,056)  (21,702)  

Community 
Strengthening 
Executive

This function provides the oversight and 
leadership of the provision of Community 
Strengthening services to the municipality.

Community 
Wellbeing

This department focuses on developing and 
supporting a range of initiatives and services 
to enhance the health and wellbeing of 
families. This includes family day care, 
family support services, kindergarten and 
child care committee support, preschool 
field officer program, 'Best Start' and early 
years projects, immunisation, festivals and 
events, maternal and child health, parenting 
programs and youth services.  

TOTAL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1 - Surplus/(deficit)

Safe, Active & 
Connected 
Communities

Focuses on community advocacy, leisure 
planning, sport and recreation programs, 
community grant funding and emergency 
management.  Responsible for the areas of 
community safety, community engagement 
and support for partner organisations 
including neighbourhood houses and 
material aid organisations.  

Community Care provides services and 
programs to assist older people and people 
with a disability to remain living in the 
community including home based and 
centre based services, specialised 
community transport and support for clubs 
and groups within the city.

Community Care

Provides compliance, education and 
enforcement functions related to animal 
management, fire prevention, local laws, 
planning compliance, public safety and 
security, litter prevention and school 
crossings.

Community 
Amenity
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Initiatives 
 
 Implement year five of the Make Your Move Greater Dandenong Physical Activity Strategy 

2020-30 
 Implement year four and five action plans for the Youth and Family Services Strategy 
 Implement year four of the Children's Plan 
 Complete the Keysborough South Community Hub Strategy and develop an Action Plan 
 Implement the Springvale Community Hub Action Plan 
 Develop the Domestic Animal Management Plan 2025-29 
 Implementation of Council's Anti-Poverty Strategy   
 

 

2.2 Strategic Objective 2 - A city that respects and celebrates 
diversity, our history, and the arts 

 
The cultural diversity of Greater Dandenong is the defining point of difference for this city.  There 
are many aspects of diversity in addition to multiculturalism.  Diversity of culture, ability, age, gender, 
faith and sexuality are all acknowledged and considered in the development and delivery of our 
services. Support for the arts and our local history are also key priorities for our municipality. 
 
Services 
 

 
 
Initiatives  

 
 Deliver the major festivals, events and programs 
 Develop Council's next Reconciliation Action Plan 
 Develop a municipal-wide Community Infrastructure Plan 
 Implement the Arts and Cultural Heritage Strategy 2022-26 
 Implement the Greater Dandenong Libraries Strategy 2022-26 
 Undertake the Heritage Overlay Planning Scheme Amendment 
 
 

  

Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 2,827 2,849 2,786
Expenditure (12,689)  (13,516)  (13,610)  
Surplus/(deficit) (9,862)   (10,667)  (10,824)  

(9,862)    (10,667)  (10,824)  TOTAL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 2 - Surplus/(deficit)

Community Arts, 
Culture & 
Libraries

The Arts, Culture and Libraries business unit 
supports the management of Civic, 
community and cultural venues, the Drum 
Theatre, festivals and events, public art, 
cultural development and planning and 
precinct operations.  Library services 
provide access to a wide range of 
information for all ages and cultures in a 
range of formats and locations and are 
committed to lifelong learning and self-
improvement opportunities. Branches 
include Springvale, Dandenong and online.
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2.3 Strategic Objective 3 – A city of accessible, vibrant centres 
and neighbourhoods 

 
The appearance and amenity of the city defines its space.  Council strives for best practice urban 
design and planning to create a city for the future that has high quality amenity for current and future 
residents, and appropriate levels of development.  Planning and development within the city are 
regulated through the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme which sets out the vision for the city 
through zoning, style and type of development, and regulatory functions. 
 
Services 
 

 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income (9)          28 13
Expenditure (6,192)    (6,758)    (7,177)    
Surplus/(deficit) (6,201)   (6,730)   (7,164)   

Income 32 26 36
Expenditure (9,604)    (10,922)  (11,632)  
Surplus/(deficit) (9,572)   (10,896)  (11,596)  

Income -         -         -         
Expenditure (455)       (905)       (493)       
Surplus/(deficit) (455)      (905)      (493)      

Income 1,524 1,626 1,809
Expenditure (2,932)    (3,072)    (3,375)    
Surplus/(deficit) (1,408)   (1,446)   (1,566)   

Income 100 1 -         
Expenditure (180)       (237)       (210)       
Surplus/(deficit) (80)        (236)      (210)      

Roads Responsible for the maintenance of the 
city's road, drainage and footpath network.  
Road maintenance is a key function of 
Council, funding the ongoing upkeep of local 
roads.

Building 
Maintenance

Building Maintenance services cover 
everyday building issues and helps maintain 
other Council properties and structures, 
including bus shelters, fencing and building 
lighting.  Also includes nominated building 
demolitions.

Special 
Projects

Responsible for coordinating the planning, 
advocacy / funding and development of 
major projects that provide social, 
community and economic benefits for 
Greater Dandenong in line with the strategic 
priorities of Council. 

Statutory 
Planning

This unit administers and applies the 
provisions of the Planning and Environment 
Act 1987, Subdivision Act 1988, Greater 
Dandenong Planning Scheme and other 
relevant planning acts, regulations, codes of 
practice, policies and the like, on matters 
affecting land use development and 
management across the municipality.  

City Futures 
Executive

This function is focused on the built and 
natural environment and provides the 
oversight of the planning, development, 
building, engineering, infrastructure, 
revitalisation, economic development and 
place making services.  

ATT 4.1.1.1 Adopted Budget 2024-25

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 168 of 576



City of Greater Dandenong 

 

Budget 2024-25  Page 23 
 

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 G

R
E

A
T

E
R

 D
A

N
D

E
N

O
N

G
 2

02
4-

25
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 

 
 
Initiatives  
 
 Undertake the five-year review of the Dog Leash Strategy 
 Commence development of a revised Housing Strategy 
 Prepare a Dandenong Market Precinct Masterplan to facilitate Council led and private sector 

developments and activate public spaces and places 
 Commence the Neighbourhood Character Study 
 Implement the Springvale and Noble Park Revitalisation Action Plans 
 
 

2.4 Strategic Objective 4 – A green city committed to a sustainable 
future 

 
Council is committed to a proactive and collaborative approach to climate change. Council has a 
Sustainability Strategy and a Climate Emergency Strategy that provide guidance on many key 
priorities, such as reducing waste, increasing transport options, improving our built environment, 
protecting our natural environment and tackling the effects of climate change. 
 
Services 
 

 
  

Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 2,133 1,979 4,659
Expenditure (2,543)    (2,635)    (4,909)    
Surplus/(deficit) (410)      (656)      (250)      

(18,126)  (20,869)  (21,279)  TOTAL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 3 - Surplus/(deficit)

Transport & 
Civil 
Development

Responsible for long-term planning of 
transport networks and systems, road safety 
initiatives, parking infrastructure 
management, traffic impact assessments, 
advocacy for improvements to public 
transport, major road network and rail and 
road grade separations, development of 
transport strategies and policies, 
submissions on transport policies/strategies. 

Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 1,013 1,111 659
Expenditure (30,308)  (31,916)  (32,261)  
Surplus/(deficit) (29,295)  (30,805)  (31,602)  

Income 831 760 217
Expenditure (15,818)  (18,281)  (19,101)  
Surplus/(deficit) (14,987)  (17,521)  (18,884)  

Infrastructure 
Services

Responsible for waste collection services, 
Spring Valley landfill maintenance and 
rehabilitation and fleet management. 

* Please note this Service area excludes waste 
income, fleet sale proceeds and cost of fleet sold.

Parks The Parks Service unit maintains the City of 
Greater Dandenong's parks and public open 
spaces in order to improve the health and 
wellbeing of the community, provide 
accessible, usable open spaces for 
residents and improve the value of assets 
within the municipality.
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Initiatives  
 
 Finalise review and update the Waste and Litter Strategy 
 Implement the Open Space Strategy 
 Implement the Urban Forest Strategy and Green Wedge Management Plan 
 Implement the Biodiversity Action Plan 
 Complete Council's plan for new and improved playgrounds 
 Implement the Electric Vehicle Transition Plan 
 Implement the Climate Emergency Strategy, climate emergency declaration and the 

Sustainability Strategy 
 Advocate to the EPA to improve the quality of Greater Dandenong's waterways 
 
 
 

2.5 Strategic Objective 5 – A city that supports entrepreneurship, 
quality education and employment outcomes 

 
As outlined in Council’s long-term strategy “Achieving Greater Dandenong’s Potential - A Local 
Economic and Employment Development Strategy for our City”: Greater Dandenong will be a place 
where people of all ages and backgrounds can reach their potential, gain the skills and education 
they need for success in life, and be part of a prosperous economy where all trade, manufacturing 
and business activity flourishes. Council is committed to supporting and strengthening the 
manufacturing presence in the city as well as promoting local jobs for local people and supporting 
women in business. 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 3,128 2,904 2,836
Expenditure (5,141)    (5,433)    (4,488)    
Surplus/(deficit) (2,013)   (2,529)   (1,652)   

Income 6 72 26
Expenditure (1,889)    (2,376)    (2,741)    
Surplus/(deficit) (1,883)   (2,304)   (2,715)   

(48,178)  (53,159)  (54,853)  TOTAL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4 - Surplus/(deficit)

Strategic and 
Environmental 
Planning

This function coordinates, leads and initiates 
the development of strategic planning, 
design and open space planning and 
sustainability planning as they relate to land 
use and development planning policy.

Building and 
Compliance Services

Building and Compliance Services maintain 
standards of amenity, habitation and safety 
in buildings. The unit provides services 
including building inspections, enforcement 
of safety standards, advice and consultation 
on building regulations issues and issuing of 
building permits.  This unit is also 
responsible for environmental health and 
food legislation.
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Services 
 

 
 
Initiatives 
 

 Develop a new Economic and Place Strategy 
 Successfully deliver an annual Business Education Program 
 Deliver a range of networks, common interest groups and targeted activities with relevance to 

local manufacturers 
 Support local business efforts to respond to their climate change risks and transition to a net 

zero economy 
 Maintain support, collaboration and board participation of the South East Manufacturers 

Alliance (SEMMA) 
 
 
2.6 Strategic Objective 6 – A Council that demonstrates leadership 

and a commitment to investing in the community 
 

Council is committed to the effective management of assets and resources to ensure our financial 
sustainability. Proactive engagement with residents to ensure that communication about all of 
council’s services, planning activities and decisions are accessible to everyone is key. Community 
input into decision making is actively encouraged through a range of consultation opportunities 
throughout the year. 
 

 
  

Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 458 364 394
Expenditure (3,127)    (3,773)    (3,476)    
Surplus/(deficit) (2,669)   (3,409)   (3,082)   

(2,669)    (3,409)    (3,082)    TOTAL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 5 - Surplus/(deficit)

Business 
Development and 
Investment

The department leads and coordinates the 
revitalisation of activity centres, economic 
development, supporting existing 
businesses and measures and monitors 
the local and regional economy to enhance 
the economic prosperity of the city. Also 
includes business networking - bringing 
people and companies together to protect 
the economic viability of the region by 
ensuring a stronger, more resilient and 
globally engaged business community, and 
promoting the role of women in business 
and the development and integration of our 
diverse community into the workplace.

Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income -         -        -           
Expenditure (813)    (726)      (710)      
Surplus/(deficit) (813)    (726)      (710)      

Office of the Chief 
Executive

The Office of the Chief Executive (CEO) 
has overall responsibility for the operations 
of the organisation, and carriage of the 
Strategic Risk Register.  Each member of 
the executive management team reports to 
the CEO.
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Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income -         -           -           
Expenditure (148)       (574)         (825)         
Surplus/(deficit) (148)      (574)        (825)        

Income -         -           -           
Expenditure (2,903)    (2,889)      (2,297)      
Surplus/(deficit) (2,903)   (2,889)     (2,297)     

Income -         -           -           
Expenditure (3,751)    (4,664)      (4,464)      
Surplus/(deficit) (3,751)   (4,664)     (4,464)     

Income 10 8 -           
Expenditure (5,250)    (6,689)      (8,558)      
Surplus/(deficit) (5,240)   (6,681)     (8,558)     

Income 555 226 194
Expenditure (4,060)    (4,195)      (4,643)      
Surplus/(deficit) (3,505)   (3,969)     (4,449)     

Income 1,535 1,683 1,768
Expenditure (6,008)    (5,437)      (6,134)      
Surplus/(deficit) (4,473)   (3,754)     (4,366)     

Income 17 3 -           
Expenditure (3,068)    (3,553)      (3,167)      
Surplus/(deficit) (3,051)   (3,550)     (3,167)     

Communications and 
Customer Experience

This unit is responsible for all media 
management, marketing and 
communications campaigns and activities, 
web management and community 
engagement.  The Customer Service unit 
is responsible for the corporate call centre 
and three face to face customer service 
centres.  

Financial Services 
and Procurement

Financial Services and Procurement exists 
to enable Council to comply with statutory 
requirements, provide strategic financial 
direction, contract management, 
purchasing and procurement systems,  
undertake essential business processes 
and support the organisation with financial 
assistance and advice.  Property Revenue 
includes the administration of rates and 
valuation services.

Governance, Legal 
and Risk

Governance, Legal and Risk is responsible 
for the overall governance of the 
organisation, insurance and risk 
management and management of Council's 
commercial property portfolio.  The unit is 
also responsible for the management, 
storage and disposal of corporate records 
to support business transactions and for 
evidentiary purposes.  Also includes return 
from Dandenong Market.

People and Change Responsible for supporting the human 
resource capital within the organisation.  
This function also includes occupational 
health and safety, industrial relations, 
professional development and continuous 
improvement.

Digital Technology The Digital Technology unit is responsible 
for the provision of cost-effective 
information and telecommunication 
solutions to staff and councillors. 

Chief Engineer and 
Major Projects

The project delivery team performs a 
project management function with the 
primary purpose of delivering Council's 
Capital Works program associated with its 
roads, drains, facilities and open space. 

Corporate 
Development

Resourcing for the Director of Corporate 
Development and directorate business 
support.
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Initiatives 
 

 Conduct a comprehensive review of the 10 Year Activity Centre Capital Improvement Program 
 Develop a Customer Experience Strategy 
 Review the existing Road Management Plan and develop a new one for 2025 
 Develop an investment attraction program 
 Develop the new Council Plan 2025-29 in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 
 Review Council's Long Term Financial Plan 
 Deliver the recommendations of the recent Child Safe Audit Review 

 
2.4 Performance statement 
 
The service performance outcome indicators detailed in the following section will be reported on 
within the Performance Statement which is prepared at the end of the year as required by section 
98 of the Act and included in the 2024-25 Annual Report.  The Performance Statement will also 
include reporting on prescribed indicators of financial performance (outlined in section 5) and 
sustainable capacity, which are not included in this budget report.  The full set of prescribed 
performance indicators are audited each year by the Victorian Auditor General who issues an audit 
opinion on the Performance Statement.  The major initiatives detailed in the preceding pages will 
be reported in the Annual Report in the form of a statement of progress in the report of operations.   
 

2.5 Service Performance Outcome Indicators 
 
Service Indicator Performance Measure Computation 

Governance 
# 

Consultation 
and 
engagement 

Satisfaction with community 
consultation and engagement.  
(Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with the consultation 
and engagement efforts of 
Council).  

Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with how Council has 
performed on community 
consultation and engagement.  

Statutory 
planning 
# 

Service 
standard 

Planning applications decided 
within required timeframes 
(percentage of regular and 
VicSmart planning application 
decisions made within 
legislated timeframes). 

[Number of planning application 
decisions made within 60 days 
for regular permits and 10 days 
for VicSmart permits / Number 
of planning application 
decisions made] x100  

Roads 
# 

Condition Sealed local roads below the 
intervention level (percentage 
of sealed local roads that are 
below the renewal intervention 
level set by Council and not 
requiring renewal). 

[Number of kilometres of sealed 
local roads below the renewal 
intervention level set by Council 
/ Kilometres of sealed local 
roads] x100 

Forecast
Actual Actual Budget

Service area Description of services provided 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
$'000 $'000 $'000

Income 279 333 101
Expenditure (4,997)    (5,832)      (4,118)      
Surplus/(deficit) (4,718)   (5,499)     (4,017)     

(28,602)  (32,306)    (32,853)    TOTAL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 6 - Surplus/(deficit)

Strategic Growth & 
Advocacy

Coordinates strategic and corporate 
planning, reporting and advocacy across 
the organisation including the Council 
Plan, Asset Plan and Business Planning.  
This area also includes social research 
and data collection, social policy 
development, health and wellbeing planning 
and planning for community facilities.
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Service Indicator Performance Measure Computation 

Libraries Participation Library membership 
(Percentage of the population 
that are registered library 
members). 

[Number of registered library 
members / Population] x100  

Waste 
management 
# 

Waste 
diversion 

Kerbside collection waste 
diverted from landfill.  
(Percentage of garbage, 
recyclables and green 
organics collected from 
kerbside bins that is diverted 
from landfill). 

[Weight of recyclables and 
green organics collected from 
kerbside bins / Weight of 
garbage, recyclables and green 
organics collected from 
kerbside bins] x 100 

Aquatic 
Facilities 

Utilisation Utilisation of aquatic facilities.  
(Number of visits to aquatic 
facilities per head of 
population). 

Number of visits to aquatic 
facilities / Population 

 

Note # - Targets are required to be set by Council for four of the above service performance 
indicators for the forthcoming years.  These target indicators will be reported on as part of Council’s 
Performance Statement at the end of the financial year.  Refer to Section 5 – Performance Indicators 
of this document for the financial target details. 
 
Service Indicator Performance Measure Computation 

Animal 
Management 

Health and 
safety 

Animal management 
prosecutions.  (Percentage of 
animal management 
prosecutions which are 
successful). 

Number of successful animal 
management prosecutions / 
Total number of animal 
management prosecutions 

Food safety Health and 
safety 

Critical and major non-
compliance outcome 
notifications.  (Percentage of 
critical and major non-
compliance outcome 
notifications that are followed 
up by Council) 

[Number of critical non-
compliance outcome 
notifications and major non-
compliance outcome 
notifications about a food 
premises followed up / Number 
of critical non-compliance 
outcome notifications and major 
non-compliance outcome 
notifications about food 
premises] x100 

Maternal and 
Child Health 

Participation Participation in the MCH 
service.  (Percentage of 
children enrolled who 
participate in the MCH service) 

[Number of children who attend 
the MCH service at least once 
(in the financial year) / Number 
of children enrolled in the MCH 
service] x100 

Maternal and 
Child Health 

Participation Participation in the MCH 
service by Aboriginal children.  
(Percentage of Aboriginal 
children enrolled who 
participate in the MCH service) 

[Number of Aboriginal children 
who attend the MCH service at 
least once (in the financial year) 
/ Number of Aboriginal children 
enrolled in the MCH service] 
x100 
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2.8 Reconciliation with budgeted operating result 
 

 
 
 
*  Other non-attributable includes bank charges, external audit fees, annual leave and long service 
leave provisions and fire services levy payable on Council owned properties.  

Surplus/ Expenditure Income /
(Deficit) Revenue

$'000 $'000 $'000

Strategic objective 1 (21,702)           (54,053)           32,351

Strategic objective 2 (10,824)           (13,610)           2,786

Strategic objective 3 (21,279)           (27,796)           6,517

Strategic objective 4 (54,853)           (58,591)           3,738

Strategic objective 5 (3,082)             (3,476)             394

Strategic objective 6 (32,853)           (34,916)           2,063

Total services (144,593)         (192,442)         47,849

Non-attributable expenditure

Depreciation (34,885)           

Depreciation - right of use assets (598)                

Borrowing costs (3,184)             

Interest charges - leases (55)                  

Written down value of assets sold/scrapped (160)                

Other non attributable * (2,553)             

Total non-attributable expenditure (41,435)           

Surplus/(Deficit) before funding sources (186,028)         

Funding sources

Rates and charges 148,928

Waste charge revenue 27,249

Financial Assistance Grants 13,069

Interest earnings 6,800

Asset sales 993

Contributions - non-monetary 7,500

Contributions - monetary 7,676

Capital grant funding 8,625

Total funding sources 220,840

Surplus for the year 34,812

2024-25
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3. Financial Statements 
 
This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human 
Resources.  The budget information for the year 2024-25 has been supplemented with projections 
to 2027-28. 
 
This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020.
  
 Comprehensive Income Statement 

 Balance Sheet 

 Statement of Changes in Equity 

 Statement of Cash Flows 

 Statement of Capital Works 

 Statement of Human Resources 

      
An additional statement - ‘Conversion to Cash Result’ is also provided after the Comprehensive 
Income Statement.  
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Comprehensive Income Statement 
For the four years ending 30 June 2028 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

Notes 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges 4.1.1 171,015 176,177 181,877 187,911 193,944
Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 10,539 10,972 11,510 11,660 11,882
User fees 4.1.3 8,609 9,812 10,210 10,552 10,905
Grants - operating 4.1.4 25,940 35,216 35,385 35,514 36,072
Grants - capital 4.1.4 13,828 8,625 8,169 4,724 -            
Contributions - monetary 4.1.5 4,536 7,676 2,000 2,000 2,000
Contributions - non-monetary 4.1.5 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500

Net gain on disposal of property, 
infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 4.1.6 546 833 838 838 838
Other income 4.1.7 15,687 11,935 10,253 9,746 8,914
Total income 258,200 268,746 267,742 270,445 272,055

Expenses
Employee costs 4.1.8 102,030 99,649 103,086 105,167 109,134
Materials and services 4.1.9 90,699 88,357 88,313 90,114 91,573
Depreciation 4.1.10 34,201 34,885 35,583 36,295 37,021
Amortisation - intangible assets 4.1.11 -            -            -            -            -            
Depreciation - right of use assets 4.1.12 598 598 598 598 598
Allowance for impairment losses 4.1.13 2,490 2,026 2,474 2,598 2,728
Borrowing costs 2,537 3,184 4,973 6,304 6,357
Finance costs - leases 52 55 55 55 55
Other expenses 4.1.14 5,473 5,180 4,698 4,798 4,928
Total expenses 238,080 233,934 239,780 245,929 252,394

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 20,120 34,812 27,962 24,516 19,661

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be 
reclassified to surplus or deficit 
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) -            -            -            -            -            
Total comprehensive result 20,120 34,812 27,962 24,516 19,661

Projections
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Conversion to Cash Result 
For the four years ending 30 June 2028 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Net operating result 20,120 34,812 27,962 24,516 19,661

Add (less) cash items not included in operating result
Capital expenditure (83,131)      (93,474)      (93,278)      (58,948)      (38,343)      
Loan repayments (3,597)       (3,961)       (5,149)       (6,685)       (7,670)       
Loan proceeds 1,000 21,920 37,100 14,950 -            
Repayment of lease liabilities (710)          (710)          (710)          (710)          (710)          
Transfer from reserves 15,551 20,746 13,325 3,649 3,708
Transfer to reserves (11,519)      (7,476)       (8,093)       (6,327)       (6,927)       
Sub total (82,406)      (62,955)      (56,805)      (54,071)      (49,942)      

Add (less) non-cash items included in operating result
Depreciation 34,201 34,885 35,583 36,295 37,021
Depreciation - right of use assets 598 598 598 598 598
Written down value of assets sold 254 160 162 162 162
Contributions - non-monetary (7,500)       (7,500)       (7,500)       (7,500)       (7,500)       
Sub total 27,553 28,143 28,843 29,555 30,281

Surplus (deficit) for the year (34,733)      -            -            -            -            
Accumulated surplus brought forward 34,733 -            -            -            -            
Accumulated surplus brought forward -            -            -            -            -            

Projections
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Balance Sheet 
For the four years ending 30 June 2028 
 

 
 
* Contract and other liabilities primarily relates to unearned income from Development Contribution Plan levies and 
operating and capital grants of which the timing of recognition is difficult to predict. 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

Notes 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 60,233 50,429 51,030 50,696 53,358
Trade and other receivables 31,228 32,208 33,199 34,237 35,294
Other financial assets 102,000 102,000 96,000 93,000 90,000
Prepayments 4,524 4,524 4,596 4,670 4,745
Other assets 3,580 3,580 3,580 3,580 3,580
Total current assets 4.2.1 201,565 192,741 188,405 186,183 186,977

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables NC 273 273 273 273 273
Property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 2,563,841 2,629,770 2,694,803 2,724,794 2,733,454
Investment property 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575 6,575
Right-of-use assets 1,656 1,758 1,860 1,962 2,064
Intangible assets 25 25 25 25 25
Total non-current assets 4.2.1 2,572,370 2,638,401 2,703,536 2,733,629 2,742,391
Total assets 2,773,935 2,831,142 2,891,941 2,919,812 2,929,368

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 29,377 32,911 32,868 26,980 23,515
Trust funds and deposits 6,159 6,359 6,550 6,746 6,949
Contract and other liabilities * 58,816 58,616 58,416 58,216 58,016
Provisions 21,127 21,998 22,906 23,855 24,843
Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 3,748 4,802 6,475 7,670 8,085
Lease liabilities 545 541 538 534 531
Total current liabilities 4.2.2 119,772 125,227 127,753 124,001 121,939

Non-current liabilities
Trust funds and deposits NC 2,112 2,181 2,246 2,313 2,383
Provisions NC 1,215 1,187 1,162 1,138 1,118
Interest-bearing liabilities NC 4.2.3 43,434 60,339 90,617 97,687 89,601
Lease liabilities NC 1,031 1,025 1,018 1,012 1,005
Total non-current liabilities 4.2.2 47,792 64,732 95,043 102,150 94,107
Total liabilities 167,564 189,959 222,796 226,151 216,046

Net assets 2,606,371 2,641,183 2,669,145 2,693,661 2,713,322

Equity
Accumulated surplus 992,271 1,040,353 1,073,547 1,095,385 1,111,827
Asset revaluation reserve 1,530,252 1,530,252 1,530,252 1,530,252 1,530,252
Reserves 83,848 70,578 65,346 68,024 71,243
Total equity 2,606,371 2,641,183 2,669,145 2,693,661 2,713,322

Projections
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the four years ending 30 June 2028 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total surplus reserve reserves

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2024
Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,586,251 968,119 1,530,252 87,880
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 20,120 20,120 -             -             
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) -             -                -             -             
Transfers to other reserves -             (11,519)          -             11,519
Transfers from other reserves -             15,551 -             (15,551)       
Balance at end of the financial year 2,606,371 992,271 1,530,252 83,848

2025
Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,606,371 992,271 1,530,252 83,848
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 34,812 34,812 -             -             
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) -             -                -             -             
Transfers to other reserves 4.3.1 -             (7,476)            -             7,476
Transfers from other reserves 4.3.1 -             20,746 -             (20,746)       
Balance at end of the financial year 4.3.2 2,641,183 1,040,353 1,530,252 70,578

2026
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2,641,183 1,040,353 1,530,252 70,578
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 27,962 27,962 -             -             
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) -             -                -             -             
Transfers to other reserves -             (8,093)            -             8,093
Transfers from other reserves -             13,325 -             (13,325)       
Balance at end of the financial year 2,669,145 1,073,547 1,530,252 65,346

2027
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2,669,145 1,073,547 1,530,252 65,346
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 24,516 24,516 -             -             
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) -             -                -             -             
Transfers to other reserves -             (6,327)            -             6,327
Transfers from other reserves -             3,649 -             (3,649)        
Balance at end of the financial year 2,693,661 1,095,385 1,530,252 68,024

2028
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2,693,661 1,095,385 1,530,252 68,024
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 19,661 19,661 -             -             
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) -             -                -             -             
Transfers to other reserves -             (6,927)            -             6,927
Transfers from other reserves -             3,708 -             (3,708)        
Balance at end of the financial year 2,713,322 1,111,827 1,530,252 71,243
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the four years ending 30 June 2028 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Notes Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

Cash flows from operating activities
Rates and charges CF 170,492 175,641 181,346 187,350 193,383
Statutory fees and fines CF 8,049 8,574 8,649 8,659 8,735
User fees CF 9,923 10,721 11,158 11,533 11,919
Grants - operating CF 27,211 37,231 37,404 37,532 38,133
Grants - capital CF 12,845 8,625 8,169 4,724 -             
Contributions - monetary CF 7,332 7,676 2,000 2,000 2,000
Interest received CF 9,100 6,800 5,500 5,000 4,000
Trust funds and deposits taken CF 29,400 29,450 29,500 29,550 29,600
Other receipts CF 7,532 5,748 5,328 5,321 5,505
Net GST refund CF 13,864 14,963 14,885 11,609 9,612
Employee costs CF (101,606)   (98,751)      (102,149)     (104,188)     (108,112)     
Materials and services CF (103,281)   (103,077)     (106,658)     (111,054)     (108,175)     
Short-term, low value and variable lease payments (641)         (683)           (711)           (732)           (754)           
Trust funds and deposits repaid CF (29,200)     (29,181)      (29,244)      (29,286)      (29,328)      
Other payments CF (5,673)       (5,070)        (4,511)        (4,600)        (4,721)        
Net cash provided by operating activities 4.4.1 55,347 68,667 60,666 53,418 51,797

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment (83,131)     (93,474)      (93,278)      (58,948)      (38,343)      

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 800 993 1,000 1,000 1,000
Proceeds (payments) for investments 20,869 -             6,000 3,000 3,000
Net cash (used in) investing activities 4.4.2 (61,462)     (92,481)      (86,278)      (54,948)      (34,343)      

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance costs CF (2,537)       (3,184)        (4,973)        (6,304)        (6,357)        
Proceeds from borrowings 1,000 21,920 37,100 14,950 -             
Repayment of borrowings (3,597)       (3,961)        (5,149)        (6,685)        (7,670)        
Interest paid - lease liability (52)           (55)             (55)             (55)             (55)             
Repayment of lease liabilities (710)         (710)           (710)           (710)           (710)           
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing 
activities 4.4.3 (5,896)       14,010 26,213 1,196 (14,792)      

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (12,011)     (9,804)        601 (334)           2,662
Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 72,244 60,233 50,429 51,030 50,696

Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
financial year 60,233 50,429 51,030 50,696 53,358

Projections
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Statement of Capital Works 
For the four years ending 30 June 2028 
 

 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

Notes 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property
Buildings 30,689 58,845 63,957 27,214 12,197
Leasehold improvements 434 -            -            -            -            
Total buildings 31,123 58,845 63,957 27,214 12,197
Total property 31,123 58,845 63,957 27,214 12,197

Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 3,306 2,980 2,917 2,913 2,900
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 116 225 200 221 213
Computers and telecommunications 947 3,166 1,383 1,267 221
Library books 828 1,100 1,067 1,077 1,077
Total plant and equipment 5,197 7,471 5,567 5,478 4,411

Infrastructure
Roads 21,352 17,976 12,878 12,502 12,327
Bridges 620 -            500 200 500
Footpaths and cycleways 1,220 1,057 1,680 1,776 1,763
Drainage 2,025 1,600 3,188 3,214 2,916
Recreational, leisure and community 
facilities 10,651 2,935 2,541 5,632 1,424
Parks, open space and streetscapes 10,614 3,540 2,687 2,671 2,516
Off street car parks 329 50 280 261 289
Total infrastructure 46,811 27,158 23,754 26,256 21,735

Total capital expenditure 4.5.1 83,131 93,474 93,278 58,948 38,343

Represented by:
New asset expenditure 25,252 56,646 16,105 15,862 4,991
Asset renewal expenditure 33,745 27,301 29,264 30,642 31,077
Asset upgrade expenditure 24,134 9,527 47,909 12,444 2,275
Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 83,131 93,474 93,278 58,948 38,343

Funding sources represented by:
Grants 13,828 8,625 8,169 4,724 -            
Contributions 2,358 5,676 -            -            -            
Council cash 54,285 39,222 37,278 38,274 37,343
Borrowings SCW 1,000 21,920 37,100 14,950 -            
Reserves SCW 11,660 18,031 10,731 1,000 1,000
Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 83,131 93,474 93,278 58,948 38,343

Projections
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Statement of Human Resources 
For the four years ending 30 June 2028 
 
In addition to the financial resources to be consumed over the planning period, Council will also 
consume non-financial resources, in particular human resources.  A summary of Council’s 
anticipated human resource requirements for the years 2024-25 to 2027-28 is shown below. 
 

 
 
 

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure 
of Council is included below: 
 

 
 
* Casuals and other expenditure includes casual staff costs, temporary agency staff, training and 
conferences, Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT), occupational health and safety programs, protective clothing 
and materials and other staff related costs. 
 
A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above 
expenditure is included below: 
 

 
 
 

Forecast Budget
2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Staff expenditure
Employee costs - operating 102,030 99,649 103,086 105,167 109,134

Total staff expenditure 102,030 99,649 103,086 105,167 109,134

FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Staff numbers
Employees 752.5 794.3 787.0 785.4 785.4

Total staff numbers 752.5 794.3 787.0 785.4 785.4

Projections

Budget Permanent Permanent
Directorate 2024-25 Full time Part time

$'000 $'000 $'000
CEO Services 6,441                   5,787                   654                      

City Futures 31,528                 29,919                 1,609                   

Community Strengthening 45,004                 25,668                 19,337                 

Corporate Development 11,884                 9,927                   1,957                   

Total permanent staff expenditure 94,857                 71,301                 23,557                 

Casuals and other expenditure 4,792                   

Total employee cost expenditure 99,649                 

Comprises

Budget Permanent Permanent
Directorate 2024-25 Full time Part time

FTE FTE FTE
CEO Services 42.8                     38.0                     4.8                       

City Futures 260.2                   245.6                   14.6                     

Community Strengthening 396.3                   212.3                   184.0                   

Corporate Development 90.2                     71.6                     18.6                     

Total permanent staff 789.5                   567.5                   222.0                   

Casual staff 4.8                       

Total staff 794.3                   

Comprises
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3.1 Summary of Planned Human Resources  
 

Summary of Planned Human Resources Expenditure 
For the four years ended 2027-28 
 

 
 
 

Budget
2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

CEO Services
Permanent - Full time
- Women 2,194           2,116           2,179           2,245           
- Men 2,712           2,615           2,694           2,774           
- Vacant or new positions 881              850              875              901              
Permanent - Part time
- Women 203              196              202              208              
- Men 380              366              377              389              
- Vacant or new positions 71                68                70                73                
Total Chief Executive 6,441           6,211           6,397           6,590           

City Futures
Permanent - Full time
- Women 7,056           7,452           7,553           7,981           
- Men 16,443         17,367         17,601         18,597         
- Vacant or new positions 6,420           6,781           6,872           7,261           
Permanent - Part time
- Women 951              1,005           1,018           1,076           
- Men 253              267              271              286              
- Vacant or new positions 405              428              434              458              
Total City Futures 31,528         33,300         33,749         35,659         

Community Strengthening
Permanent - Full time
- Women 13,940         14,366         14,703         15,160         
- Men 4,846           4,995           5,112           5,271           
- Vacant or new positions 6,882           7,093           7,259           7,485           
Permanent - Part time
- Women 13,601         14,019         14,347         14,792         
- Men 1,764           1,818           1,861           1,919           
- Persons of self-described gender 128              132              135              139              
- Vacant or new positions 3,844           3,962           4,055           4,181           
Total Community Strengthening 45,004         46,385         47,472         48,947         

Corporate Development
Permanent - Full time
- Women 6,522           6,651           6,680           6,881           
- Men 2,371           2,418           2,429           2,501           
- Vacant or new positions 1,034           1,055           1,059           1,091           
Permanent - Part time
- Women 1,738           1,773           1,780           1,834           
- Vacant or new positions 219              223              224              231              
Total Corporate Development 11,884         12,120         12,172         12,538         

Casuals and other
- Women 249              321              330              340              
- Men 113              145              150              154              
- Vacant or new positions 107              138              142              146              
Other employee related costs 4,323           4,466           4,756           4,761           
Total casuals and other 4,792           604              622              640              

Total staff expenditure 99,649         103,086       105,167       109,134       

Projections
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Summary of Planned Human Resources Expenditure (continued) 
For the four years ended 2027-28 
 

 
 
Note – FTE = Full time equivalent  

Budget
2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

FTE FTE FTE FTE

CEO Services
Permanent - Full time
- Women 14.0             14.0             14.0             14.0             
- Men 20.0             20.0             20.0             20.0             
- Vacant or new positions 4.0               4.0               4.0               4.0               
Permanent - Part time
- Women 1.6               1.6               1.6               1.6               
- Men 2.6               2.6               2.6               2.6               
- Vacant or new positions 0.6               0.6               0.6               0.6               
Total Chief Executive 42.8             42.8             42.8             42.8             

City Futures
Permanent - Full time
- Women 59.0             58.0             58.0             58.0             
- Men 130.5           130.5           130.5           130.5           
- Vacant or new positions 56.1             56.1             56.1             56.1             
Permanent - Part time
- Women 7.3               7.3               7.3               7.3               
- Men 2.1               2.1               2.1               2.1               
- Vacant or new positions 5.2               5.2               5.2               5.2               
Total City Futures 260.2           259.2           259.2           259.2           

Community Strengthening
Permanent - Full time
- Women 113.8           111.8           111.8           111.8           
- Men 40.0             40.0             40.0             40.0             
- Vacant or new positions 58.5             58.5             58.5             58.5             
Permanent - Part time
- Women 120.0           119.3           119.3           119.3           
- Men 19.4             19.4             19.4             19.4             
- Persons of self-described gender 1.4               1.4               1.4               1.4               
- Vacant or new positions 43.2             43.2             43.2             43.2             
Total Community Strengthening 396.3           393.6           393.6           393.6           

Corporate Development
Permanent - Full time
- Women 49.6             46.6             46.6             46.6             
- Men 15.0             15.0             15.0             15.0             
- Vacant or new positions 7.0               7.0               6.0               6.0               
Permanent - Part time
- Women 16.6             16.0             16.0             16.0             
- Vacant or new positions 2.0               2.0               1.4               1.4               
Total Corporate Development 90.2             86.6             85.0             85.0             

Casuals
- Women 2.3               2.3               2.3               2.3               
- Men 1.3               1.3               1.3               1.3               
- Vacant or new positions 1.2               1.2               1.2               1.2               
Total casuals 4.8               4.8               4.8               4.8               

Total staff numbers 794.3           787.0           785.4           785.4           

Projections
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4. Notes to the financial statements 
 
This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements. 
Council needs to assess which components are material, considering the dollar amounts and nature 
of these components.     
 
 

4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement 
 
Underlying surplus (deficit)  
 

 
 
The adjusted underlying result is the net surplus or deficit for the year adjusted for non-recurrent 
capital grants, non-monetary asset contributions, and capital contributions from other sources.  It is 
a measure of financial sustainability and Council’s ability to achieve its service delivery objectives 
as it is not impacted by capital income items which can mask the operating result.   

 
The adjusted result for the 2024-25 year is a surplus of $11 million which is an increase of $15.85 
million from the 2023-24 Forecast.  The increase is mostly attributable to favourable operating 
income and expenditure items: 
 
 An increase in income budgeted in 2024-25 Budget from operating grants ($9.3 million) 

compared to the 2023-24 Forecast due mainly to 100% of the 2023-24 Victorian Local 
Government Grants Commission allocation being distributed in 2022-23. 

 A reduction in materials and services and employee costs from the 2023-24 Forecast 
attributable to a variety of grant funded projects and one-off operating initiatives included in 
2023-24 that are not expected to continue in 2024-25. 

 
In calculating the underlying result, Council has excluded grants received for capital purposes which 
are non-recurrent and capital contributions from other sources.  Contributions of non-monetary 
assets are excluded as the value of assets assumed by Council is dependent on the level of 
development activity each year. 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

Notes 2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Operating
Total income 258,200 268,746 10,546 4.1%
Total expenses (238,080)     (233,934)     4,146 (1.7%)
Surplus for the year 20,120 34,812 14,692 73.0%

Less non-operating income and 
expenditure
Grants - capital non-recurrent 4.1.4 (12,923)      (8,625)        4,298 (33.3%)
Contributions - non-monetary 4.1.5 (7,500)        (7,500)        -             0.0%
Capital contributions - other sources 4.1.5 (4,536)        (7,676)        (3,140)        69.2%
Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) (4,839)        11,011 15,850 (327.5%)
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Income  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

Income types Notes 2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Rates and charges 4.1.1 171,015 176,177 5,162 3.0%
Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 10,539 10,972 433 4.1%
User fees 4.1.3 8,609 9,812 1,203 14.0%
Grants - operating 4.1.4 25,940 35,216 9,276 35.8%
Grants - capital 4.1.4 13,828 8,625 (5,203)        (37.6%)
Contributions - monetary 4.1.5 4,536 7,676 3,140 69.2%
Contributions - non-monetary 4.1.5 7,500 7,500 -             0.0%
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment 546 833 287 52.6%
Other income 4.1.6 15,687 11,935 (3,752)        (23.9%)
Total income 258,200 268,746 10,546 4.1%
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4.1.1 Rates and charges 
 
Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s budget. 
 
As per the Local Government Act 2020, Council is required to have a Revenue and Rating Plan 
which is a four-year plan for how Council will generate income to deliver the Council Plan, program 
and services and capital works commitments over a four-year period.   
 
In developing the Budget, rates and charges were identified as an important source of revenue. 
Planning for future rate increases has therefore been an important component of the financial 
planning process.  Rate capping legislation sets out the maximum amount councils may increase 
rates in a year.  For 2024-25, the rate cap has been set at 2.75 per cent.  The cap applies to both 
general rates and municipal charges and is calculated on the basis of council’s average rates and 
charges.   
 
The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to 
Council's other sources of income and the planned expenditure on services and works to be 
undertaken for the community. 
 
To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure 
program, the average general rate will increase by 2.75 per cent in line with the rate cap. 
 
This will raise total rates and charges for 2024-25 of $176,177,224. 
 
4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income 
Statement is as follows: 
 

 
 
* General rates are subject to the rate cap established under the rate capping legislation.  For 2024-25, the 
rate cap has been set at 2.75 per cent.  The Forecast Actual 2023-24 for General rates does not reflect the 
annualisation of supplementary rates received during the financial year, therefore, the percentage change will 
not equate to the rate cap of 2.75 per cent.  To comply with the rate cap of 2.75 per cent, the base rate must 
include the annualisation of supplementary rate income received during the year (see 4.1.1(c) below).  
 
Council’s rates and charges revenue of $176.18 million is made up using the following assumptions:  
 
 An average increase in rates across all property types of 2.75 per cent. 

 
 Residential waste charge of $505.00 per annum for the Option A standard service charge 

120 litre bin (an increase of $14.00 or 2.85 per cent).  The waste charge fee is based on full 
cost recovery.  The waste charge includes a fortnightly garden waste and recycling service, 
and an annual hard waste collection.  These charges also include the landfill levy impost by 
the State Government which is confirmed to increase by 2.70 per cent from $129.27 to 
$132.76 from the prior year and represents $85 per household ($79 in 2023-24). 
 
 

Forecast 
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Change Change
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

General rates * 141,237 146,307 5,070 3.6%
Service rates and charges 26,315 27,249 934 3.5%
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments 892 800 (92) (10.3%)
Keysborough Maintenance Levy 1,735 1,735 0 0.0%
Interest on rates and charges 989 289 (700) (70.8%)
Less abandoned rates (153) (203) (50) 32.7%

Total rates and charges 171,015 176,177 5,162 3.0%
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 $800,000 is estimated to be derived from supplementary rates (from new developments and 
improvements to existing properties) based on a drop in development activity in 2023-24. 
 

 An estimated $1.74 million is expected to be collected from the Keysborough Maintenance 
Levy at a rate of $350 per household.  These funds will be transferred to a reserve and fully 
expended on costs relating to this area. 
 

The below table highlights the impacts of the rate increase on the average residential property in 
City of Greater Dandenong. 
 

 
 
 * Includes a State Government landfill levy of $85 in 2024-25 ($79 in 2023-24). 
 
 
4.1.1(b) The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act 
for each type or class of land compared with the previous financial year. 
 

 
 
 
4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type 
or class of land, and the estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, compared 
with the previous financial year. 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Forecast Budget % $

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

Median residential valuation in Greater Dandenong 647,650$    665,000$    

Residential rate in the dollar 0.0015533 0.0015441

General rates 1,006.02$   1,026.82$   2.07% 20.80$       

Waste charge (including State Government landfill levy) * 491.00$      505.00$      2.85% 14.00$       

Total rates and charges median residential property 1,497.02$   1,531.82$   2.32% 34.80$       

Residential rate in the dollar

Budget Budget
Type or class of land 2023-24 2024-25 Change

cents/$CIV cents/$CIV %
General rate for rateable residential properties 0.0015533436 0.0015440904 (0.60%)
General rate for rateable commercial properties 0.0026406841 0.0025477491 (3.52%)
General rate for rateable industrial properties 0.0032620215 0.0032425898 (0.60%)
General rate for rateable vacant residential properties 0.0023300154 0.0023161355 (0.60%)
General rate for rateable farm properties 0.0011650077 0.0011580678 (0.60%)

Annualised
Budget rates levied Budget

Type or class of land 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25 Change
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

General 58,548 58,940 60,162 2.07%
Commercial 13,441 13,492 13,682 1.41%
Industrial 67,494 68,373 70,812 3.57%
Vacant residential 1,253 1,085 1,129 4.01%
Farm 501 501 522 4.26%
Total amount to be raised by 
general rates 141,237 142,391 146,307 2.75%
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4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the 
total number of assessments, compared with the previous financial year. 
 

 
 
 
4.1.1(e) The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV). 
 
Council rates are levied on the Capital Improved Value (CIV) of properties as determined by and 
certified by the Valuer General of Victoria.   
 
 
4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total 
value of land, compared with the previous financial year. 
 

 
 
 
4.1.1(g) Council does not levy a municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act. 
 
 
4.1.1(h) The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges is $0, compared 
with the previous financial year ($0). 
 
 
  

Budget Budget
Type or class of land 2023-24 2024-25 Change

Number Number
General 57,539 57,963 0.74%
Commercial 3,370 3,384 0.42%
Industrial 6,763 6,861 1.45%
Vacant residential 716 612 (14.53%)
Farm 53 53 0.00%

Total number of assessments 68,441 68,873 0.63%

Budget Forecast Budget
Type or class of land 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25 Change

$'000 $'000 $'000
General 37,690,510 37,944,050 38,962,630 2.68%
Commercial 5,089,945 5,109,295 5,370,138 5.11%
Industrial 20,691,445 20,960,260 21,838,200 4.19%
Vacant residential 537,918 465,813 487,383 4.63%
Farm 429,718 429,868 450,883 4.89%

Total value of land 64,439,536 64,909,285 67,109,233 3.39%
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4.1.1(i) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under 
Section 162 of the Act compared with the previous financial year. 
 

 
 

* Note – The State Government landfill levy is applicable in addition to these Council service charges. 
 

4.1.1(j) The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, 
and the estimated total amount to be raised by service rates and charges, compared 
with the previous financial year.     
 

 
 

* Note – Supplementary income varies from year to year and is an estimate only. 
 

4.1.1(k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with 
the previous financial year   
 

 
 
  

Per rateable 
property

Per rateable 
property

Type of charge 2023-24 2024-25 Change
$ $ %

412.00 420.00 1.94%

375.00 382.00 1.87%
391.00 399.00 2.05%
354.00 361.00 1.98%
333.00 339.00 1.80%
298.00 304.00 2.01%

Minimum waste charge for each residential property 298.00 304.00 2.01%
State Government landfill levy 79.00 85.00 7.59%
Bin change of selection charge 19.80 21.00 6.06%

Additional bin services
120 litre waste bin service * 214.00 218.00 1.87%
(Plus a “one off” fee for the purchase of the bin) 42.00 43.50 3.57%

240 litre recycling bin service 54.00 55.00 1.85%
(Plus a “one off” fee for the purchase of the bin) 50.00 52.00 4.00%

240 litre garden bin service 113.00 115.00 1.77%
(Plus a “one off” fee for the purchase of the bin) 50.00 52.00 4.00%

Bin delivery 21.00 22.00 4.76%

Recycling bin option - upgrade of 240 litre to 360 litre 108.00 115.00 6.48%

Option F:  80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, no garden bin *

Option A:  120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 240 litre garden bin *

Option B:  80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 240 litre garden bin *

Option C:  120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 120 litre garden bin *

Option D:  80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 120 litre garden bin *

Option E:  120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, no garden bin *

Budget Budget
Type of charge 2023-24 2024-25 Change

$'000 $'000 %
Option A:  120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 240 litre garden bin 10,923 11,198 2.52%

Option B:  80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 240 litre garden bin 1,959 2,019 3.06%

Option C:  120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 120 litre garden bin 3,568 3,722 4.32%

Option D:  80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, 120 litre garden bin 2,139 2,169 1.40%

Option E:  120 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, no garden bin 1,942 1,943 0.05%

Option F:  80 litre waste, 240 litre recycling, no garden bin 854 873 2.22%
Additional bin services 317 339 6.94%
State Government landfill levy 4,482 4,851 8.23%
Supplementary income * 130 135 3.85%

Total 26,314 27,249 3.55%

Budget Budget
2023-24 2024-25 Change

$'000 $'000 %
General rates 130,014 146,307 12.53%
Waste charges 23,317 27,249 16.86%

Rates and charges 153,331 173,556 13.19%
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4.1.1(l) Compliance with rate capping legislation 
 
Greater Dandenong City Council is required to comply with the State Government’s rate capping 
legislation (Fair Go Rates System).  The table below details the budget assumptions consistent with 
the requirements of the rate capping legislation. 
 

 
 
 
4.1.1(m) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by 
rates and charges 
 
There are no known significant changes, which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised 
by rates and charges.  However, the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be 
affected by: 

 
 The making of supplementary valuations (2023-24 Forecast $892,034, 2024-25 Forecast 

$800,000). 
 The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals). 
 Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa. 
 Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa. 
 
 
4.1.1(n) Differential rates 
 
The rate and amount of rates payable in relation to land in each category of differential are: 
 
 A general rate of 0.15440904% (0.0015440904 cents in the dollar of capital improved value) 

for all rateable residential (general). 
 A general rate of 0.25477491% (0.0025477491 cents in the dollar of capital improved value) 

for all rateable commercial land. 
 A general rate of 0.32425898% (0.0032425898 cents in the dollar of capital improved value) 

for all rateable industrial land. 
 A general rate of 0.23161355% (0.0023161355 cents in the dollar of capital improved value) 

for all rateable residential vacant land. 
 A general rate of 0.11580678% for (0.0011580678 cents in the dollar of capital improved 

value) rateable farm land. 
 
Each differential rate will be determined by multiplying the Capital Improved Value of each rateable 
land (categorised by the characteristics described below) by the relevant percentages indicated 
above.  Council considers that each differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient 
carrying out of Council functions.   
 
Details of the objectives of each differential rate, the types of classes of land, which are subject to 
each differential rate and the uses of each differential rate, are set out on the following pages.  
  

Budget Budget
2023-24 2024-25

Total rates (including supplementary rates income) 136,461,030$   142,391,148$   
Number of rateable properties 68,441              68,873              
Base average rate 1,993.85$         2,067.45$         
Maximum rate increase (set by the State Government) 3.50% 2.75%
Capped average rate 2,063.63$         2,124.30$         
Maximum general rates and charges revenue 141,237,167$   146,306,904$   

Budgeted
General rates 141,237,167$   146,306,904$   
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GENERAL (Residential) 

 
Objective: 
 
To ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out 
the functions of Council, including the: 
 
1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure. 
 
2. Development and provision of health and Community Strengthening. 
 
3. Provision of general support services. 
 
4. Requirement to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake it’s strategic, 

statutory, and service provision obligations. 
 
Types and classes: 
 
Any land which does not have the characteristics of Commercial, Industrial, Residential Vacant or 
Farm Land. 
 
Use and level of differential rate: 
 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget 
adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 
 
Geographic location: 
 
Wherever located within the municipal district. 
 
Use of land: 
 
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme. 
 
Planning scheme zoning: 
 
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps 
referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme. 
 
Types of buildings: 
 
All buildings which are now constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the 
financial year. 
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COMMERCIAL LAND 

 
The Commercial rate is to promote economic development objectives for the City including the retail 
development of the Dandenong, Springvale and Noble Park Activity Centre’s and the ongoing 
development of strip shopping centres. 
 
Objective: 
 
To ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out 
the functions of Council, including the: 
 
1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure related to the commercial sector. 

 
2. Enhancement of the economic viability of the commercial sector through targeted programs 

and projects. 
 

3. Encouragement of employment opportunities. 
 

4. Promotion of economic development. 
 

5. Requirement to ensure that streetscaping and promotional activity is complementary to the 
achievement of commercial objectives. 

 
Types and classes: 
 
Any land which is primarily used for commercial purposes. 
 
Use and level of differential rate:  
 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget 
adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 
 
Geographic location: 
 
Wherever located within the municipal district. 
 
Use of land: 
 
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme. 
 
Planning scheme zoning: 
 
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps 
referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme. 
 
Types of buildings: 
 
All buildings which are now constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the 
financial year.  
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INDUSTRIAL LAND 

 
The Industrial rate is to promote economic development objectives for the municipality including 
industrial development in appropriately zoned areas. 
 
Objective: 
 
To ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out 
the functions of Council, including the: 
 
1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure related to the industrial sector. 

 
2. Enhancement of the economic viability of the industrial sector through targeted programs 

and projects. 
 

3. Encouragement of employment opportunities. 
 

4. Promotion of economic development. 
 

5. Requirement to ensure that street scaping and promotional activity is complementary to the 
achievement of industrial objectives. 

 
Types and classes: 
 
Any land which is used primarily for industrial purposes. 
 
Use and level of differential rate:  
 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget 
adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 
 
Geographic location: 
 
Wherever located within the municipal district. 
 
Use of land: 
 
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme. 
Planning scheme zoning: 
 
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps 
referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme. 
 
Types of buildings: 
 
All buildings which are now constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to the end of the 
financial year.  
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RESIDENTIAL VACANT LAND 

 
The residential vacant land rate is to promote housing development objectives for the municipality 
including the development of vacant land in residential zoned areas. 
 
Objective: 
 
To provide an economic incentive for the development of residential vacant land and a disincentive 
for residential land-banking in order that all rateable land makes an equitable contribution to the 
cost of carrying out the functions of Council, including the: 
 
1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure. 

 
2. Development and provision of health and Community Strengthening. 

 
3. Provision of general support services. 

 
4. Requirement to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, 

statutory, and service provision obligations. 
 
Types and classes: 
 
Any land which is vacant residential land. 
 
Use and level of differential rate:  
 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget 
adopted by Council.  The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is 
necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 
 
Geographic location: 
 
Wherever located within the municipal district. 
 
Use of land: 
 
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme. 
 
Planning scheme zoning: 
 
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps 
referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme. 
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FARM LAND 

 
The main objectives of having a farm rate are: 
 
 To promote and support the use of sound agricultural practices. 
 To conserve and protect areas which are suited to certain agricultural pursuits. 
 To encourage proper land use consistent with genuine farming activities. 
 
Objective: 
 
To provide a financial subsidy to rateable farm land to ensure that all rateable land makes an 
equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out the functions of Council, including the: 
 
1. Construction and maintenance of public infrastructure. 

 
2. Development and provision of health and Community Strengthening. 

 
3. Provision of general support services. 

 
4. Requirement to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, 

statutory, and service provision obligations. 
 
Types and classes: 
 
Any land which is primarily used for the purposes of farming. 
 
Use and level of differential rate: 
 
The differential rate will be used to fund some of those items of expenditure described in the Budget 
adopted by Council. 
 
The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers is necessary to achieve the 
objectives specified above. 
 
Geographic location: 
 
Wherever located within the municipal district. 
 
Use of land: 
 
Any use permitted under the relevant Planning Scheme. 
 
Planning scheme zoning: 
 
The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by consulting maps 
referred to in the relevant Planning Scheme. 
 
Types of buildings: 
 
Not applicable. 
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4.1.1(o) Revenue and Rating Plan 2021-2025 
 
The Local Government Act 2020 requires each Council to prepare a Revenue and Rating Plan to 
cover a minimum period of four years following each Council election.  The Revenue and Rating 
Plan establishes the revenue raising framework within which the Council proposes to work.   
 
The purpose of the Revenue and Rating Plan is to determine the most appropriate and affordable 
revenue and rating approach for Council which, in conjunction with other income sources, will 
adequately finance the objectives in the Council Plan. 
 
This plan is an important part of Council’s integrated planning framework, all of which is created to 
achieve our vision in the Imagine 2030 Community Plan. 
 

 
 

 
The Revenue and Rating Plan 2021-2025 was adopted by Council on the 26 April 2021.  This plan 
is due to be reviewed and updated in 2025 following the 2024 Council elections. 
 
This plan explains how the funding burden will be apportioned between ratepayers and other users 
of Council facilities and services.  This plan will set out the decisions that Council has made in 
relation to rating options available under local government legislation to ensure the fair and equitable 
distribution of rates across property owners.   
 
At present the legislative provisions that outline rates and charges are still contained in the Local 
Government Act 1989. 
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4.1.1(p) Rate capping 
 
Council has established the rating increase for 2024-25 at 2.75 per cent in line with the rate cap set 
by the Minister of Local Government.  Beyond this period, rates are assumed to increase in line with 
CPI less 0.5 per cent in accordance with recent rate capping directives.  The forward three years of 
the plan (2025-26 to 2027-28) are indicative rate increases only and will be subject to the rate cap 
set by the Minister of Local Government. 
 
Assumed future rate increases 
 

 
 
Council has significant challenges in terms of meeting the asset renewal requirements of a vast 
range of infrastructure that was established in the 1960’s-70’s and which over the next decade will 
reach the end of its useful life.  It will not be possible to meet this challenge with rate increases 
linked solely to CPI or less than CPI.  With Council dealing with grant revenues that do not keep 
pace with CPI and the cost of providing Council services escalating at a rate higher than the CPI, 
this approach is not sustainable. 
 
 
4.1.1(q) Understanding the impact of the 2024 general revaluation 
 
Amendments to the Valuation of Land Act 1960 mean that from 1 July 2018, the Valuer-General 
became the valuation authority for annual valuations of all land in Victoria for council rates and the 
fire services property levy.  Each year, all rateable properties are revalued with a valuation date of 
1 January. 
 
A revaluation does NOT provide Council with any additional rate revenue but can significantly re-
align how rates are distributed between ratepayers at both a rating group and individual level. 
 
The below table highlights the impact of the 2024 Council revaluation. 
 

 
 
The table above highlights that overall Council properties have increased by 3.39 per cent over the 
past year (1 January 2023 to 1 January 2024) and all rating categories have experienced an 
increase. Residential by 2.68%, Commercial 5.11%, Industrial 4.19%, Residential Vacant 4.63% 
and Farm 4.89%.    
 
Council needs to be mindful of the impacts of revaluations on the various property types in 
implementing the differential rating strategy outlined in the previous section to ensure that rises and 
falls in Council rates remain affordable and that rating ‘shocks’ are mitigated to some degree. 
 
  

 Actual Budget
 2023-24  2024-25  2025-26  2026-27  2027-28 

Rate increase 3.50% 2.75% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Projections

Forecast Budget
Type or class of land 2023-24 2024-25 Change

$'000 $'000
General 37,944,050 38,962,630 2.68%
Commercial 5,109,295 5,370,138 5.11%
Industrial 20,960,260 21,838,200 4.19%
Vacant residential 465,813 487,383 4.63%
Farm 429,868 450,883 4.89%

Total value of land 64,909,285 67,109,233 3.39%
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By way of example the table below highlights the rating impact on the various rating types should 
Council retain the current rate differential structure (outcomes are based on the annual increase in 
rates of 2.75 per cent in 2024-25). 
 

 
 
As shown in the table the rating experiences between rating groups is reasonably dynamic with 
residential properties on average increasing by 1.78 per cent and commercial increasing by 4.18 
per cent. 
 
Council has sought a rating model that more evenly applies the proposed rate increase to each of 
the major rating sectors (General, Commercial, and Industrial). 
 
On this basis, the rating strategy recommends the following differential rates be applied.  This model 
results in the average residential rate and commercial rate both being below the rate cap of 2.75 
per cent.  It is recommended that the following differential rates be applied. 
 

 
 
The proposed model above decreases the differential on commercial properties by 5 per cent to 
165 per cent. This moves the average residential rate increase to 2.07 per cent (which is below the 
rate cap of 2.75 per cent).  Commercial rates reduce to 1.41 per cent and industrial rates increase 
slightly from 3.28 to 3.57 per cent.   
 
On this basis, it is recommended that the existing differential rating structures be amended to take 
account of the impacts of the 2024 revaluation. 
 
 
  

Proposed
Type or class of land rates

2024-25
$'000 % increase

General 59,992 1.78%
Commercial 14,057 4.18%
Industrial 70,612 3.28%
Vacant residential 1,126 3.71%
Farm 521 3.97%

Total 146,307 2.75%

Existing Proposed
rating rating

Type or class of land differential differential
2023-24 2024-25 % increase

General 100% 100% 2.07%
Commercial 170% 165% 1.41%
Industrial 210% 210% 3.57%
Vacant residential 150% 150% 4.01%
Farm 75% 75% 4.26%

2.75%
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4.1.1(r) Valuation movements between 2024-25 Proposed Budget and 2024-25 Adopted 
Budget 
 
Valuation figures used in rating income calculations in the 2024-25 Budget are final certified 
valuations provided by the Valuer General’s office.  Overall, the total rates income amount does not 
change.  The changes in valuations and rate in the dollar for each differential category are very 
minor and are detailed in the table below. 
 

 
 
 
4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines  
 
A detailed schedule of fees and charges is contained in Section 6. This schedule highlights the 
GST status of each fee category and whether the fee is determined by Council or is fixed by State 
Government legislation.  
 
The table below shows the statutory fees and fines received by Council with the primary source 
from infringements and costs of $6.36 million plus $1.86 million in Infringement Court (Fines 
Victoria) recoveries expected to be received.  Parking infringements make up $5.33 million of the 
infringements and costs in the 2024-25 Budget with the balance relating to other fines including 
local laws, litter, animal control, food and health.  The increase in infringement income in 2024-25 
is mainly due to health fines based on an estimated critical and major non-compliant businesses 
and litter fines which have been lower in 2023-24 due to a vacant resource.  Building and town 
planning fees represent another major source of statutory fees ($2.03 million).  
 

 
  
 
  

Rating Type

2024-25
Proposed 

Budget
($)

2024-25
Adopted 
Budget

($)
Mvmt

($)

2024-25
Proposed 

Budget
($)

2024-25
Adopted 
Budget

($)
General 38,962,630,000 38,962,630,000 0 0.0015440835 0.0015440904
Commercial 5,370,137,500 5,370,137,500 0 0.0025477378 0.0025477491
Industrial 21,838,400,000 21,838,200,000 (200,000) 0.0032425754 0.0032425898
Res vacant 487,382,500 487,382,500 0 0.0023161253 0.0023161355
Farm 450,882,500 450,882,500 0 0.0011580626 0.0011580678
Total 67,109,432,500 67,109,232,500 (200,000)

Total Value of Land Rate in the $

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Infringements and costs 6,123 6,357 234 3.8%
Court recoveries 1,912 1,861 (51)             (2.7%)
Building and town planning fees 1,831 2,033 202 11.0%
Subdivision fees 191 303 112 58.6%
Land information certificates 104 100 (4)               (3.8%)
Permits 325 318 (7)               (2.2%)
Election fines 53 -             (53)             (100.0%)
Total statutory fees and fines 10,539 10,972 433 4.1%
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4.1.3 User fees 
 
Council derives user fees from several sources including on-street parking, multi-deck car parks, 
aged care services, family day care, asset protection permits, hire of Council halls, meeting rooms 
(Drum Theatre, The Castle).   
 

 
 
User fees are projected to increase by $1.2 million from the 2023-24 Forecast due mainly to:  
 Registrations and other permits (mainly health registrations and streatrader permits as a result 

of compliance inspections of major and critical Food and Health Act breaches and additional 
Streatrader premises). 

 Aged and health services (due to a reduction in service provision activity in 2023-24). 
 
A detailed schedule of fees and charges is contained in Section 6. 
 
 
4.1.4 Grants  
 
Grants are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s budget. 
 
Overall, grant income is anticipated to increase in the 2024-25 Budget due mainly to the timing of 
Victoria Local Government Grants Commission (VLGGC) Financial Assistance grant funding, partly 
offset by a number of non-recurrent grants occurring in 2023-24 that will not continue in 2024-25, 
particularly in capital grants. 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Aged and health services 927 1,332 405 43.7%
Child care/children's programs 1,613 1,694 81 5.0%
Parking 3,208 3,403 195 6.1%
Registration and other permits 2,113 2,655 542 25.7%
Asset protection fees 425 428 3 0.7%
Other fees and charges 323 300 (23)             (7.1%)
Total user fees 8,609 9,812 1,203 14.0%

Forecast Budget
2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants 19,388 27,797 8,409 43.4%
State funded grants 20,380 16,044 (4,336) (21.3%)
Total grants 39,768 43,841 4,073 10.2%
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Operating grants 
 
Operating grants include all monies received from State and Commonwealth sources, as well as 
some grants from other organisations, for the purposes of funding the delivery of Council’s services 
to ratepayers.   
 
The following table lists all operating grants by type and source, classified into recurrent and non-
recurrent. 
 

 
 
 
Recurrent operating grants 
 
Recurrent operating grants are projected to increase by $11.2 million compared to the 2023-24 
Forecast due mainly to the Financial Assistance Grant (refer to table on following page).  This grant 
is a general-purpose grant that is not tied to specific programs and includes a component for roads 
maintenance.   
 
The early distribution of 100 per cent of the initial Financial Assistance grant allocation in 2022-23 
resulted in a minor remaining balance of $568,000 (final confirmed allocation) being included in the 
2023-24 Forecast.  A full year’s allocation (100 per cent) of Financial Assistance grant funding is 
included in the 2024-25 Budget which results in a $12.50 million increase from the 2023-24 
Forecast.  Excluding the effect of the timing of Financial Assistance grants, the movement in 
recurrent operating grant income is actually a decrease of $520,000 or 2 per cent.   
 
The amount included in the 2024-25 Budget for Financial Assistance Grant funding is based on the 
actual 2023-24 Financial Assistance grant funding received indexed by an assumed 1 per cent.  At 
the time of writing this report, Council received advice about its indicative grant allocation for 2024-
25 which is forecast to be favourable against budget projections.  This has not been reflected in the 
2024-25 Budget as the amounts are indicative and not confirmed (will be adjusted in the Mid-Year 
Budget).   
  

Forecast Budget
2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %

(a) Operating grants

Recurrent

Commonwealth Government
Financial Assistance Grant 568 13,069 12,501 2200.9%
Home and Community Care 5,448 7,510 2,062 37.8%
Family Day Care 7,000 5,925 (1,075) (15.4%)
Libraries 252 252 -            0.0%
Community Health 16 18 2 12.5%

State Government
Home and Community Care 1,833 931 (902) (49.2%)
Maternal and Child Health 3,432 2,517 (915) (26.7%)
Family and Children Services 2,986 2,515 (471) (15.8%)
Libraries 1,116 1,127 11 1.0%
School crossings 540 473 (67) (12.4%)
Environment 85 87 2 2.4%
Education and employment 320 326 6 1.9%
Community Health 262 263 1 0.4%
Emergency management -            40 40 100.0%

Total recurrent operating grants 23,858 35,053 11,195 46.9%
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In addition, Home and Community Care grant income is expected to increase by $1.16 million in 
the 2024-25 Budget due to improved grant funding expectations for general, personal and respite 
home care, property maintenance and food services, partly offset by a reduction in Regional 
Assessment Services funding of $786,000 due to the State Government contract ending 30 June 
2024.  The improved grant funding expectations are mainly due to a recent change in the acquittal 
process and the ability to claim specific costs in addition to target unit rates. 
 
These increases are partly offset by the following decreases: 

 

 Lower Family Day Care grant funding ($1.08 million) anticipated to be received in the 2024-25 
Budget due to additional funding received for an expanded program in 2023-24, that is not 
anticipated to occur again in 2024-25. 
 

 A delay in progression of the Sleep and Settling program due to difficulties in recruiting skilled 
staff which has resulted in a carry-over of grant funding to 2023-24 ($839,000). 
 

 A decrease in Family and Children’s Services mainly due to the Child First program funding as 
a result of a one-off grant funding increase in 2023-24 ($405,000). 

 
 

 
 
 
Non-recurrent operating grants 
 

The reduction in non-recurrent operating grant funding of $1.92 million is due mainly to grant funding 
or grant funded programs that will conclude in 2023-24 including: 
 

 Several Family and Children Services grant funded initiatives including:  

o New Directions – Mothers and Babies ($352,000). 
o Market Street Occasional Child Care Centre – Operational ($220,000) 
o Kindergarten Modelling ($170,000) 
o Outreach Support Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) ($120,000) 

Forecast Budget
2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %

(a) Operating grants

Non recurrent

Commonwealth Government
Family and Children Services 392 -            (392) (100.0%)
Community Health 60 -            (60) (100.0%)
Home and Community Care 18 -            (18) (100.0%)
COVID Safety and Support 8 5 (3) (37.5%)

State Government
Community Health 304 81 (223) (73.4%)
Family and Children Services 610 41 (569) (93.3%)
COVID Safety and Support 60 -            (60) (100.0%)
Environment 386 -            (386) (100.0%)
Community Safety 200 20 (180) (90.0%)
Libraries 20 -            (20) (100.0%)
Maternal and Child Health 16 16 -            0.0%
Noble Park Revitalisation Program 6 -            (6) (100.0%)
Animal Management 2 -            (2) (100.0%)

Total non-recurrent operating grants 2,082 163 (1,919) (92.2%)

Total operating grants 25,940 35,176 9,236 35.6%
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 Several projects that are expected to finish in 2023-24: 

o Local Government Capacity Building ($212,000). 
o PRIME Refugee Immunisation program ($301,000) 
o Empowering Communities ($200,000) 

 A number of non-recurrent grant projects in 2023-24 relating to the Liveable Communities, 
Liveable Waterways Program ($164,000). 

 
 
Capital grants 
 
Capital grants include all monies received from State, Commonwealth, and community sources for 
the purposes of funding the capital works program.  Overall, the level of capital grants has 
decreased by $5.20 million compared to the 2023-24 Forecast.  A list of capital grants by type and 
source, classified into recurrent and non-recurrent, is included below. 
 

 
 
Note re Roads to Recovery – At the time of writing this report, Council has had recent advice that it will 
receive $8.96 million for the five-year funding period 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2029.  This has not yet been 
reflected in Council’s 2024-25 Budget or Long Term Financial Plan 2025-2034 as the annual allocations 
over the five year period are currently being determined.  To be eligible for this funding, certain conditions 
must be followed, and audited annual reports submitted.   
 
 

Forecast Budget
2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %

(b) Capital grants

Recurrent

Commonwealth Government
Roads to Recovery 905 -            (905) (100.0%)

Total recurrent capital grants 905 -            (905) (100.0%)

Non recurrent

Commonwealth Government

Local Roads Community Infrastructure 
Program 808 1,018 210 26.0%
Black Spot Program 3,913 -            (3,913) (100.0%)

State Government
Buildings 5,211 7,107 1,896 36.4%
Recreational, Leisure and Community 
Facilities 990 500 (490) (49.5%)
Noble Park Revitalisation Program 867 -            (867) (100.0%)
Parks, Open Space and Streetscapes 912 -            (912) (100.0%)
Leasehold Improvements 172 -            (172) (100.0%)
Plant, Machinery and Equipment 50 -            (50) (100.0%)

Total non-recurrent capital grants 12,923 8,625 (4,298) (33.3%)

Total capital grants 13,828 8,625 (5,203) (37.6%)
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The reduction of $5.20 million in the 2024-25 Budget is due mainly to several capital grants that are 
not expected to continue in the 2024-25 financial year including: 
 
 Keysborough South Community Hub ($3.72 million) 
 Black Spot Works Program ($3.91 million) 
 A range of projects at Springvale Reserve ($2 million) 
 Noble Park Revitalisation Program ($867,000) 
 Precinct Energy Plant (PEP) Redevelopment ($727,000) 
 
Partly offset by forecast grant funding for the Dandenong Wellbeing Centre major project in 2024-
25 ($7.1 million). 
 
 
4.1.5 Contributions 
 

 
 
The $3.14 million increase in contributions is mainly attributable to a Development Contribution Plan  
contribution (levies) in 2024-25 for the Keysborough South Community Hub capital project. 
 
Also included in monetary contributions are public open space contributions.  Depending on the 
amount of development activity in progress, Council receives contributions from developers.  These 
represent funds to enable Council to improve the necessary integrated infrastructure for new 
developments.  They are for very specific purposes and often require Council to outlay funds for 
infrastructure works some time before the receipt of these contributions.  These contributions are 
statutory contributions and are transferred to reserves until utilised for a complying purpose through 
the capital works program.  Both the 2024-25 Budget and the 2023-24 Forecast estimate that the 
level of open space contributions will be around $2 million which will be transferred to reserves. 
 
The non-monetary contributions (non-cash) primarily relate to the Development Contribution Plan’s 
(DCP) in Dandenong South and Keysborough and will be in the form of infrastructure assets (gifted 
assets).  Non-monetary assets are difficult to budget and cannot be accurately predicted.  This is a 
non-cash accounting entry. 
 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Monetary 4,536 7,676 3,140 69.2%
Non-monetary 7,500 7,500 -             0.0%
Total contributions 12,036 15,176 3,140 26.1%
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4.1.6 Other income 
 

 
 
The decrease in other income of $3.75 million in 2024-25 compared to the 2023-24 Forecast is due 
to several factors: 
 
 The sustained high interest rates in the current year (2023-24) combined with higher than 

anticipated funds available for investment (due mainly to delayed capital expenditure) have 
resulted in an estimated $9.1 million in interest on investments this year.  Interest rates are 
expected to drop over the next financial year combined with reduced funds available for 
investment due to the progression of major capital works projects, resulting in a lower estimate 
of interest returns in 2024-25 ($6.8 million).  The outlook for inflation and in turn interest rates 
has evolved considerably over the past two years and is closely being monitored. 
 

 Lower recovery income in 2024-25 for Spring Valley Landfill due mainly to works expected to 
be completed in 2023-24.  The cost of these works is offset by recovery income from partner 
councils (80.12 per cent is recovered) and a transfer from reserves for Council’s share.  The 
level of recovery income in 2024-25 reduces by $881,000 from 2023-24 based on a reduction 
in the landfill rehabilitation costs required.  Future costs (lower) mainly comprise monitoring. 

 
 Lower insurance recovery income in relation to recoverable legal costs for a health matter than 

is now finalised ($516,000). 
 

 Natural disaster recovery income ($375,000) in 2023-24 relating to the storm event that 
occurred in February 2024 and is not budgeted on an ongoing basis. 

 
Partly offset by: 
 
 A new rental income stream in relation to the Container Deposit Scheme (CDS) which has 

been established in several Council car parks.  This income combined with the residential 
waste charge offsets Council’s waste management costs. 

 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Interest on investments 9,100 6,800 (2,300)        (25.3%)
Dandenong Market rental 238 322 84 35.3%
Property rental 1,654 1,706 52 3.1%
Other rent 937 897 (40)             (4.3%)
Recoveries 3,284 1,485 (1,799)        (54.8%)
Other 474 725 251 53.0%
Total other income 15,687 11,935 (3,752)        (23.9%)
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Expenditure 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

Notes 2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Employee costs 4.1.7 102,030 99,649 (2,381) (2.3%)
Materials and services 4.1.8 90,699 88,357 (2,342) (2.6%)
Depreciation 4.1.9 34,201 34,885 684 2.0%
Depreciation - right of use assets 4.1.10 598 598 0 0.0%
Allowance for impairment losses 4.1.11 2,490 2,026 (464) (18.6%)
Borrowing costs 2,537 3,184 647 25.5%
Finance costs - leases 52 55 3 5.8%
Other expenses 4.1.12 5,473 5,180 (293) (5.4%)
Total expenses 238,080 233,934 (4,146)        (1.7%)
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4.1.7 Employee costs 
 
Employee costs include salaries and Council's statutory obligations in providing WorkCover 
insurance, employer superannuation, leave entitlements including leave loading and long service 
leave as well as staff development and training costs.  These costs are largely driven by Council’s 
Enterprise Agreement (EA).  The Enterprise Agreement 2022 was approved by the Fair Work 
Commission and is consistent with the rate cap for 2024-25 (2.75 per cent).  Annual award increases 
for banded staff also contribute to an increase in employee costs.   
 
Resource increases in relation to areas where Council annually inherits new service requirements, 
such as areas of parklands handed from developers has also been provided for.  The 2024-25 
Budget also includes increased resources in the areas of community safety, child safety and rating 
legislation and operation of the new Keysborough South Community Hub due to open late 2024-
25.   
 
The compulsory Superannuation Guarantee Scheme rate is expected to increase from 11 per cent 
to 11.5 per cent in 2024-25. 
 
The decrease from the 2023-24 Forecast to the 2024-25 Budget is mainly due to a number of 
Community Strengthening programs with carry overs of unspent grant funds contributing to the 
higher level of employee costs in 2023-24.  This is combined with forecast savings in 2023-24 due 
to a delay in the recruitment of vacant positions caused by a variety of reasons including skilled staff 
shortages, ageing workforce, staff taking parental leave, extended leave or leave without pay. 
 
A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure 
of Council is included below: 
 

 
 
A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above 
expenditure is included below: 
 

 
 
 
  

Budget Permanent Permanent
Directorate 2024-25 Full time Part time

$'000 $'000 $'000
CEO Services 6,441                   5,787                   654                      

City Futures 31,528                 29,919                 1,609                   

Community Strengthening 45,004                 25,668                 19,337                 

Corporate Development 11,884                 9,927                   1,957                   

Total permanent staff expenditure 94,857                 71,301                 23,557                 

Casuals and other expenditure 4,792                   

Total employee cost expenditure 99,649                 

Comprises

Budget Permanent Permanent
Directorate 2024-25 Full time Part time

FTE FTE FTE
CEO Services 42.8                     38.0                     4.8                       

City Futures 260.2                   245.6                   14.6                     

Community Strengthening 396.3                   212.3                   184.0                   

Corporate Development 90.2                     71.6                     18.6                     

Total permanent staff 789.5                   567.5                   222.0                   

Casual staff 4.8                       

Total staff 794.3                   

Comprises
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4.1.8 Materials and services 
 
Materials and services represent the materials and consumables required for maintenance and 
repair of Council buildings, roads, drains, footpaths, playground equipment and occupancy costs 
including utilities.  Other costs included are a range of expert services to assist in systems related 
advice and support, audit services, debt collection, and legal services.  It also includes the cost of 
materials used in providing home-based community care and food services to the aged community.  
The majority of contract costs were increased by the forecast CPI (3.25 per cent) in the 2024-25 
Budget.   
 

 
 
There is a decrease in Materials and Services of $2.34 million in 2024-24, mainly as a result of: 
 

 Consultants and professional services (decrease of $3.65 million) 

o Lower consultants, professional services and contractor costs ($2.74 million) mainly 
relating to non-recurrent operating projects and initiatives in 2023-24, that are not 
expected to occur again in 2024-25, or if they are, at a lower amount: 

 Grant funded: Market Street Occasional Child Care Centre ($280,000), Local 
Government Capacity Building project ($236,000), Community Revitalisation 
($177,000), PEP Creative Activation ($82,000), 3-Year-Old Kindergarten Planning 
($82,000), Drug Strategy ($77,000), New Directions – Mothers and Children 
($61,000), Indian Cultural Precinct ($45,000), Child First ($41,000) and Empowering 
Communities ($40,000). 

 Non-recurrent operating projects / initiatives: Strategic projects and initiatives 
($576,000), Dandenong Civic Centre rectification works ($200,000), CCTV mobile 
trailer donation to Victoria Police ($190,000), Aged Care Reform review which is 
funded from reserves ($180,000), Vanity Lane building demolition ($92,000), 
Feasibility Study Afghan Community ($75,000), Community Facilities Framework 
review ($44,000) and Lois Twohig Reserve Master Plan development ($40,000),  

o A decrease in legal costs ($916,000) due mainly to a health matter that is expected to 
finalise in 2023-24 and also to lower forecast legal advice and services in 2024-25 in the 
People and Change, Statutory Planning and Health areas ($192,000). 

 

 Information technology (increase of $1.53 million): 

o Replacement of the Computron finance system including licensing ($743,000). 

o Increased investment in digital transformation initiatives, costs to support Council's 
customer portal and Artificial Intelligence (AI) bot ($400,000).   

o Implementation and expansion of systems and technologies (eg. Payble and Experian) 
($166,000). 

o One off amount of $150,000 for UPS replacement and microwave radio replacement at 
Balmoral and Tatterson Park.   

Forecast

Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %
Contract payments 60,190 59,889 (301)           (0.5%)
Materials and services 6,928 6,626 (302)           (4.4%)
Office administration 5,030 4,871 (159)           (3.2%)
Consultants and professional services 7,432 3,783 (3,649)        (49.1%)
Utilities 4,067 4,339 272 6.7%
Information technology 5,243 6,773 1,530 29.2%
Insurance 1,809 2,076 267 14.8%
Total materials and services 90,699 88,357 (2,342)        (2.6%)
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4.1.9  Depreciation 
 
Depreciation measures the allocation of the value of an asset over its useful life for Council’s 
property, plant and equipment, including infrastructure assets such as roads and drains, from 
delivering services to the community.   
 

 
 
The increase of $684,000 for 2024-25 is based on a revised estimate considering several factors 
including the current property, infrastructure, plant and equipment balances in the asset register 
and the anticipated impact of the capital works program. 
 
 
4.1.10  Depreciation – Right of use assets 
 
Amortisation of right of use assets relates to eligible assets leased by Council. 
 

 
 
 
4.1.11  Allowance for impairment losses 
 
Allowance for impairment losses represent bad and doubtful debts expense.  Primarily relates to 
parking fines forwarded to Fines Victoria for collection and an assessment of collection rates.  
Higher amounts of bad and doubtful parking infringements are expected to occur in 2023-24. 
 

 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Property 7,153 7,296 143 2.0%
Plant and equipment 3,956 4,035 79 2.0%
Infrastructure 23,092 23,554 462 2.0%
Total depreciation 34,201 34,885 684 2.0%

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Right of use assets 598 598 -             0.0%
Total Depreciation - right of use assets 598 598 -             0.0%

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Allowance for impairment losses 2,490 2,026 (464)           (18.6%)
Total Allowance for impairment losses 2,490 2,026 (464)           (18.6%)
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4.1.12  Other expenses 
 
This expenditure category includes other expenses such as lease rentals, audit costs, Councillor 
allowances and Council election costs.  The community grants program which funds diverse 
community groups towards promoting sporting, religious, cultural and leisure activities within the 
city is also provided for under this category.  Costs associated with the Fire Services Property Levy 
on Council owned properties are also included in this category. 
 

 
 
The $293,000 decrease in other expenses is due to: 
 
 Grant funded program expenditure for the PYP Linkages program ($414,000), Regional 

Assessment Services (RAS) Surge ($92,000), Empowering Communities ($80,000) and 
Community Revitalisation ($29,000) that is not expected to continue in 2024-25. 
 

 One-off contribution of 2 x CCTV mobile trailers to the Victoria Police in 2023-24 ($190,000). 
 
Partly offset by: 
 
 Council election costs for the 2024 election that occurs every four years ($579,000).      
 
 

  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the 
financial statements, performance statement and 
grant acquittal 81 84 3 3.7%
Auditors' remuneration - internal 164 169 5 3.0%
Councillor allowances 536 559 23 4.3%
Council election 171 750 579 338.6%
Operating lease/rentals 663 704 41 6.2%
Other expenses 1,062 296 (766)           (72.1%)
Fire services property levy 217 220 3 1.4%
Contributions 264 103 (161)           (61.0%)
Community grants and contributions 2,315 2,295 (20)             (0.9%)
Total other expenses 5,473 5,180 (293)           (5.4%)
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4.2  Balance Sheet 
 
This section of the Budget report analyses the movements in assets, liabilities and equity between 
the 2023-24 Forecast and the 2024-25 Budget. 

 
4.2.1 Assets 
 

 
 
 
Current assets include cash, investments and receivables, which include outstanding rate arrears.  
The decrease between the two years of $8.82 million is due mainly to a reduction in cash and cash 
equivalent balances partly offset by an increase in trade and other receivables. 
 
In the post pandemic, current high interest rate environment, Council’s anticipates that rate arrears 
will continue to remain high in 2024-25.  The Local Government Legislation Amendment (Rating 
and Other Matters) Act 2022 restricts Council’s ability to recover and charge interest on unpaid rates 
and charges. 
 
Non-current assets represent Council’s fixed assets such as land, buildings, roads, drains and 
footpaths.  The $65.93 million increase in property, infrastructure, plant and equipment is 
attributable to $98.47 million in capital expenditure (refer Section 4.5 – Capital Works Program for 
a detailed listing of projects) combined with the receipt of assets primarily from developers through 
their obligations under the two Development Contribution Plans ($7.5 million).  This increase is 
partly offset by $34.89 million in depreciation expenditure. 
 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 60,233 50,429 (9,804)        (16.3%)
Trade and other receivables 31,228 32,208 980 3.1%
Other financial assets 102,000 102,000 -             0.0%
Prepayments 4,524 4,524 -             0.0%
Other assets 3,580 3,580 -             0.0%
Total current assets 201,565 192,741 (8,824)        (4.4%)

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 273 273 -             0.0%
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2,563,841 2,629,770 65,929 2.6%
Investment property 6,575 6,575 -             0.0%
Right-of-use assets 1,656 1,758 102 6.2%
Intangible assets 25 25 -             0.0%
Total non-current assets 2,572,370 2,638,401 66,031 2.6%
Total assets 2,773,935 2,831,142 57,207 2.1%
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4.2.2 Liabilities 
 

 
 
Current liabilities represent obligations that Council must pay within the next year and include 
borrowings, annual leave and long service leave entitlements, contract and other liabilities (eg – 
unearned income), trust monies and payables to suppliers.   
 
The increase in liabilities of 13.4% reflects new borrowings of $21.92 million partly offset by 
repayment of existing borrowings.   
 
$5.12 million of $6.12 million in borrowings approved in the 2023-24 Budget from the State 
Government’s Community Infrastructure Loan Scheme, have now been subsequently deferred to 
2024-25 due to a delay in the Keysborough South Community Hub major project.  $1 million is 
expected to be drawn down in 2023-24. 
 
The remaining increase in current liabilities in 2024-25 is due to higher trade and other payables. 
 
Non-current liabilities are obligations that will be satisfied at some point after 12 months and include 
long term borrowings and long service leave entitlements for staff.   
 
 
4.2.3 Borrowings 
 

 

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 29,377 32,942 3,565 12.1%
Trust funds and deposits 6,159 6,359 200 3.2%
Contract and other liabilities 58,816 58,616 (200)           (0.3%)
Provisions 21,127 21,998 871 4.1%
Interest-bearing liabilities 3,748 4,802 1,054 28.1%
Lease liabilities 545 541 (4)               (0.7%)
Total current liabilities 119,772 125,258 5,486 4.6%

Non-current liabilities
Trust funds and deposits 2,112 2,181 69 3.3%
Provisions 1,215 1,187 (28)             (2.3%)
Interest-bearing liabilities 43,434 60,339 16,905 38.9%
Lease liabilities 1,031 1,025 (6)               (0.6%)
Total non-current liabilities 47,792 64,732 16,940 35.4%
Total liabilities 167,564 189,990 22,426 13.4%

Forecast

Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the 
prior year 49,779 47,182 65,141 97,092 105,357

Amount proposed to be borrowed 1,000 21,920 37,100 14,950 -           

Amount projected to be redeemed (3,597)      (3,961)      (5,149)      (6,685)      (7,670)      

Amount of borrowings as at 30 June 47,182 65,141 97,092 105,357 97,686

Projections
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Debt Strategy - Council philosophy on using loan borrowings 
 
Many Victorian Councils are debt averse and view the achievement of a low level of debt or even 
debt free status as a primary goal.  Others see the use of loan funding as being a critical component 
of the funding mix to deliver much needed infrastructure to the community. 
 
The use of loans to fund capital expenditure can be an effective mechanism of linking the payment 
for the asset (via debt redemption payments) to the successive Council populations who receive 
benefits over the life of that asset.  This matching concept is frequently referred to as ‘inter-
generational equity’. 
 
Greater Dandenong City Council has accessed debt funding in the past years to complete a range 
of major infrastructure projects including the construction of the Springvale Community Hub and 
Library, Dandenong Civic Centre and Library, redevelopment of the Drum Theatre, Dandenong 
Market and Noble Park Aquatic Centre that will be enjoyed by the populations of the future (refer 
table below).   
 

 
 

One of the key considerations for Council in the application of future loan borrowing is the premise 
that its long-term financial strategies should strive for a financial structure where its annual 
operational and asset renewal needs can be met from annual funding sources.  That is, Council 
does not have to access funding from non-renewable sources such as loans, asset sales or 
reserves to meet its annual expenditure needs. 
 

 
Proposed future borrowings 
 
Borrowings of $21.92 million are forecast in the 2024-25 Budget to fund the following major projects: 
 

 Dandenong Wellbeing Centre - $16.80 million.  The significant replacement of Dandenong 
Oasis estimated to cost over $98 million, will be part funded by proposed new borrowings of 
$48.85 million over the three years commencing 2024-25.  This project is still subject to final 
tender outcomes. 
 

 Keysborough South Community Hub - $5.12 million.  This was approved in the 2023-24 budget 
from the State Government’s Community Infrastructure Loan program and has been deferred 
to 2024-25 as the project has experienced delays. 

 
Further borrowings are also forecast in future years to fund the construction of the new Dandenong 
Community Hub which will be part funded by borrowings of $20 million ($10 million in 2025-26 and 
in 2027-28). 
 
Council has previously relied on a strategy of ensuring its ‘Indebtedness to Rate Revenue’ ratio is 
ideally around the 40 per cent mark prior to undertaking new borrowings.  Giving consideration to 
community need for redevelopment of the ageing Dandenong Oasis and a Community Hub in 
Dandenong, Council has opted to procure new borrowings to finance these major projects.  This 
strategy allows Council to borrow for major projects but also to then retain a gap between the ratio 
and the 60 per cent level, allowing Council room to respond to unforeseen circumstances.  This 
could include matching large stimulus funding to deliver another project or to responding to 
emerging situations. 

Project
Total cost
($ million)

Loan funds 
used 

($ million)
Drum Theatre 13.0 9.0
Dandenong Market 26.0 20.0
Noble Park Aquatic Centre 21.0 5.0
Dandenong Civic Centre 65.5 47.2
Springvale Community Hub 52.7 20.0

Total 178.2 101.2
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Greater Dandenong Council will continue to consider debt for major community assets in 
accordance with the above guidelines.  All projects are subject to community consultation, 
Council review and funding.  Council will also seek to maximise external funding opportunities 
having regard to the financial impacts and outcomes for the community.   
 
 

Prudential debt limits 
 

Utilisation of debt funding is an appropriate means of funding capital projects.  It is crucial however 
that Council remain within prudential debt limits. 
 
The maximum levels of indebtedness are prescribed for Council by way of prudential limits 
established by the State Government.  The three principle prudential limits are: 
 
 Debt servicing (interest repayments) as a percentage of total revenue should not exceed 5 

per cent. 

 Total indebtedness as a percentage of rate revenue should not exceed 80 per cent (with this 
latter prudential limit – where ratios exceed 60 per cent, councils are required to demonstrate 
long-term strategies to reduce indebtedness prior to undertaking further borrowings). 

 Working capital ratio (current assets/current liabilities) to remain in excess of 1.0. 

 
Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV) loans 
 
Recently, the Victorian Government has approved the Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV) to 
become a direct lender to councils.  This framework will enable Victorian councils to access low-
interest loans and achieve interest cost savings.   
 
Local Government as an industry has been relatively debt averse over the past decade with several 
councils seeking debt free status.  In benchmarking with thirteen other councils within the Eastern 
Melbourne metropolitan grouping, the City of Greater Dandenong has consistently been in the top 
one or two councils in terms of its debt levels in pure dollar terms.   
 
The TCV have two financial covenant requirements for councils to comply with if undertaking 
borrowings with the TCV: 
 
 Interest cover ratio – earnings before interest, depreciation/amortisation and non-cash 

contributions compared to interest expense (on borrowings and leases).  The ratio result is 
not to be less than 2:1. 
 

 Financial indebtedness ratio – total interest-bearing loans and borrowings including leases 
over own-source revenue.  The ratio result is not to exceed 60 per cent. 

 
In terms of highlighting the impact of Council’s current borrowings portfolio on Council’s 
indebtedness to rates ratio, the following table provides these outcomes.  It also shows TCV 
financial covenant ratios which are calculated slightly differently to the prudential limits.  These 
financial covenant ratios must remain with the limits for the life of the loan agreement with TCV.   
 
The below table shows Council will remain within the financial covenant limits defined by TCV.  
Council was successful in obtaining a $6.12 million loan via the Community Infrastructure Loan 
Scheme for the Keysborough Community Hub which is expected to be drawn down as follows: 
 
 $1 million in June 2024 (2024-25). 
 
 $5.12 million in January 2025 (2025-26).   
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Impact of future borrowings on prudential limits 
 

In terms of highlighting the impact of these borrowings on Council’s Indebtedness to rates ratio, the 
following table provides these outcomes.  Projected future borrowings have been structured to 
ensure at no point does Council exceed the prudential limit of an indebtedness level in excess of 
80 per cent of annual rate revenue.   
 

 
 

 
The above table highlights that whilst Council forecasts significant new borrowings in the 
forthcoming years to part fund noteworthy capital investment, Council’s debt ratios as per the Local 
Government Performance Reporting Framework (LGPRF) and the Treasury Corporation of Victoria 
(TCV) are within prudential limits over the budget period. 
 

 
 

  

Financial
year 

ending

New/
refinance

borrowings
$'000

Principal 
paid
$'000

Interest 
expense

$'000

Balance 
30 June

$'000

LGPRF 
Liquidity 

Ratio

LGPRF Debt 
Mgmt Ratio

Debt 
Servicing 

Ratio

TCV Interest 
Cover Ratio

TCV Financial 
Indebted-
ness Ratio

2024 1,000          3,597         2,537         47,182        168% 27.9% 2.4% 15.8           23.6%

2025 21,920         3,961         3,184         65,141        154% 37.3% 2.7% 18.3           31.8%

2026 37,100         5,149         4,973         97,092        147% 53.9% 3.8% 11.2           45.9%

2027 14,950         6,685         6,304         105,357      150% 56.6% 4.8% 8.7             48.4%

2028 -              7,670         6,357         97,686        153% 50.8% 5.2% 8.1             43.8%

2029 -              8,085         5,879         89,601        156% 45.2% 5.0% 8.9             39.1%

2030 -              7,271         5,409         82,330        158% 40.2% 4.4% 10.2           35.0%

2031 -              6,662         4,978         75,669        159% 35.8% 4.0% 11.3           31.3%

2032 -              7,088         4,556         68,580        161% 31.5% 3.9% 12.6           27.6%

2033 -              7,530         4,101         61,051        162% 27.2% 3.7% 14.1           23.9%

2034 -              8,004         3,621         53,047        165% 22.9% 3.6% 16.6           20.2%

Prudential ratio limits: Risk assessment criteria High Below 110% Above 80% Above 10% Less than 2 Above 60%

Medium 110% - 120% 60% - 80% 5% - 10%

Low Above 120% Below 60% Below 5%

Treasury Corp Victoria

LGPRF Liquidity ratio

Current assets compared to current liabilities

= (Current assets / Current liabilities)

LGPRF Debt management

Loans and borrowings compared to rates

Debt servicing

Borrowing costs compared to rates

= (Interest expense  / Rates and charges less Keysborough Maintenance Levy)

TCV Interest Cover Ratio

Ratio of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) to interest expenses.

TCV Financial Indebtedness Ratio

Value of interest bearing loans and borrowings as a percentage of own source revenue

= (Current + Non‐current Interest bearing liabilities / Rates and charges less Keysborough Maintenance 

Levy)

= (Net surplus ‐ interest income ‐ non‐monetary contributions + borrowing costs + finance lease costs + 

depreciation and amortisation) / (Borrowing costs + finance lease costs)

= (Current + Non‐current Interest bearing liabilities / (Total income ‐ grants operating ‐ grants capital ‐ 

contributions monetary ‐ contributions non‐monetary)
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4.2.4 Leases by category 
 
As a result of the introduction of AASB 16 Leases, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been 
recognised as outlined in the table below. 
 

 
 
 
 

4.3 Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

 
 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

Description 2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Right-of-use assets
Property 1,022            1,085            63 6.2%

Plant and Equipment 634               673               39 6.2%

Total right-of-use assets 1,656            1,758            102 6.2%

Lease liabilities

Current lease liabilities
Property 349               346               (3)                 (0.7%)

Plant and Equipment 196               195               (1)                 (0.7%)

Total current lease liabilities 545               541               (4)                 (0.7%)

Non-current lease liabilities
Property 660               656               (4)                 (0.6%)

Plant and Equipment 371               369               (2)                 (0.6%)

Total non-current lease liabilities 1,031            1,025            (6)                 (0.6%)

Total lease liabilities 1,576            1,566            (10)               (0.6%)

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total surplus reserve reserves

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2024
Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,586,251 968,119 1,530,252 87,880
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 20,120 20,120 -             -             
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) -             -                -             -             
Transfers to other reserves -             (11,519)          -             11,519
Transfers from other reserves -             15,551 -             (15,551)       
Balance at end of the financial year 2,606,371 992,271 1,530,252 83,848

2025
Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,606,371 992,271 1,530,252 83,848
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 34,812 34,812 -             -             
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) -             -                -             -             
Transfers to other reserves 4.3.1 -             (7,476)            -             7,476
Transfers from other reserves 4.3.1 -             20,746 -             (20,746)       
Balance at end of the financial year 4.3.2 2,641,183 1,040,353 1,530,252 70,578
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4.3.1 Reserves 
 

 
 
The $13.27 million decrease in reserves in the 2024-25 Budget is mainly due to $15.21 million in 
transfers from the Major Projects reserve to fund significant capital works projects: 
 

 $8.77 million – Dandenong Wellbeing Centre 
 

 $6.44 million – Keysborough South Community Hub 
 
 
Purpose of reserves 
 
 Major projects reserve - holds proceeds from the sale of Council’s property assets or surplus 

Council funds and will be utilised for investing in other properties or funding future major 
projects. 

 
 Open space - planning, development and improvements  - Funds will be utilised exclusively 

for allocation towards enhancing the City’s open space via planning, development and 
improvements.    

   
 Open space – acquisitions - funds set aside in this reserve will be utilised exclusively for open 

space land acquisitions.  
 
 Development Contribution Plan – Council funded - For Council funded development 

contribution plans holds funds in respect of Council's contribution to the two major 
developments in Dandenong South (C87) and Keysborough (C36).  

 
 Keysborough Maintenance Levy - this reserve has been established to ensure full 

accountability of the levies received for the Keysborough and Somerfield Estates reflecting 
costs of maintaining an additional 15 per cent open space beyond that of traditional estates.
  

 Self-insurance - this fund has been created to meet large and unexpected policy excesses on 
multiple insurance claims. 

 
  

Opening Transfer Transfer Closing

balance to from balance

Reserve 2024-25 reserves reserves 2024-25

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Major projects reserve 46,296 2,341 15,208 33,429

Open space reserve - planning, developments and 
improvements

3,209 2,000 -          5,209

Open space reserve - acquisitions 6,000 -          -          6,000

Development Contribution Plan - Council funded 15,225 400 2,842 12,783

Keysborough Maintenance Levy 2,432 1,735 1,970 2,197

Self insurance 469 -          -          469

Spring Valley Landfill reserve 2,833 -          120 2,713

Springvale Activity Precinct parking and development 236 -          -          236

Dandenong Activity Precinct parking and development 824 1,000 -          1,824

General reserve (aged care) 2,259 -          150 2,109

Future maintenance reserve (LXRA) 3,901 -          412 3,489

Native revegetation reserves 164 -          44 120

Total reserves 83,848 7,476 20,746 70,578
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 Spring Valley Landfill reserve - to rehabilitate the Spring Valley landfill site at Clarke Road, 
Springvale South. 

 
 Springvale Activity Precinct parking and development reserve - to fund development in the 

Springvale Activity Centre.      
 
 Dandenong Activity Precinct parking and development reserve - to fund development in the 

Dandenong Activity Centre.     
 
 General reserve (aged care) - relates to financial impacts of future aged care sector reforms. 
 
 Future maintenance reserve (LXRA) - holds contribution funds for future works to address 

level crossing removal authority defects and asset maintenance obligations.   
     
 Native revegetation reserves - These funds are to meet native re-vegetation requirements on 

Council’s reserves. 
     

 
4.3.2 Equity 
 
Council’s equity represents the difference between assets and liabilities which is expected to grow 
by $34.81 in the 2024-25 financial year. 
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4.4 Statement of Cash Flows 
 
This section analyses the expected cash flows from the operating, investing and financing activities 
of Council.  Budgeting cash flows for Council is a key factor in setting the level of rates and providing 
a guide to the level of capital expenditure that can be sustained with or without using existing cash 
reserves to provide operational cash flow. 
 
The analysis is based on three main categories of cash flows: 
 
 Operating activities – refers to the cash generated or used in the normal service delivery 

functions of Council.  Cash remaining after paying for the provision of services for the 
community may be available for investment in capital works or repayment of debt. 

 
 Investing activities – refers to cash generated or used in the enhancement or creation of 

infrastructure or other assets.  These activities also include the acquisition and sale of other 
assets such as vehicles, property, plant and equipment. 

 
 Financing activities – refers to cash generated or used in the financing of Council functions 

and include borrowings from financial institutions and advancing of repayable loans to other 
organisations.  These activities also include repayment of the principal component of loan 
requirements for the year. 

 
 
4.4.1 Cash flows provided by/used in operating activities 
 

 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows)

Cash flows from operating activities
Rates and charges CF 170,492 175,641 5,149 3.0%
Statutory fees and fines CF 8,049 8,574 525 6.5%
User fees CF 9,923 10,721 798 8.0%
Grants - operating CF 27,211 37,231 10,020 36.8%
Grants - capital CF 12,845 8,625 (4,220)      (32.9%)
Contributions - monetary CF 7,332 7,676 344 4.7%
Interest received CF 9,100 6,800 (2,300)      (25.3%)
Trust funds and deposits taken CF 29,400 29,450 50 0.2%
Other receipts CF 7,532 5,748 (1,784)      (23.7%)
Net GST refund CF 13,864 14,963 1,099 7.9%
Employee costs CF (101,606)   (98,751)      2,855 (2.8%)
Materials and services CF (103,281)   (103,077)     204 (0.2%)
Short-term, low value and variable lease payments (641)         (683)           (42)          6.6%
Trust funds and deposits repaid CF (29,200)     (29,181)      19 (0.1%)
Other payments CF (5,673)       (5,070)        603 (10.6%)
Net cash provided by operating activities 55,347 68,667 13,320 24.1%
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Council is estimating to generate a net cash surplus of $68.67 million from its operations in 2024-
25, an increase of $13.32 million compared to the 2023-24 Forecast.  The increase is due to several 
offsetting factors as outlined below.  
 
Favourable: 
 
 Grants operating ($10.02 million) – higher cash inflows expected for operating grants due 

mainly to timing of Financial Assistance Grant funding.  The 2023-24 grant allocation was 
distributed early in 2022-23, so the 2023-24 Forecast essentially has 0% of this funding, 
compared to 100% in 2024-25.  The 2024-25 Budget expects a return to normal receipt timing. 

 Rates and charges ($5.15 million) - higher expected cash inflows relating to rate revenue 
consistent with the 2.75 per cent rate cap combined with an increase in waste service charges 
to recover higher landfill levy and increased contractor costs. 

 Employee costs ($2.86 million) - the decrease from the 2023-24 Forecast to the 2024-25 
Budget is mainly due to a number of Community Strengthening programs with carry overs of 
unspent grant funds contributing to the higher level of employee costs in 2023-24.   

 
Partly offset by unfavourable variances in: 
 

 A reduction in capital grants income ($4.22 million) due to the non-recurrent nature of such 
funding (refer to section 4.1.4 for further details). 

 Interested received ($2.3 million) due to the favourable interest returns achieved in 2023-24 
as a result of sustained high interest rates and greater than anticipated investment funds 
available due to delayed capital works spending.  The 2024-25 Budget factors in a reduction 
in interest returns based on an assumed two interest rate cuts and lower funding available for 
investment as major capital projects progress. 

 
 

Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) to cash flows from operating activities 
 
The net cash flows from operating activities does not equal the surplus (deficit) as the expected 
revenues and expenses of Council include non-cash items which have been excluded from the 
Cash Flow Statement.  The budgeted operating result is reconciled to the budgeted cash flows 
available from operating activities as set in the following table. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Surplus for the year 20,120 34,812 14,692 73.0%
Depreciation 34,201 34,885 684 2.0%
Depreciation - right of use assets 598 598 -             0.0%
Gain on sale of assets (546)           (833)           (287)           52.6%
Contributions non-monetary (7,500)        (7,500)        -             0.0%
Borrowing costs 2,537 3,184 647 25.5%
Finance costs - leases 52 55 3 5.8%
Net movement in other assets and liabilities 5,885 3,465 (2,420)        (41.1%)
Cash flows available from operating activities 55,347 68,667 13,320 24.1%
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4.4.2 Cash flows provided by/used in investing activities 
 
 

 
 
Investing activities comprise cash inflows from sale of assets and outflows from expenditure on 
purchasing and constructing assets (capital works). 
 
Council will have a net cash outflow from investing activities of $92.48 million in 2024-25, made up 
of cash outflows from investment in capital works of $93.47 million, partly offset by proceeds from 
the sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment.  No major asset sales are forecast in 2024-
25.   
 
The level of cash used in investing activities has increased by $31.02 million from the 2023-24 
Forecast due to a $10.34 million increase in capital work investment combined with lower 
anticipated maturity proceeds from cash invested in term deposits with a maturity of greater than 
90 days.   
 
4.4.3 Cash flows provided by/used in financing activities 
 

 
 
Financing activities relate to cash inflows from any new borrowings and outflows from repayments 
of loan principal and interest.   
 
The increase in cash flows provided by financing activities is due mainly to the $21.92 million in 
proposed loan borrowing proceeds in 2024-25 to part fund major capital projects (Dandenong 
Wellbeing Centre and Keysborough South Community Hub).   

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment (83,131)      (93,474)      (10,343)    12.4%

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 800 993 193 24.1%
Proceeds (payments) for investments 20,869 -             (20,869)    100.0%
Net cash (used in) investing activities (61,462)      (92,481)      (31,019)    50.5%

Forecast
Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 %

Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows)

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance costs CF (2,537)        (3,184)        (647)        25.5%
Proceeds from borrowings 1,000 21,920 20,920 100.0%
Repayment of borrowings (3,597)        (3,961)        (364)        10.1%
Interest paid - lease liability (52)             (55)             (3)            5.8%
Repayment of lease liabilities (710)           (710)           -          0.0%
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing 
activities (5,896)        14,010 19,906 (337.6%)
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4.4.4 Unrestricted and restricted cash and investments 
 
Cash and cash equivalents held by Council are restricted in part, and not fully available for Council’s 
operations.   
 
The budgeted cash flow statement in Section 3 indicates that Council is estimating at 30 June 2025 
it will have cash and investments of $152.43 million, of which $144.89 million or 95 per cent has 
been restricted comprising: 
 
 Statutory reserves ($11.21 million) - These funds comprise open space contributions.  They 

must be applied for specified statutory purposes in accordance with various legislative and 
contractual requirements.  Whilst these funds earn interest revenues for Council, they are not 
available for other purposes. 

 
 Discretionary reserves ($59.37 million) - Funds set aside by Council for a specific purpose but 

are not protected by statute.  $9.73 million of this balance is quarantined to part fund the 
Dandenong Wellbeing Centre in 2025-26. 

 
 Employee entitlements ($22.52 million) - Includes amounts required to meet Council’s long 

service leave, annual leave and rostered day off liabilities.  
 
 Trust funds and deposits ($8.54 million) - Represent monies held in trust to be refunded and 

mainly relate to road deposits, other refundable deposits and fire services property levy. 
 
 Contract and other liabilities ($43.26 million) - Unearned Development Contribution Plan 

(DCP) income which represents DCP income not yet earned and constitute developer monies 
relating to the two major Developer Contribution Plans. 

 
  

ATT 4.1.1.1 Adopted Budget 2024-25

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 224 of 576



City of Greater Dandenong 

 

Budget 2024-25  Page 79 
 

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 G

R
E

A
T

E
R

 D
A

N
D

E
N

O
N

G
 2

02
4-

25
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 

4.5 Capital works program 
 
This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2024-25 
year, classified by expenditure type and funding source.  Works relate to the 2024-25 budget and 
do not represent carry overs from the prior year. 
 
 
4.5.1 Summary of capital works 
 
Total capital expenditure 
 

 
 
 
Capital expenditure by asset type 
 

 
 
 
Capital expenditure by funding source 
 

 
 
 
Current year capital works 
 
A detailed listing of the capital works program for 2024-25 is included on the following pages, 
including classification by expenditure type and funding sources. 
 
Please note that grant funding included in these tables are subject to review and funding body 
approval. 
  

Forecast

Actual Budget

2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %
Property 31,123 58,845 27,722 89.1%

Plant and equipment 5,197 7,471 2,274 43.8%

Infrastructure 46,811 27,158 (19,653)     (42.0%)

Total 83,131 93,474 10,343 12.4%

Project

Cost New Renewal Upgrade Expansion

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Property 58,845 54,881 2,788 1,176 -             

Plant and equipment 7,471 70 7,401 -           -             

Infrastructure 27,158 1,695 17,112 8,351 -             

Total 93,474 56,646 27,301 9,527 -             

Asset expenditure type

Project 
Cost Grants Contrib.

Council 
cash Reserves Borrowings

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Property 58,845 7,107 4,228 10,381 15,209 21,920

Plant and equipment 7,471 184 -           7,287 -           -             

Infrastructure 27,158 1,334 1,448 21,554 2,822 -             

Total 93,474 8,625 5,676 39,222 18,031 21,920

Summary of funding sources
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4.5.3.  Property 
 
The property class comprises land acquisitions, building and building improvements including 
community facilities, sports facilities and pavilions. 
 
The more significant projects in 2024-25 include: 
 
 $35 million Dandenong Wellbeing Centre (DWC) - Construction (partly funded by 

borrowings $16.8 million, reserve transfers $8.77 million and grant funding 
$7.11 million). 

 $19.74 million Keysborough South Community Hub - Construction (partly funded by 
borrowings of $5.12 million and reserve transfers of $6.44 million). 

 $2.14 million Building Renewal Program (including South East Leisure). 
 
 
4.5.4 Plant and equipment 
 
The plant and equipment category includes the ongoing replacement program of Council’s fleet 
$2.98 million, library resources ($1.1 million) and furniture and public art renewal ($165,000).   
 
In addition, there are several projects in the computers and telecommunications class totalling $3.17 
million mainly related to: 
 
 CCTV Safe Cities Renewal and Upgrade $2.1 million (partly funded by grant funding $184,000). 
 Parking Machines $600,000 
 Dandenong Library Book Sorter replacement $250,000 
 
 
4.5.5 Infrastructure  
 
Infrastructure includes roads, bridges, footpaths and cycleways, drainage, recreation, leisure and 
community facilities, parks, open space and streetscapes and off-street car parks. 
 
Most of the expenditure in this category is critical in terms of meeting Council’s asset renewal 
challenge and ensuring a high level of amenity to the residents of City of Greater Dandenong.   
 
The more significant projects in 2024-25 include: 
 
 $12.81 million Road Resurfacing, Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Program (partly 

funded by grant funding $684,000). 

 $4.99 million Perry Road - Construction and Widening from Greens Road to Pacific Drive 
(Stage 2 of 3) – DCP (partly funded by reserves $2.82 million and DCP 
contributions $1.45 million). 

 $1.6 million Drainage Renewal and Reactive Program. 

 $950,195 Parkfield Reserve - Tennis Courts Redevelopment - Northern Courts 
Construction 

 $790,000 Irrigation and/or Sportsground Drainage Renewal Works Program. 

 $757,217 Footpath Renewal Program. 

 $584,200 Greaves Reserve - Oval 4 Lighting Installation Construction 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ATT 4.1.1.1 Adopted Budget 2024-25

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 232 of 576



City of Greater Dandenong 

 

Budget 2024-25  Page 87 
 

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 G

R
E

A
T

E
R

 D
A

N
D

E
N

O
N

G
 2

02
4-

25
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 

4.5.6 Capital works funding sources 
 
Council’s capital expenditure program for 2024-25 will be funded as follows: 
 

 
 
A detailed listing of all projects that comprise the above totals of expenditure for the various asset 
groupings is included in the previous section (4.5.2).   
 
The table above highlights a significant increase in total capital works expenditure from the 2023-
24 Original Budget due to higher borrowings, reserves, contributions and grant funding in 2024-25.   
 
 

 
  

Original

Budget Budget

Sources of funding Ref 2023-24 2024-25 Variance Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 %

External 
Capital grants (a) 5,316 8,625 3,309 62.2%
Capital contributions (b) -             5,676 5,676 100.0%
Borrowings (c) 6,120 21,920 15,800 258.2%
Total external 11,436 36,221 24,785 216.7%

Internal 
Transfer from reserves (d) 6,908 18,031 11,123 161.0%
Council cash (e) 39,987 39,222 (765)           (1.9%)
Total internal 46,895 57,253 10,358 22.1%
Total capital works 58,331 93,474 35,143 60.2%
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(a) Capital grants 
 
Capital grant funding sources for 2024-25 are $8.63 million.  The most significant grants include: 

 

 $7.11 million Federal Government grant funding relating to Dandenong Wellbeing Centre – 
which represents part of a $20 million grant from the Priority Community 
Infrastructure Grant Program. 

 $1.08 million Local Roads Community Infrastructure Program – Phase 4. 

 
(b) Capital contributions 
 
Capital contribution funding of $5.68 million is forecast in 2024-25, which represents Development 
Contribution Plan (DCP) income for Keysborough South Community Hub ($4.23 million) and Perry 
Road ($1.45 million). 
 
(c) Borrowings 
 
Borrowings forecast in 2024-25 relate to: 

 

 $16.8 million Dandenong Wellbeing Centre 

 $5.12 million Keysborough South Community Hub.   
Note – these borrowings are not new and were included in the 2023-24 Budget, 
however, due to a delay in the project, they are now scheduled for 2024-25.  
These loan funds will be sought via the Community Infrastructure Loans 
Scheme (CILS) which was announced in the 2020-21 Victorian State Budget to 
support councils in delivering critical infrastructure to communities across the 
state.  A successful application is hoped to achieve savings through accessing a 
low-interest loan as well as receiving an interest subsidy from the Victorian 
Government. 

 
(d) Reserve funds 
 
The transfer from reserves of $18.03 million comprises: 

 

 DCP Reserve funding of $2.82 million for Perry Road DCP project. 
 

 Major Project Reserve funding of: 
o $8.77 million for Dandenong Wellbeing Centre (DWC) – Construction. 
o $6.44 million for Keysborough South Community Hub. 

 
 

(e)  Rate funding applied to capital works 
 
Funding from rate revenue for capital expenditure in the 2024-25 Budget is $39.22 million, slightly 
down ($765,000) from the 2023-24 Original Budget.  This movement is mainly attributable to several 
operational projects included in 2024-25 (refer to Section 4.7 - Operating Initiatives for details). 
 

 
 

Budget
2024-25 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Capital grants 8,625 8,169 4,724 -             -             
Capital contributions 5,676 -             -             -             -             
Transfer from reserves 18,031 10,731 1,000 1,000 1,000
Loan proceeds 21,920 37,100 14,950 -             -             
Funded from operational surplus 39,222 37,278 38,274 37,343 38,426

Total capital works funding 93,474 93,278 58,948 38,343 39,426

Projections
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4.7 Operating initiatives   
 
Eight operating initiatives have been included in the 2024-25 Budget.  These items either represent 
new or one-off projects/initiatives that are not capital in nature and are therefore not included in the 
Capital Program. 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Operating initiative name and description Duration 2024-25
Budget

$'000

City Futures

Spring Valley Reserve Open Space Master Plan (former landfill site) 1 year 60,000

Cyber Risk High Security Access Upgrade 1 year 95,000

Urban Forest Strategy Implementation - Landscape Improvements 
(seven parks per annum) 1 year 80,000

Noble Park Revitalisation program 1 year 18,000

"Greening Our City" Tree Planting Program 1 year 286,000

Springvale Revitalisation Action Plan (implementation of actions) 1 year 100,000

Gas Transition Feasibility Report - Noble Park Aquatic Centre 1 year 30,000

669,000

Community Strengthening

Heritage Hill Interpretation Plan Development 1 year 15,000

Contribution to Noble Park Country Fire Authority for Automated External 
Defibrillator (AED) Cabinet 1 year 2,000

Community Strengthening 17,000

686,000TOTAL
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5. Performance indicators 
 

5a. Targeted performance indicators 
 
The following tables highlight Council’s current and projected performance across a selection of 
targeted service and financial performance indicators.  These indicators provide a useful analysis 
of Council’s intentions and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the 
organisation’s objectives. 
 
The targeted performance indicators below are the prescribed performance indicators contained in 
Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. Results against 
these indicators and targets will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the 
Annual Report. 
 
Targeted performance indicators – Service 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Dimension / indicator  / measure Actual Forecast Target Trend

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 +/o/-

Governance

Consultation and engagement 
(Council decisions made and 
implemented with community input).

1 59.00 60.00 61.00 62.00 63.00 64.00 +

Satisfaction with community 
consultation and engagement 
Community satisfaction rating out of 
100 with the consultation and 
engagement efforts of Council

Roads

Condition
(sealed local roads are maintained 
at the adopted condition standard)

2 99.13% 95.00% 95.50% 96.00% 96.50% 97.00% +

Sealed local roads below the 
intervention level 
Number of kms of sealed local roads 
below the renewal intervention level set 
by Council / Kms of sealed local roads

Statutory planning

Service standard
(planning application processing and 
decisions are in accordance with 
legislative requirements)

3 93.97% 83.00% 83.00% 83.00% 83.00% 83.00% o

Planning applications decided within 
the relevant required time
Number of planning application 
decisions made within the relevant 
required time / Number of planning 
application decisions made

N
ot

es Target Projections

Key to forecast trend

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

ATT 4.1.1.1 Adopted Budget 2024-25

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 239 of 576



City of Greater Dandenong 

 

Budget 2024-25  Page 94 
 

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 G

R
E

A
T

E
R

 D
A

N
D

E
N

O
N

G
 2

02
4-

25
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 

 

 
 
 
Targeted performance indicators - Financial 
 

 

 
 
 

Dimension / indicator  / measure Actual Forecast Target Trend

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 +/o/-

Waste management

Waste diversion
(amount of waste diverted from 
landfill is maximised)

4 45.25% 47.00% 48.00% 49.00% 50.00% 51.00% +

Kerbside collection waste diverted from 
landfill
Weight of recyclables and green 
organics collected from kerbside bins / 
Weight of garbage, recyclables and 
green organics collected from kerbside 
bins

N
ot

es Target Projections

Key to forecast trend

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

Dimension / indicator  / measure Actual Forecast Target Trend

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 +/o/-

Liquidity

Working Capital 
(sufficient working capital is 
available to pay bills as and when 
they fall due)

5 205.57% 168.29% 153.91% 147.48% 150.15% 153.34% o

Current assets compared to current 
liabilities
Current assets / current liabilities

Obligations

Asset renewal and upgrade
(assets are renewed and upgraded 
as planned)

6 121.50% 169.23% 105.57% 216.88% 118.71% 90.09% -

Asset renewal and upgrade compared 
to depreciation
Asset renewal and upgrade expense / 
Asset depreciation

Stability

Rates concentration
(revenue is generated from a range 
of sources)

7 68.32% 72.54% 71.22% 72.04% 72.67% 73.21% -

Rates compared to adjusted underlying 
revenue
Rate revenue / adjusted underlying 
revenue

Efficiency

Expenditure level
(resources are used efficiently in 
the delivery of services)

8 $3,354.91 $3,478.62 $3,396.60 $3,461.38 $3,529.76 $3,601.87 -

Expenses per property assessment
Total expenses / no. of property 
assessments

N
ot

es Target Projections

Key to forecast trend

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator
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5b.  Financial performance indicators 
 
The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key 
financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a useful analysis of Council’s financial 
position and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives. 
 
The financial performance indicators below are the prescribed financial performance indicators 
contained in Part 3 of Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 
2020.  Results against these indicators will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement 
included in the Annual Report. 
 

 
 

 
  

Dimension / indicator  / measure Actual Forecast Budget Trend

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 +/o/-

Operating position

Adjusted underlying result
(an adjusted underlying surplus is 
generated in the ordinary course of 
business)

Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)
Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / 
Adjusted underlying revenue

9 3.04% (2.02%) 4.50% 4.12% 4.02% 3.87% o

Liquidity

Unrestricted cash
(sufficient cash that is free of 
restrictions is available to pay bills 
as and when they fall due)

Unrestricted cash compared to 
current liabilities
Unrestricted cash / current liabilities

10 15.01% 35.70% 24.50% 22.72% 21.31% 21.99% -

Obligations

Loans and borrowings
(level of interest bearing loans and 
borrowings is appropriate to the size 
and nature of Council's activities)
Loans and borrowings compared to 
rates
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 
/ rate revenue

11 30.74% 27.87% 37.34% 53.89% 56.59% 50.82% -

Loans and borrowings repayments 
compared to rates
Interest and principal repayments on 
interest bearing loans and borrowings 
/ rate revenue

3.81% 3.62% 4.10% 5.62% 6.98% 7.30% -

Indebtedness
(level of long term liabilities is 
appropriate to the size and nature of 
a Council's activities)

Non-current liabilities compared to 
own-source revenue
Non-current liabilities / own source 
revenue

26.05% 23.16% 30.86% 44.27% 46.28% 41.55% -

N
ot

es Projections

Key to forecast trend

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator
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5c.  Additional indicators 
 
The following table summarises the key financial sustainability performance indicators used by the 
Victorian Auditor-General’s Office (VAGO) to assess the financial sustainability of councils.  The 
ratio results are in relation to Greater Dandenong City Council covering the next four years 2024-
25 to 2027-28. 
 

 
 

 
 
Whilst the table above forecasts a decrease in several indicators this is due to the draw down in 
cash reserves and borrowings to fund the significant infrastructure investment in the Dandenong 
Wellbeing Centre and the Dandenong Community Hub (2024-25 to 2027-28 years).  Most of the 
indicators forecast steady or improved trends in Councils financial performance and position in the 
longer term. 
 
 

  

Dimension / indicator  / measure Actual Forecast Budget Trend

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 +/o/-

Stability

Rates effort
(rating level is set based on the 
community's capacity to pay)

Rates compared to property values
Rate revenue / CIV of rateable 
properties in the municipal district

12 0.27% 0.26% 0.26% 0.26% 0.27% 0.27% o

Efficiency

Revenue level
(resources are used efficiently in the 
delivery of services)
Average rate per property 
assessment
General rates and municipal charges 
/ no. of property assessments

13 $1,972.70 $2,066.28 $2,124.72 $2,179.32 $2,241.36 $2,302.31 +

N
ot

es Projections

Key to forecast trend

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

Forecast Budget

Indicator 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 Trend
Net result margin (%) 8% 13% 10% 9% 7% -

Adjusted underlying result (%) (2%) 4% 4% 4% 4% o

Liquidity (ratio) 1.68 1.54 1.47 1.50 1.53 o

Internal financing (%) 67% 73% 65% 91% 135% +

Indebtedness (%) 23% 31% 44% 46% 42% -

Capital replacement (ratio) 2.43 2.68 2.62 1.62 1.04 -

Renewal gap (ratio) 1.69 1.06 2.17 1.19 0.90 -

Projections

Key to forecast trend

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator
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Notes to indicators 
 
5a. 
 
1. Satisfaction with community consultation and engagement – Council’s satisfaction rate 

for 2022-23 was 59.  A gradually increasing target has been set for the future years. 
 

2. Sealed local roads below the intervention level – Council has improved considerably in 
this area over the last four years and achieved a result of 99.13 per cent in 2022-23. A 
gradually increasing target has been set for the future years. 

 
3. Planning applications decided within the relevant required timeframe – Council has 

continued to improve its response times and achieved a result of 93.97 per cent in 2022-23.   
A target of 83.00 per cent has been set for the forthcoming years. 

 
4. Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill – The kerbside waste diverted from landfill 

result for 2022-23 was 45.25 per cent.  A gradually increasing target has been set for the 
future years. 

 
5b. 
 
5. Working capital – The proportion of current liabilities represented by current assets.  Current 

assets to liabilities continue to remain at a healthy level across all years indicating sufficient 
liquidity.  The reduction in working capital in 2025-26 reflects the significant draw down in 
cash reserves of $9.7 million to part fund the Dandenong Wellbeing Centre. 
 

6. Asset renewal and upgrade - This percentage indicates the extent of Council's renewal and 
upgrade expenditure against its depreciation charge (an indication of the decline in value of 
its existing capital assets).  A percentage greater than 100 indicates Council is maintaining 
its existing assets, while a percentage less than 100 means its assets are deteriorating faster 
than they are being renewed/upgraded and future capital expenditure will be required to 
renew/upgrade assets.  The indicator result is forecast to be high over the 2025-26 to 2026-
27 period due to significant works for the Dandenong Wellbeing Centre major project.  The 
challenge for Council in the longer term (2027-28 onwards) will be to ensure investment in 
renewal and upgrade works result in a ratio result of 100 percent or greater. 
 

7. Rates concentration - Reflects extent of reliance on rate revenues to fund all of Council's 
on-going services.  The trend indicates that Council will become slightly more reliant on rate 
revenue compared to all other revenue sources. 

 
8. Expenses per property assessment – This ratio shows the level of expenditure per the 

number of property assessments.  The ratio result is distorted by the level of grants that the 
City of Greater Dandenong receives that have associated expenditure, which pushes the ratio 
result up.  The future year forecasts reflect a minor increasing trend primarily attributable to 
the anticipated increase in employee costs and inflationary impacts on contract costs. 

 
9. Adjusted underlying result – Council’s underlying operational surplus forecasts 

improvement in 2024-25 and remains steady thereafter, which means that Council’s overall 
asset base is not being eroded over the period shown.  This ratio is an indicator of the 
sustainable operating result required to enable Council to continue to provide core services 
and meet its objectives.  Improvement in financial performance is expected over the period, 
although continued losses means reliance on Council's cash reserves or increased debt to 
maintain services. 
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10. Unrestricted cash – Unrestricted cash is all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted 
cash.  Restricted cash represents cash and cash equivalents and financial assets that are 
available for use other than for the purpose for which it is restricted and includes cash that 
will be used to fund carry forward capital works.  Restricted items include trust funds and 
deposits, statutory reserves, carry forward capital works and conditional grants unspent.  This 
indicator is an assessment of Council’s ability to pay bills on time.  Higher unrestricted cash 
relative to liabilities suggests Council is able to pay bills in a timely manner.  This ratio result 
is expected to decrease in 2024-25 to 2027-28 due to the draw down in major cash reserves 
to fund major capital projects. 

 
11. Loans and borrowings compared to rates – This trend indicates Council's increasing 

reliance on debt against its annual rate revenue particularly in 2025-26 and 2026-27 due to 
significant new borrowings forecast to fund major infrastructure investments.  The debt ratio 
reduces again from 2027-28 and remains within prudential guidelines over the period. 

 
12. Rates effort – This ratio indicates the proportion that rate revenue represents of the total CIV 

of rateable properties in the municipal district.  It is an indication of the community’s capacity 
to pay rates.  A low or decreasing level of rates suggests an improvement in the rating burden.  
Council's ratio result is low and steady across the budget period. 
 

13. Revenue level – This ratio calculates the average rate per property assessment and is an 
indicator that resources are used efficiently in the delivery of services.  The ratio result is 
forecast to remain steady over the next four years. 
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6.  Schedule of Fees and Charges 
 
The City of Greater Dandenong provides a range of services to the community.  Some of these 
services have an associated fee or charge levied.  Services funded by fees and charges provide 
enhanced community wellbeing.   
 
This section presents the fees and charges of a statutory/non-statutory nature which will be charged 
in respect to various goods and services during the 2024-25 financial year.   
 
Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during 
the financial year subject to any changes in Council’s policy or legislation. 
 
Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by 
statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory fees, and are 
made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 
and will be reflected on Council's website. 
 
Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 
The current GST status of goods and services provided by Council is shown in this Schedule against 
each item.  It is indicated in the right-most column on each page, as follows: 
 
 Y - GST applies and is included in the amount shown 
 N - GST does not apply to this good or service 
 
The GST status of Council’s fees and charges is determined in accordance with relevant provisions 
of A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act and rulings issued by the Australian Taxation 
Office.  
 
The GST legislation deems that Council’s fees and charges are to include GST (taxable supply) 
unless they are identified for specific exemption from GST.  
 
This determination under section 81-5 of the GST Act identifies those Council fees and charges that 
are exempted from GST.  The application of GST to the Fees and Charges schedule is therefore 
based on current Australian Taxation Office (ATO) legislation including this determination. 
 
Council may be required to further amend the GST status of specific fees and charges when the 
ATO approves and issues further legislation or regulations.  The impact of further ATO amendments 
may therefore require Council to alter prices in this Schedule to reflect changes in the GST status 
of particular goods or services.  
 
Deposits, when initially paid, do not attract GST.  If part or all of a deposit is retained, due to damage 
to a hall, for example, GST is then applicable.  If the deposit does not cover the full (GST-inclusive) 
charge, the extra amount will be requested of the hirer.  
 
 
Basis of fee 
 
While many of the fees and charges in the Schedule are set at Council’s discretion, a number are 
established by a range of external bodies such as Government Departments or professional 
organisations.  In the column headed “Basis of Fee”, an indication is given of the body responsible 
for determining the price. The following legend explains the abbreviations: 
 
a) CNCL - Greater Dandenong Council 
b) REG - Regulation associated with the relevant Act, or the Act itself 
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REG – Regulatory/Statutory fees 
 
Where fees are set by Government statute, Council has no ability to alter the fee.  The statutory 
fees and charges disclosed in the following schedule are current at the time of preparing this report, 
however, they are subject to change during the financial year.  Council is required to apply the 
revised statutory fees and charges from the advised effective date.  Where relevant, prior year 
comparative statutory fees have been updated to reflect the correct statutory fee for the relevant 
financial year. 
 

 
Refund policy 
 
Refund of the following fees and charges are subject to conditions as detailed below: 
 
Pet registration  
(for fees set out under the heading ‘Pet registration’) 
 
1. Subject to Clause 5 below, refunds are only available within the first six months of the 

registration year.  Or, within six months from the date when a pet is first registered with 
Council. 

2. For a deceased animal – 50 per cent of the fee paid. 
3. Where registration has already been paid and an animal has subsequently been de-sexed, 

microchipped or trained in accordance with the requirements of the Domestic Animals Act 
Regulations – difference between full fee and reduced fee. 

4. Refunds are only available if the amount to be refunded is more than $10.00. 
5. Should a person pay a registration fee prior to commencement of the registration period for 

a given year and the subject animal subsequently dies before that period commences, a full 
refund of the fee shall be made. The refund shall be subject to provision of evidence of the 
animal’s death e.g. a vet report, or the provision of an appropriate Statutory Declaration. 

 
Local Laws Permit fees  
(only applies to fees set out under the heading ‘Local Laws Permits’) 
 
1. If a permit fee is paid at the time of the application and the application is then refused, the full 

fee will be refunded. 
2. Permit fees will only be refunded if the amount to be refunded is $30.00 or more. 
 
Planning and Design services 
(applies to fees set out under this heading) 
 
1. Withdrawal of application when assessment has not commenced - refund 75 per cent of 

application fee. 
2. Withdrawal of application when assessment has not proceeded past a request for further 

information - refund 50 per cent of application fee. 
3. Withdrawal of application when assessment has proceeded past a request for further 

information - no refund. 
 

Refund requests under other circumstances are subject to Coordinator/Manager's approval. 
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Food and Health related Business registration 
 
Food and health related business registration fees are set at rates aimed at recovering Council’s 
costs in administering and enforcing the Food Act, Public Health and Wellbeing Act and Residential 
Tenancies Act. 
 
Refund of business registration fees is therefore subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. 50 per cent of the renewal fee paid will be refunded to a business that has ceased trading 

within the first 6 months of the registration period and has not received an inspection or has 
not had samples taken for analysis.  

2. Full fee refunded where no service has been provided (e.g. request for a presale inspection), 
subject to holding of $30 administration fee. 

3. In all cases, the refund shall be subject to provision of evidence of the business’s closure or 
change of services. 

 
Building permits  
(applies to fees set out under this heading) 
 
1. Cancellation of application for permit when no work has been carried out on plans.  Refund 

50 per cent of building fee plus all levies, subject to holding minimum of $30.00 administration 
fee. 

2. Cancellation of application for permit where assessment has commenced but not issued.  
Refund 35 per cent of building fee plus all levies. 

3. Cancellation of permit when no inspection has been carried out.  Refund 25 per cent of 
building fee, subject to holding minimum of $30.00 administration fee. 

4. Report and consent fees where process commenced - no refund. 
5. Refund on miscellaneous fees discretionary - subject to Manager’s approval. 
 
Asset protection permits (applies to fees set out under this heading) 
 
1. This permit is non-refundable. 

 
 

 
Community Facility Management Policy 
 
Fees and charges for the use or hire of community facilities have been set in line with the Community 
Facility Management Policy.  Use of community facilities has been divided into the following 
categories for the purpose of charging fees: 
 

Community group All incorporated/registered not for profit groups/organisations. 

General All private use/functions. 

Commercial For-profit businesses and commercial enterprises. 

Council funded Subsidised groups and programs that are conducted by Council. 
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Name   Unit  
2023-24

 
2024-25

 
 

 
 

  Basis 
of Fee   GSTFee Fee Increase Increase

(incl. GST) (incl. GST) % $

Council Fees and Charges
Corporate Development
Freedom of Information
Other charges may apply – these are set out in the Freedom of Information (Access Charges) Regulation 2014.  Please refer to 
www.foi.vic.gov.au for up to date information.

Application fee   Per 
application   $31.80   $32.70   2.83%   $0.90   REG   N

Photocopying fees (per A4 black and 
white)   Per page   $0.20   $0.20   0.00%   $0.00   REG   N

Search fees (calculated per hour or 
part of an hour rounded to the 
nearest 10 cents)

 
Per hour or 

part  
$23.90

 
$24.50

 
2.51%

 
$0.60

 
REG

 
N

Supervision of inspection (per hour 
to be calculated per quarter hour or 
part of a quarter hour, rounded to the 
nearest 10 cents)

 

Per hour or 
part  

$23.90

 

$24.50

 

2.51%

 

$0.60

 

REG

 

N

Land Information Certificates
Land Information Certificate Fee   Per 

certificate   $28.90   $28.90   0.00%   $0.00   REG   N

Rates and Revenue Services
Credit Card Surcharge

 
% of 

payment to 
Council

 
Cost recovery

 
CNCL

 
N

This fee applies to Mastercard, Visa and other credit card payments.  There is no charge on debit and EFTPOS payments.  The 
amount of fee may change upon annual review of Council's actual cost of acceptance.

Request for prior year rate notice   Per Notice   $0.00   $11.35   ∞   ∞   CNCL   N

Public Liability Insurance Cover
Terms and conditions apply to Council's public liability insurance coverage, including a $500 excess on any one claim. A certificate of 
currency ($20 million) is required to avoid the following charges.

Single event
1-50 people (no alcohol)   Per hire   $68.50   $71.00   3.65%   $2.50   CNCL   Y
1-50 people (with alcohol)   Per hire   $96.00   $99.50   3.65%   $3.50   CNCL   Y
51-300 (no alcohol)   Per hire   $96.00   $99.50   3.65%   $3.50   CNCL   Y
51-300 (with alcohol)   Per hire   $149.50   $154.50   3.34%   $5.00   CNCL   Y
301-1,000 (no alcohol)   Per hire   $123.00   $127.00   3.25%   $4.00   CNCL   Y
301-1,000 (with alcohol)   Per hire   $203.50   $210.50   3.44%   $7.00   CNCL   Y
Meetings 1-50 people   Per hire   $41.00   $42.50   3.66%   $1.50   CNCL   Y
Meetings 51-300 people   Per hire   $55.00   $57.00   3.64%   $2.00   CNCL   Y
Stallholders, performers and others 
(1-50 attendees)   Per hire   $41.00   $42.50   3.66%   $1.50   CNCL   Y

Stallholders, performers and others 
(51-300 attendees)   Per hire   $55.00   $57.00   3.64%   $2.00   CNCL   Y

Stallholders, performers and others 
(301-1,000 attendees)   Per hire   $68.50   $71.00   3.65%   $2.50   CNCL   Y
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Name   Unit  
2023-24

 
2024-25

 
 

 
 

  Basis 
of Fee   GSTFee Fee Increase Increase

(incl. GST) (incl. GST) % $

Multi event
1-50 people (meeting/exhibition)   Per hire   $96.00   $99.50   3.65%   $3.50   CNCL   Y
51-300 people (meeting/exhibition)   Per hire   $176.50   $182.50   3.40%   $6.00   CNCL   Y
300 + people (meeting/exhibition)   Per hire   $257.00   $265.50   3.31%   $8.50   CNCL   Y
Stallholders, performers & others 
(1-50 attendees)   Per hire   $96.00   $99.50   3.65%   $3.50   CNCL   Y

Stallholders, performers & others 
(51-300 attendees)   Per hire   $176.50   $182.50   3.40%   $6.00   CNCL   Y

Stallholders, performers & others 
(301-1,000 attendees)   Per hire   $257.00   $265.50   3.31%   $8.50   CNCL   Y

Urban Screen
Commercial advertising
Low rotation (minimum 4 times per 
day)   Per month   $1,500.00   $1,550.00   3.33%   $50.00   CNCL   Y

High rotation (minimum 6 times per 
day)   Per month   $2,000.00   $2,065.00   3.25%   $65.00   CNCL   Y

Education sector rate (minimum 4 
times per day)   Per month   $500.00   $517.00   3.40%   $17.00   CNCL   Y
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Name   Unit  
2023-24

 
2024-25

 
 

 
 

  Basis 
of Fee   GSTFee Fee Increase Increase

(incl. GST) (incl. GST) % $

City Futures
Planning and Design Services
Council charges for Planning considerations and services
Statutory Planning Advice – Counter 
Service   Per service   No charge   CNCL   Y

Copy of planning permit and/or 
endorsed plans – residential 
(includes historic file search and 
retrieval request)

 

Per permit

 

$145.00

 

$150.00

 

3.45%

 

$5.00

 

CNCL

 

N

Copy of planning permit and/or 
endorsed plans – non-residential 
(includes historic file search and 
retrieval request)

 

Per permit

 

$199.00

 

$206.00

 

3.52%

 

$7.00

 

CNCL

 

N

Application for all written Planning 
advice   Per property   $167.00   $275.00   64.67%   $108.00   CNCL   Y

Application to propose to extend the 
expiry date of an existing planning 
permit

 
Per 

application  
$409.00

 
$685.00

 
67.48%

 
$276.00

 
CNCL

 
N

Application under 'Secondary 
Consent' to propose minor changes 
to plan(s) which are endorsed to an 
existing planning permit

 

Per 
application  

$458.00

 

$685.00

 

49.56%

 

$227.00

 

CNCL

 

N

Providing a printed (paper) copy of 
any Advertised Material (plans or 
other documents) for a current 
planning application, or a Greater 
Dandenong Planning Scheme 
Incorporated Document, Reference 
Document, Approved Development 
Plan or other Planning Strategy/ 
document

 

Per 
application

 

$47.00

 

$49.00

 

4.26%

 

$2.00

 

CNCL

 

N

Condition Plan endorsement re- 
check fee (First assessment is free 
of charge)

 
Per 

Application  
$0.00

 
$260.00

 
∞

 
∞

 
CNCL

 
N

Pre-application discussion service
Average proposal – pre-application 
service   Per 

application   $305.00   $440.00   44.26%   $135.00   CNCL   Y

One written document

Complex proposal – pre-application 
service   Per 

application   $421.00   $780.00   85.27%   $359.00   CNCL   Y

One written document

State or city significant proposal – 
pre-application service   Per 

application   $1,000.00   $1,400.00   40.00%   $400.00   CNCL   Y

One written document

Public notification fees – 'Advertising'
Public notification of a planning 
application or planning scheme 
amendment, 1-10 notifications and/ 
or one (1) A1 Site Notice

 

Up to 10 
names  

$220.00

 

$230.00

 

4.55%

 

$10.00

 

CNCL

 

N

continued on next page ...
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Name   Unit  
2023-24

 
2024-25

 
 

 
 

  Basis 
of Fee   GSTFee Fee Increase Increase

(incl. GST) (incl. GST) % $

Public notification fees – 'Advertising'   [continued]

Public notification of a planning 
application or planning scheme 
amendment, 11 or more notifications 
and/or per additional site notice(s)

 

Per name or 
per addit. 

site notice  

$22.00

 

$23.00

 

4.55%

 

$1.00

 

CNCL

 

N

Public notification of a planning 
application or planning scheme 
amendment in a newspaper and/or 
Government Gazette (administration 
fee in addition to the recovery of all 
costs incurred by Council in placing 
an advertisement in a newspaper 
and/or Government Gazette).

 

Per 
application/ 
amendment

 

$127.00

 

$132.00

 

3.94%

 

$5.00

 

CNCL

 

N

Planning Scheme Amendment – cost 
recovery   Case by 

case basis   Cost recovery   CNCL   N

Fees under Planning and Environment (Fees) Regulations 2016
The following fees with a basis of REG are set under state legislation. The regulations set fees in fee units. The fee units have been 
converted to a dollar value on the basis of the value of a fee unit as it is set for the financial year. A fee unit value is adjusted on 1 July 
each year by the Treasurer's amount and is published in the Government Gazette. Changes to these fees will be published on 
Council's website when gazetted by the State Government. These fees are correct at the date the Council budget was prepared.

Regulation 6, Stage 1   Per 
application   $3,149.70   $3,275.40   3.99%   $125.70   REG   N

For:
(a) considering a request to amend a planning scheme, and
(b) taking action required by Division 1 of Part 3 of the Act, and
(c) considering any submissions which do not seek a change to the amendment, and
(d) if applicable, abandoning the amendment in accordance with section 28 of the Act.

Regulation 6, Stage 2   Per 
application   $15,611.10   $16,233.90   3.99%   $622.80   REG   N

For:
(a) considering:
(i) up to and including 10 submissions which seek a change to an amendment and where necessary referring submissions to a 
panel, and
(b) providing assistance to a panel in accordance with section 158 of the Act, and
(c) making a submission in accordance with section 24(b) of the Act, and
(d) considering the Panel's report in accordance with section 27 of the Act, and
(e) after considering submissions and the Panel's report, abandoning the amendment.

Regulation 6, Stage 2   Per 
application   $31,191.60   $32,436.00   3.99%   $1,244.40   REG   N

For:
(a) considering:
(ii) 11 to (and including) 20 submissions which seek a change to an amendment and where necessary referring the submissions to a 
panel, and
(b) providing assistance to a panel in accordance with section 158 of the Act, and
(c) making a submission in accordance with section 24(b) of the Act, and
(d) considering the Panel's report in accordance with section 27 of the Act, and
(e) after considering submissions and the Panel's report, abandoning the amendment.

Regulation 6, Stage 2   Per 
application   $41,695.80   $43,359.30   3.99%   $1,663.50   REG   N

For:
(a) considering:
(iii) submissions that exceed 20 submissions which seek a change to an amendment and where necessary referring the submissions 
to a panel, and
(b) providing assistance to a panel in accordance with section 158 of the Act, and
(c) making a submission in accordance with section 24(b) of the Act, and
(d) considering the Panel's report in accordance with section 27 of the Act, and
(e) after considering submissions and the Panel's report, abandoning the amendment.

continued on next page ...
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Name   Unit  
2023-24

 
2024-25

 
 

 
 

  Basis 
of Fee   GSTFee Fee Increase Increase

(incl. GST) (incl. GST) % $

Fees under Planning and Environment (Fees) Regulations 2016   [continued]

Regulation 6, Stage 3   Per 
application   $496.90   $516.80   4.00%   $19.90   REG   N

For:
(a) adopting the amendment or a part of the amendment in accordance with section 29 of the Act, and
(b) submitting the amendment for approval by the Minister in accordance with section 31 of the Act, and
(c) giving the notice of approval of the amendment required by section 36(2) of the Act.
Note – $nil fee if Minister is the planning authority.

Regulation 6, Stage 4   Per 
application   $496.90   $516.80   4.00%   $19.90   REG   N

For:
(a) consideration by the Minister of a request to approve the amendment in accordance with section 35 of the Act, and
(b) giving notice of approval of the amendment in accordance with section 36(1) of the Act.
Note – $nil fee if Minister is the planning authority.

Regulation 7   Per 
application   $4,128.30   $4,293.00   3.99%   $164.70   REG   N

For requesting the Minister to prepare an amendment to a planning scheme exempted from the requirements referred to in section 
20(4) of the Act.

Regulation 8   Per 
application   $993.90   $1,033.50   3.98%   $39.60   REG   N

For requesting the Minister to prepare an amendment to a planning scheme exempted from certain requirements prescribed under 
section 20A of the Act.

Regulation 9, Class 1   Per 
application   $1,360.80   $1,415.10   3.99%   $54.30   REG   N

Application for permit relating to use of land

Regulation 9, Class 2   Per 
application   $206.40   $214.70   4.02%   $8.30   REG   N

Application for permit to develop land for a single dwelling per lot or use and develop land for a single dwelling per lot and undertake 
development ancillary to the use of land for a single dwelling per lot included in the application (other than a class 7 permit or a 
permit to subdivide or consolidate land) if the estimated cost of development is $10,000 or less.

Regulation 9, Class 3   Per 
application   $649.80   $675.80   4.00%   $26.00   REG   N

Application for permit to develop land for a single dwelling per lot or use and develop land for a single dwelling per lot and undertake 
development ancillary to the use of land for a single dwelling per lot included in the application (other than a class 8 permit or a 
permit to subdivide or consolidate land) if the estimated cost of development is more than $10,000 but not more than $100,000.

Regulation 9, Class 4   Per 
application   $1,330.20   $1,383.30   3.99%   $53.10   REG   N

Application for permit to develop land for a single dwelling per lot or use and develop land for a single dwelling per lot and undertake 
development ancillary to the use of land for a single dwelling per lot included in the application (other than a class 8 permit or a 
permit to subdivide or consolidate land) if the estimated cost of development is more than $100,000 but not more than $500,000.

Regulation 9, Class 5   Per 
application   $1,437.30   $1,494.60   3.99%   $57.30   REG   N

Application for permit to develop land for a single dwelling per lot or use and develop land for a single dwelling per lot and undertake 
development ancillary to the use of land for a single dwelling per lot included in the application (other than a class 8 permit or a 
permit to subdivide or consolidate land) if the estimated cost of development is more than $500,000 but not more than $1,000,000.

Regulation 9, Class 6   Per 
application   $1,544.30   $1,605.90   3.99%   $61.60   REG   N

Application for permit to develop land for a single dwelling per lot or use and develop land for a single dwelling per lot and undertake 
development ancillary to the use of land for a single dwelling per lot included in the application (other than a class 8 permit or a 
permit to subdivide or consolidate land) if the estimated cost of development is more than $1,000,000 but not more than $2,000,000.

Regulation 9, Class 7   Per 
application   $206.40   $214.70   4.02%   $8.30   REG   N

VicSmart application if the estimated cost of development is $10,000 or less.

continued on next page ...
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4.1.2 Adoption of the LTFP 2025-2034

Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate Development
Attachments: 1. LTFP 2025-2034 [4.1.2.1 - 84 pages]

Executive Summary

1. The Long-Term Financial Plan (LTFP) establishes a financial blueprint for Council’s 
management of its financial resources ensuring that the City of Greater Dandenong remains a 
sustainable Council in the longer term.

2. The Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) requires Council to develop and review a Financial 
Plan covering at least the next 10 financial years in accordance with its deliberative 
engagement practices and adopt the Financial Plan by 31 October in the year following a 
general election.  Council complied with these requirements in 2021.  This is an annual update 
of the 10-year Financial Plan as part of the 2024-25 Budget process.

3. At its meeting on 15 April 2024, Council resolved to adopt the Proposed 2025-2034 Long Term 
Financial Plan (LTFP) for public exhibition and community engagement for 28 days from 15 
May 2024 until 12 June 2024 in accordance with Council’s Community Engagement Policy.  

4. Community feedback items received during the public exhibition period are included as part of 
the 2024-25 Budget Report in this Council Meeting agenda 24 June 2024.

5. This report recommends that Council approve the 2025-2034 Long Term Financial Plan 
(annual update).
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Background

6. As part of its legislative requirements under the Local Government Act 2020, a Council must 
prepare and adopt a Financial Plan for a period of at least the next 10 financial years after a 
general election in accordance with its deliberative engagement practices and adopt the 
Financial Plan by 31 October in the year following a general election.

7. In the intervening years, Council undertakes an annual update of the LTFP which will be 
subject to community consultation in accordance with Council’s Community Engagement 
policy. 

8. The LTFP 2025-2034 has been prepared in line with the 2024-25 Budget.  
9. In respect of the 2025-2034 LTFP, Council received three (3) community feedback items during 

the community engagement period (15 May 2024 to 12 June 2024).  Details and responses to 
the feedback have been included as an Attachment to the 2024-25 Budget Report included in 
this Council Meeting agenda (24 June 2024). No changes were made to the 2025-2034 LTFP.

10. The LTFP 2025-2034 has been prepared in line with the 2024-25 Budget and represents an 
annual update of the adopted LTFP 2022-2031.  

11. Financial Outlook
12. The financial landscape we operate in is constantly changing.  There has been an 

unprecedented era of financial challenge across local government.  The cumulative impact of 
rate capping, inflationary pressures, tight labour markets, climate change events and 
government mandates are all testing Council’s financial position and longer-term financial 
sustainability.  These external factors will have a significant impact on Council’s finances for 
several years as we see increased demand for our services and increases in the costs of 
providing them.  From a financial perspective Council has the same dilemma as most 
individuals - it has a limited budget yet many and competing demands on where to allocate its 
scarce resources.

13. Sustained high interest rates have both a positive and negative impact for Council.  The cost of 
new borrowings will be higher, conversely Council is earning higher investment returns on its 
cash balances.  Council’s existing borrowing is on fixed rates over a flat maturity profile so 
there are no pressures on existing debt.  However, Council forecasts to undertake significant 
borrowings over the next four years ($74.97 million) to support the delivery of three very 
important strategic major projects – Keysborough South Community Hub, Dandenong 
Wellbeing Centre, and the new Dandenong Community Hub. 

14. The outlook for inflation and in turn interest rates has evolved considerably in the past couple 
of years. Inflation has begun to slow down but the general sentiment is that we may be dealing 
with higher rates for longer.  Volatility and uncertainty remain the only constants in this 
everchanging environment.  This may result in a revision of borrowing capacity or further 
reductions to Council’s annual capital program to service debt.

15. Forecast new borrowings in this Financial Plan will take Councils total level of indebtedness 
from $47 million forecast June 2024 to $105 million by June 2027.  Council’s indebtedness to 
rates ratio remains within prudential limits.  Related to this outcome, a further $7 million will be 
required to be diverted annually from current capital spending to fund the additional debt 
redemption and interest costs.  In addition to the cost of repaying and servicing debt is the cost 
of operating these new facilities once built.  Preliminary estimates of operating the 
Keysborough South and Dandenong Community Hub are $1.8-$2.3 million and $1.3-1.6 million 
respectively.  These increased costs can only come from one source which is a reduction in 
capital expenditure funded from rates.

16. This represents a major challenge for Council going forward, to continue its investment in 
capital improvements in the community, whilst also funding ongoing asset renewal 
requirements to maintain assets at their current service levels.
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17. Council is working hard as it navigates a complex landscape to prioritise service sustainability 
amidst the urgent need to renew existing and ageing infrastructure and at the same time invest 
in new community infrastructure.  

18. Financial stability and sustainability are one of the highest and most pressing priorities and 
challenges facing the City of Greater Dandenong Council.  Dual pressures of escalating costs 
and the constraints of rate capping coupled with rises in service demand, Council confronts a 
pivotal juncture where financial sustainability intersects with the priority of sustaining essential 
services.  As such we recognise Council’s proposed financial direction for future years may 
require changes.

19. Council assumes overall service levels will remain unchanged throughout the 10-year forward 
projection period.  For Council finances to remain sustainable and our services to remain 
affordable for the community, Council will need to continually assess the performance and 
future for current services to understand whether they are relevant and whether Council needs 
to continue to deliver them or whether there is a role for an alternative delivery model. Own 
source income options will also need to be examined as opportunities that have potential to 
support the ongoing financial sustainability of Council.

20. The key challenge over the coming years will be keeping rates affordable by meeting the rate 
cap as pressure on other revenue sources combine with key service and construction costs 
growing quicker than the rate cap.  

21. Council is projecting a strong capital works program over the LTFP period forecasting to spend 
nearly $550 million investing in important buildings and projects, as well as renewing the 
significant existing community and infrastructure asset base. 

22. At present, Council is in a sound financial position and the financial outlook for Council remains 
steady, but this will be challenged by the current volatile economic environment and the 
significant investment in key strategic projects ahead.

23. Key Outcomes of the LTFP are:
24. The achievement of an ongoing underlying operational surplus throughout the life of the LTFP.
25. After reductions in capital works funded from Council’s operations over the life of the LTFP, an 

increasing trend from $37.3 million in 2027-28 to $46 million in 2033-34 (noting that this may be 
subject to future reductions due to the impacts of rate capping and/or final major project cost 
outcomes).

26. Funding for asset renewal ranging from $27 million to $40 million (excluding major projects) 
over the life of the LTFP (again noting this is subject to future review as a result of rate capping 
and/or final major project cost outcomes).

27. The achievement of a financial structure, where annual asset renewal needs are met from the 
base operating outcome of Council, and non-renewable sources of funds such as reserves, 
and asset sales are used to fund new or significantly upgraded facilities.

28. Retention of service provision at present levels for 2024-25 (noting that this is subject to future 
review).

29. In summary, the 2024-25 to 2033-34 LTFP highlights the considerable challenges faced by 
Council over the coming ten-year period and beyond, for Council to remain a viable and 
sustainable Council and at the same time endeavouring to deliver on key infrastructure projects 
that are critical to our community. 
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Key Points / Issues / Discussion 

30. Major Projects
31. The most significant challenge included in this draft LTFP is the funding required to complete 

three very important major projects for Council over the first four years of the LTFP whilst also 
navigating rising construction costs and the ebbs and flows in the economic environment:

Project Total Project Cost 
($m)

Remaining Project 
Cost ($m)

Keysborough South Community Hub (KSCH) 29.5 28.4

Dandenong Wellbeing Centre (DWC)
(redevelopment of Dandenong Oasis)

98.4 94.8

Dandenong Community Hub (DCH) 30.0 30.0

32. The full costs of these projects in this LTFP are estimates only and may be subject to change.  
Whilst the above costs have been included in the LTFP, there have been some changes to the 
previous model, and these are detailed below.

33. Total project cost for KSCH has been revised to $29.5 million (previously $22.6 million) due to 
contaminated soil, latent conditions, change in materials and supply chain delays.  The cost 
increase will be funded by additional Council cash ($4.35 million) and transfer from Major 
Projects reserve ($2.52 million).  Additionally, the $6.12 million of new borrowings budgeted in 
2023-24 have now been rescheduled to $1 million in 2023-24 and $5.12 million in 2024-25 due 
to a delay in the Keysborough South Community Hub project.

34. DWC grant funding is now $20 million (previously $17.7 million), which has reduced the 
Council cash required from $8.75 million to $6.45 million.  

35. The three projects encompass estimated borrowings of $74.97 million to be drawn down in the 
four years commencing 2023-24 (detailed below).

36. Council has always seen loan funding as a critical component of the funding mix to deliver 
much needed infrastructure to the community.  The key area of financial risk is ensuring that 
Council does not rely so strongly on debt funding that it unduly impacts on Council’s ability to 
fund capital works on an annual basis.  The challenge for Council is the limitation on increasing 
its main revenue source due to rate capping. 

37. In addition, significant internal reserve funding ($33.9 million in total, $29.9 million remaining) 
will be used a funding source for these major projects over the next four years (predominantly 
from the major project reserve).  

38. Upon completion of the new community hubs, Council will also take on ongoing annual 
operational costs of $1.8-2.3 million for KSCH from 2024-25 and $1.3-1.6 million for DCH from 
2027-28

Forecast Budget
2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ALL BORROWINGS
Opening balance 49,779 47,182 65,141 97,092 105,357
New loan proceeds 1,000 21,920 37,100 14,950 -
Less principal repayments (3,597) (3,961) (5,149) (6,685) (7,670)
Closing balance of borrowings 47,182 65,141 97,092 105,357 97,686

Projections



  4.1.2 Adoption of the LTFP 2025-2034

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 335 of 576

39. Council’s Long Term Financial Plan and impact of rate capping
40. The State Government Rate Capping System, introduced in 2016-17, restricts Council from 

increasing rate income above a capped amount.  Each year the Minister for Local Government 
(the Minister) will set the rate cap that will specifies the maximum increase in councils’ rates 
and charges for the forthcoming financial year.  In circumstances where the rate cap is 
insufficient for a specific council’s needs, Council can apply to the Essential Services 
Commission for a higher cap.  

41. Despite Council being in a healthy financial position with satisfactory liquidity requirements, 
cash flow and reserve balances (of which the major project reserve will be heavily reduced to 
fund the Dandenong Wellbeing Centre), rate capping presents a significant challenge to 
Council’s longer term financial sustainability. Rate capping will continue to hurt Council in the 
coming years. The impacts are occurring across three (3) fronts which are:

a. Employee costs
b. Rising costs of materials and services above inflation and the rate cap
c. Government restriction on the cap increase
42. The rate cap for 2024-25 is 2.75 per cent.  A conservative forecast rate increase of 2.5 per cent 

is assumed for the remaining years of the LTFP.

Waste charges - State Government Landfill Levy 

43. During the community engagement period, Council received confirmation of the State 
Government landfill levy increase in 2024-25 of 2.68 per cent to $129.27 per tonne.  This was 
lower than the estimate used in the Proposed Budget 2024-25.  Consequently, the 2024-25 
Budget has been revised and the default waste charge has decreased from $508 to $505.    

44. At the time of writing this report, advice was received that the landfill levy will increase by 30% 
to $167.9 a tonne from 1 July 2025 (2025-26 financial year and future).  This has not yet been 
reflected in the Long Term Financial Plan 2025-2034, but will be fully recovered via Council’s 
waste charge. 

Operating grant - Financial Assistance 2024-25 Grant Allocation 

45. At the time of writing this report, Council received advice about its indicative grant allocation for 
2024-25.  This has not been reflected in the 2024-25 Budget/LTFP as the amounts are 
indicative and not confirmed (will be adjusted in the Mid-Year Budget). 

Operating grant – Regional Assessment Service contract ending 30 June 2024

46. Subsequent to the 2024-25 Proposed Budget Council received advice that the government 
contract for the Regional Assessment Service in the Community Care department would be 
ceasing from 1 July 2024.  This has been reflected in the 2024-25 Budget by reducing the grant 
funding and staff / operating costs related to the program (overall nil impact).  Future years will 
be updated in the next review of the LTFP.

Capital grant - Roads to Recovery 

47. At the time of writing this report, Council has had recent advice that it will receive $8.96 million 
in Roads to Recovery grant funding for the five-year funding period 1 July 2024 to 30 June 
2029.  This has not yet been reflected in Council’s 2024-25 Budget or Long Term Financial 
Plan 2025-2034 as the annual allocations over the five year period are currently being 
determined.  To be eligible for this funding, certain conditions must be followed, and audited 
annual reports submitted. 
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Financial Implications  

48. The LTFP 2025-2034 (annual update) provides a sound financial framework for measuring and 
planning for Council's long-term financial sustainability. It ensures funding of Council Plan 
priorities and services, as well as investment in capital works and asset renewal requirements.  
The LTFP is subject to annual reviews to ensure the financial projections remain current. 

Community and Stakeholder Consultation 

49. The community, staff and Councillors had the opportunity to provide input into the 2024-25 
Budget and Long-Term Financial Plan 2025-2034, during two consultation periods. 

50. The first consultation occurred from 30 October 2023 to 26 November 2023.   
51. The second period occurred from 15 May 2024 to 12 June 2024.   
52. These engagement periods were promoted through various channels including Council’s 

website and social media, advertisements in the local paper, Greater Dandenong Council 
News, posters in customer services centres and through targeted consultation lists. 

53. The feedback received from the first consultation period (36 participants: 29 online, 6 emails 
and 1 hard copy form) was then used to inform Councillors and Council Officers to assist with 
the allocation of resources throughout the budget process.  The main feedback themes 
included Roads and Footpaths, Rubbish and Recycling, Parks and Gardens, Libraries and 
Street Lighting. 

54. Feedback was invited from the community during the 15 May to 12 June 2024 community 
engagement period and 28 submissions were received (7 online and 21 emails).  The main 
themes include Climate, Environment, Cultural and Heritage resourcing.   Reponses are 
included in the 2024-25 Budget Report included in this Council Meeting agenda (24 June 
2024).

Links to the Community Vision and Council Plan

55. This report is consistent with the following principles in the Community Vision 2040:

• Safe and peaceful community.
• Education, training, entrepreneurship and employment opportunities.
• Embrace diversity and multiculturalism.
• Sustainable environment.
• Mind, body and spirit.
• Art and culture.

56. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives from the Council Plan 
57. 2021-25:

• A socially connected, safe and healthy city.

• A city that respects and celebrates diversity, our history and the arts.

• A city of accessible, vibrant centres and neighbourhoods.

• A green city committed to a sustainable future.

• A city that supports entrepreneurship, quality education and employment outcomes.

• A Council that demonstrates leadership and a commitment to investing in the community.
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Legislative and Policy Obligations  

58. This report has considered Council’s legislative and policy obligations (where applicable) as 
outlined in the Report Considerations section detailed in the front of this Agenda. The 
applicable obligations considered and applied are:

• The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020.
• The Gender Equality Act 2020.
• Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 2006.
• Climate Change and Sustainability.
• Related Council Policies, Strategies or Frameworks.

Conclusion 

59. The LTFP forms an essential element of Council’s overall planning framework and is vital in 
ensuring the long-term financial health of this Council. 

60. In preparing the LTFP, the State Government capping of Council rates will continue to impact 
the finances of Council and have been included in the preparation of this Plan. Moreover, these 
figures will be further impacted by the flow on effects of the reduction in capital works to fund 
new infrastructure.

61. The LTFP 2025-2034 (annual update) highlights the considerable challenges faced by Council 
over the coming ten-year period, in order for Council to remain a viable and sustainable 
Council and at the same time, endeavouring to deliver on major infrastructure investments that 
are critical to our community.

Officer Recommendation
That Council:

1. approves the 2025-2034 Long Term Financial Plan (annual update); and

2. delegates authority to the CEO to reflect any changes made by Council at tonight’s 
meeting, which are not reflected in the Attachment/s to make minor typographical 
corrections or changes to images before final publication and to make editorial changes 
to the Plan that reflect any changed obligations to Council required by state government 
agencies.

MINUTE No.1095
Moved by: Cr Rhonda Garad
Seconded by: Cr Sean O'Reilly

That Council:

1. approves the 2025-2034 Long Term Financial Plan (annual update); and

2. delegates authority to the CEO to reflect any changes made by Council at tonight’s 
meeting, which are not reflected in the Attachment/s to make minor typographical 
corrections or changes to images before final publication and to make editorial changes 
to the Plan that reflect any changed obligations to Council required by state government 
agencies.

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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4.2 POLICY AND STRATEGY
4.2.1 Planning Scheme Amendment C249gdan - Minor Amendments to the Heritage 

Overlay

Responsible Officer: Executive Director City Futures
Attachments: 1. Summary of Heritage Overlay Revisions - Amendment 

C249gdan [4.2.1.1 - 3 pages]
2. Schedule to Clause 43.01 Heritage Overlay Greater 

Dandenong Planning Scheme [4.2.1.2 - 12 pages]

Executive Summary
1. This report presents the outcomes of the 2024 review of the existing Heritage Overlay at 

Clause 43.02 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme. The review identified the need for a 
planning scheme amendment to update errors and omissions in the existing overlay schedule. 
The proposed planning scheme amendment would ensure the existing overlay is consistent 
with the Department of Transport and Planning’s Planning Practice Note No.1 Applying the 
Heritage Overlay and the Greater Dandenong Heritage Study Stage 1 (1998) and Greater 
Dandenong Heritage Study and Heritage Places (2003).

2. This report recommends that Council support the preparation of Planning Scheme Amendment 
C249 to the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme and seek authorisation from the Minister for 
Planning to prepare and exhibit the amendment.
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Background
3. The Greater Dandenong Heritage Study was prepared between 1998-2003. The study 

informed Planning Scheme Amendment C31 which introduced 68 sites to the Heritage Overlay 
(Schedule 1 to Clause 43.01 Heritage Overlay of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme 
[attached]).

4. Since this time only one (1) new place has been added to the Heritage Overlay (Victorian 
Heritage Registration of Sandown Racecourse Grandstand). 

5. In response to the Council Annual Plan 2023-24, heritage consultants were engaged to 
complete a review of the 69 sites listed within the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay to 
determine if each of these sites remained appropriate for listing in the schedule to the overlay, 
if they required changes, or if they should be removed from the schedule. 

6. The review recommended a planning scheme amendment to make changes to 18 of the 
existing sites listed on the Heritage Overlay. These are the subject of this report. 

Key Points / Issues / Discussion 
7. Following the review undertaken of the existing 69 sites, a planning scheme amendment is now 

required to correct minor inaccuracies in the existing Heritage Overlay Schedule. It is 
recommended the amendment:

a. Amends Heritage Overlay controls for 15 sites to:

i. Apply controls to 2 sites;

ii. Remove controls to 5 sites;

iii. Revise map (either increase or decrease extent) to 7 sites; and

iv. Update name / address to 5 sites.

b. Delete Heritage Overlay controls for 3 sites (including 2 buildings that burnt down and 1 tree 
that no longer exists). 

8. Attachment 1 of this report details the changes recommended for each of the 18 sites, 
including the reasons the change is required and what the implications are for each site.

9. The proposed planning scheme amendment affects 3 existing Council owned sites, by 
updating the Heritage Overlay controls which apply to the sites. The affected assets are:

a. Noble Park Public Hall (HO03) - to make minor correction to reduce the extent of the map 
and remove tree controls as it is no longer applicable. 

b. River Red Gums along Memorial Drive road reserve in Noble Park (HO44) - to increase the 
mapped extent to fully cover the extent of planting. 

c. Oak Tree at Springvale Civic Centre (HO70) - to revise the mapped extent to apply to the 
correct tree identified as significant in the heritage citation. 

10. These changes will have no impact on the heritage values of the heritage buildings or trees. 
The Heritage Overlay will continue to apply to the sites. 

Financial Implications  
11. This item can be absorbed into the current operating budget. There are no further financial 

implications associated with this report. 
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Community and Stakeholder Consultation 
12. To inform this stage of the project, letters were sent to the landowners of the 18 affected 

Heritage Overlay sites on 14 May 2024 advising them of the proposed amendment and 
providing an opportunity to discuss the proposal ahead of Council considering the amendment. 

13. These letters outlined the project and the proposed change, along with why the change was 
required and what the implications would be. 

14. Council received two (2) enquiries from landowners, in response to the letter, regarding the 
historical significance of their site and to seek clarification. Neither landowner objected to the 
proposed changes.

15. The planning scheme amendment will include the required public exhibition as part of the 
planning scheme amendment process. Any affected person who makes a submission during 
the exhibition then has the opportunity to be heard by an independent planning panel post-
exhibition.

Links to the Community Vision and Council Plan
16. This report is consistent with the following principles in the Community Vision 2040:

• Embrace diversity and multiculturalism.
17. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives from the Council Plan 2021-25:

• A city that respects and celebrates diversity, our history and the arts.
The report directly relates to Action 7 of the Council Annual Plan 2023-24 to complete a review 
of the existing sites covered by the Heritage Overlay within the Planning Scheme.

Legislative and Policy Obligations  
18. This report has considered Council’s legislative and policy obligations (where applicable) as 

outlined in the Report Considerations section detailed in the front of this Agenda. The 
applicable obligations considered and applied are:

• The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020.

• Climate Change and Sustainability.

• Related Council Policies, Strategies or Frameworks.

Conclusion 
19. The review of the existing Schedule to the Heritage Overlay recommended a planning scheme 

amendment to address errors and omissions identified for 18 sites listed on the Heritage 
Overlay schedule.

20. Planning Scheme Amendment C249gdan proposes to address these recommendations by:  

i. Applying controls to 2 sites;

ii. Removing controls to 5 sites;

iii. Revising the map (either increase or decrease extent) to 7 sites; 

iv. Updating name / address to 5 sites; and

v. Deleting Heritage Overlay controls for 3 sites.
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21. Affected landowners were notified of the proposed planning scheme amendment in May 2024 
to provide an opportunity to discuss the changes. Two (2) enquiries were received, both of 
which sought more information, however did not object to the proposed changes. Further 
community consultation will be conducted as part of the formal planning scheme amendment 
process. 

22. This report seeks Council endorsement to prepare and commence the statutory process to 
seek authorisation and exhibit Planning Scheme Amendment C249gdan.

Officer Recommendation
That Council: 

1. endorses the preparation of Planning Scheme Amendment C249gdan to make minor 
amendments to the Schedule to Clause 43.01 Heritage Overlay of the Greater 
Dandenong Planning Scheme as set out in this report and attachments; and

2. commences the statutory process for Planning Scheme Amendment C249gdan through 
seeking authorisation from the Minister for Planning to prepare an amendment to the 
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme and exhibit the amendment in accordance with 
the Planning and Environment Act, 1987.

Cr Bob Milkovic left the Chamber at 7.44 pm and returned at 7.48 pm prior to voting on this 
item.

MINUTE No.1096
Moved by: Cr Rhonda Garad
Seconded by: Cr Richard Lim OAM

That Council: 

1. endorses the preparation of Planning Scheme Amendment C249gdan to make minor 
amendments to the Schedule to Clause 43.01 Heritage Overlay of the Greater 
Dandenong Planning Scheme as set out in this report and attachments; and

2. commences the statutory process for Planning Scheme Amendment C249gdan through 
seeking authorisation from the Minister for Planning to prepare an amendment to the 
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme and exhibit the amendment in accordance with 
the Planning and Environment Act, 1987.

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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4.2.2 Council Plan 2021-25 (Revised 2024) and Annual Plan 2024-25

Responsible Officer: Executive Manager Strategy Growth & Advocacy
Attachments: 1. Council Plan 2021-25 ( Revised 2024) Final [4.2.2.1 - 34 

pages]
2. Annual Plan 2024-25 Final [4.2.2.2 - 22 pages]
3. Communications Plan Council Plan and Annual Plan 

[4.2.2.3 - 1 page]

Executive Summary

1. This report presents the Council Plan 2021-25 (Revised 2024) and Annual Plan 2024-25 for 
Council approval. The draft plans were made publicly available, along with the Proposed 
Budget 2024-25 and Long Term Financial Plan 2025-34, for a community consultation period of 
28 days in accordance with Council’s Community Engagement Policy. 28 pieces of feedback 
were received during the public exhibition period, four (4) of which related directly to the Annual 
Plan and Council Plan.

2. This report recommends that the Council Plan (Revised 2024) and Annual Plan 2024-25 be 
approved by Council.
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Background

3. Council reviews its Council Plan each year and develops a new Annual Plan to reflect the 
activities planned for the coming financial year.

4. The Local Government Act 2020 states that the Council Plan much include the following:

• the strategic direction of the Council;

• strategic objectives for achieving the strategic direction;

• strategies for achieving the objectives for a period of at least the next four (4) financial years;

• strategic indicators for monitoring the achievement of the objectives;

• a description of the Council’s initiatives and priorities for services, infrastructure and amenity; 
and

• any other matters prescribed by the regulations.
5. The Council Plan 2021-25 (Revised 2024) represents Council’s planned strategies and actions 

over the four (4) year period to drive Council towards the long-term vision of the community for 
the City of Greater Dandenong. The Council Plan guides the work of Council and provides the 
structure for how business plans and budgets are prepared to achieve Council’s longer-term 
goals and strategic objectives.

6. The Annual Plan 2024-25 expands on these four (4) year priorities and provides more detail 
on the activities to be undertaken in the coming financial year.

Key Points / Issues / Discussion 

7. The Council Plan 2021-25 (Revised 2024) required minor changes to the demographic data 
and the inclusion of a new Mayor’s message. With changes to the Executive Team in 2024 the 
organisational chart has also been updated. All strategic objectives and priorities remain the 
same.

8. The Council Plan 2021-25 (Revised 2024) and Annual Plan 2024-25, along with the Proposed 
Budget 2024-25 and Long Term Financial Plan 2025-34, were subject to a 28 day community 
consultation period from Wednesday 15 May until Wednesday 12 June.

9. Council received four (4) pieces of feedback specific to the Council Plan and Annual Plan 
which addressed the need to enhance the following:

1) Increased climate, biodiversity and conservation initiatives and resourcing
2) Initiatives to address the cost of living and living conditions
3) Increased mental health support
4) Less spending on large projects and more spending on ongoing parks maintenance and 

combatting climate change

10. The revised Council Plan and Annual Plan, Attachments 1 and 2, address the above feedback 
through the following Council led initiatives and actions;

1) Additional funding has been included in the 2024-25 Budget to accelerate Council’s tree 
planting programs and recent successful grants applications will assist in delivering a range of 
programs related to liveable waterways and better parks and playgrounds.
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2) Council initiatives supporting those in our community who are vulnerable include the 
implementation of the Anti-Poverty Strategy, the Dandenong Zero Rough Sleeping Project and 
representation on the Regional Local Government Social and Affordable Housing Charter 
group of Councils which supports advocacy to increase affordable and social housing.

3) Council whilst not a direct service provider in the area of mental health does play a role in 
promoting available services and resources to our community and will continue to do so.

4) A diverse range of initiatives are included in this year’s Annual Plan along with major 
infrastructure projects including environmental sustainability and enhancement of green 
spaces. Essential community services and programs continue to receive funding in 2024-25.

Financial Implications  

11. There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

Community and Stakeholder Consultation 

12. A range of consultation activities were undertaken for the development of the Council Plan 
2021-25 which included a deliberative community panel, surveys, workshops, and online 
activities. Participants in the activities included community, business and industry, Councillors 
and staff representatives. The outcomes of these consultations influenced the development of 
the existing plan. 

13. Staff and Councillors had the opportunity to provide input into the revised Council Plan and 
Annual Plan, prior to a community consultation period being held from 15 May until 12 June. 
This consultation process was promoted through various channels including Council’s website 
and social media; advertisements in the local paper; Greater Dandenong Council News; and 
Customer Service Centres.

14. 28 pieces of feedback were received during the community consultation period, four (4) of 
which related to the Annual Plan and Council Plan. This feedback was provided to Councillors 
however no further changes were made to the revised version for 2024. 

15. The adopted documents will be communicated to the community, key stakeholders and staff 
as outlined in the Communications Plan in Attachment 3.

Links to the Community Vision and Council Plan

16. This report is consistent with the following principles in the Community Vision 2040:

• Safe and peaceful community. 

• Education, training, entrepreneurship and employment opportunities.

• Embrace diversity and multiculturalism.

• Sustainable environment.

• Mind, body and spirit.

• Art and culture.
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17. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives from the Council Plan 2021-25:

• A socially connected, safe and healthy city.

• A city that respects and celebrates diversity, our history and the arts.

• A city of accessible, vibrant centres and neighbourhoods.

• A green city committed to a sustainable future.

• A city that supports entrepreneurship, quality education and employment outcomes.

• A Council that demonstrates leadership and a commitment to investing in the community.

Legislative and Policy Obligations  

18. This report has considered Council’s legislative and policy obligations (where applicable) as 
outlined in the Report Considerations section detailed in the front of this Agenda. The 
applicable obligations considered and applied are:

• The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020.

• The Gender Equality Act 2020.

• Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 2006.

• Climate Change and Sustainability.

• Related Council Policies, Strategies or Frameworks.

Conclusion 

19. Council reviews its Council Plan each year to ensure it is still meeting the needs of the 
community and creates an Annual Plan to outline the specific activities for the next financial 
year. The Council Plan 2021-25 (Revised 2024) and Annual Plan 2024-25 are now presented 
to Council for final adoption.

Officer Recommendation
That Council: 

1. notes the community engagement and consultation that took place summarised in this 
report; 

2. approves the Council Plan 2021-25 (Revised 2024) and Annual Plan 2024-25; and

3. responds to those that have provided feedback to advise them of the outcome of 
Council’s decisions.

MINUTE No.1097
Moved by: Cr Sophie Tan
Seconded by: Cr Bob Milkovic
That Council: 

1. notes the community engagement and consultation that took place summarised in this 
report; 

2. approves the Council Plan 2021-25 (Revised 2024) and Annual Plan 2024-25; and

3. responds to those that have provided feedback to advise them of the outcome of 
Council’s decisions.

 CARRIED 10 / 0





















































































































  4.3.1 Ward Boundary Review 2024 - Victorian Electoral Commission Final Report

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 502 of 576

4.3 OTHER
4.3.1 Ward Boundary Review 2024 - Victorian Electoral Commission Final Report

Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate Development
Attachments: 1. Att 1 Ward Boundary Review - Letter from the Minister for 

Local Government (003) [4.3.1.1 - 1 page]
2. Att 2 Ward Boudary Review - VEC Final Report [4.3.1.2 - 

28 pages]
3. Att 3 Ward Boundy Review S 277 Victoria Government 

Gazett - 28 May 2024 - G G 2024 S 277 [4.3.1.3 - 3 
pages]

......

Executive Summary

1. Under section 17 of the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act), the Minister for Local 
Government the Hon Melissa Horne MP asked the Victorian Electoral Commission (VEC) to 
conduct ward boundary reviews for 10 local council areas prior to the general elections in 
October 2024. 

2. The VEC indicated that the 10 local council areas, which included Greater Dandenong would 
have at least one ward where the number of voters per councillor was forecast to fall outside 
of the +/-10% range required under section 15(2) of the Act at the time of the general 
elections in October 2024.

3. A report summarising the VEC's findings and recommendations, were accepted by the 
Minister for Local Government and are attached to this report for noting (Attachment 2).

4. This report recommends that Council receive and note the Victorina Electoral Commissions 
final report as accepted by the Minister for Local Government.
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Background

5. On 23 April 2023, in accordance with section 17 of the Local Government Act 2020, the 
Minister for Local Government asked the VEC to conduct ward boundary reviews for 10 local 
council areas, including Greater Dandenong City Council.  Upon completion of the review the 
VEC provided a final report to the Minister recommending ward boundary adjustments in the 
Greater Dandenong municipality to Dandenong, Keysborough, Keysborough South, 
Springvale Central, Springvale North, Springvale South and Yarraman Wards to ensure 
compliance with section 15(2) of the Act.

6. The recommended ward boundary adjustments aim to balance the number of voters per 
councillor in each ward and ensure that the average number of voters per councillor does not 
exceed a variance of greater or less than 10 percent.

7. The VEC considered a range of proposed ward boundary adjustments for Greater 
Dandenong City Council and chose the 2 strongest models for public consultation.

8. Model 1 proposed changes to the boundaries of Cleeland, Dandenong, Dandenong North, 
Keysborough, Keysborough South, Noble Park, Springvale South, Springvale Central, 
Springvale North and Yarraman wards.

9. Model 2 proposed changes to the boundaries of Dandenong, Keysborough, Keysborough 
South, Springvale South, Springvale Central, Springvale North and Yarraman wards.

10. An overwhelming majority of the public submissions received supported Model 2.  
11. Model 2 was considered more closely aligned with Council’s current ward boundaries 

providing continuity and familiarity to electors.
12. The Minister advised Council in writing that she has accepted the VEC final report and 

recommendations (Attachment 1).

Key Points / Issues / Discussion 

13. The VEC recommended ward boundary adjustments for Greater Dandenong City Council to 
the Minister for Local Government in-line with Model 2 as detailed in Appendix 1 of the VEC’s 
Final Report (Attachment 2).

14. The Minister for Local Government considered the final report provided to her under section 
17 of the Local Government Act 2020 and was satisfied that the review was conducted in 
accordance with the Act and has accepted the VEC recommendations. 

15. Following implementation of the ward boundary adjustments recommended by the VEC, the 
new boundaries within the municipality will apply for the October 2024 general elections.

16. Notice of the Order in Council which altered the boundaries, including a map of the new 
boundaries was published in the Victorian Government Gazette on 28 May 2024 (Attachment 
3).

17. The VEC’s final report outlines the process undertaken by the VEC when deciding on the 
appropriate ward boundary adjustments. The process included a preliminary report, based 
on research, analytical data and public submissions.  
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Financial Implications  

18. There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

Community and Stakeholder Consultation 

19. The VEC conducted extensive public information and awareness programs outlining the 
review process.  The public consultation process included public submissions and an online 
public hearing. A total of 213 submissions were received.

20. A list of submitters is provided in Appendix 2 of the VEC’s Final Report (Attachment 2).

Links to the Community Vision and Council Plan

21. This report is consistent with the following principles in the Community Vision 2040:

• Safe and peaceful community. 

• Education, training, entrepreneurship and employment opportunities.

• Embrace diversity and multiculturalism.

• Sustainable environment.

22. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives from the Council Plan 
23. 2021-25:

• A Council that demonstrates leadership and a commitment to investing in the community.

Legislative and Policy Obligations  

24. This report has considered Council’s legislative and policy obligations (where applicable) as 
outlined in the Report Considerations section detailed in the front of this Agenda. The 
applicable obligations considered and applied are:

• The Overarching Governance Principles of the Local Government Act 2020.

Conclusion 

25. Changes to the ward boundaries of the wards of the municipality district of Greater 
Dandenong City Council as published in the Victora Government Gazette on 28 May 2024 
have effect for the purpose of and from the next general election of Greater Dandenong City 
Council to be held on 26 October 2024.

Officer Recommendation
That Council receives and notes the Victorian Electoral Commission’s Final Report as 
accepted by the Minister for Local Government, The Hon Melissa Horne MP.

MINUTE No.1098
Moved by: Cr Sean O'Reilly
Seconded by: Cr Richard Lim OAM

That Council receives and notes the Victorian Electoral Commission’s Final Report as 
accepted by the Minister for Local Government, The Hon Melissa Horne MP.

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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4.3.2 Microsoft Enterprise Agreement Renewal

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer
Attachments: 1. CONFIDENTIAL - Microsoft Licensing [4.3.2.1 - 5 pages]

This report contains an attachment which is deemed confidential under s 
3(1)(g) of the Local Government Act 2020. It contains private commercial 
information, being information provided by a business, commercial or financial 
undertaking that relates to trade secrets; or, if released, would unreasonably 
expose the business, commercial or financial undertaking to disadvantage.

Executive Summary

1. To seek approval to utilise the Municipal Association of Victoria (MAV) Procurement Panel to 
renew Council’s Microsoft Enterprise, contracting with supplier Data#3 Pty Ltd (ABN 31 010 
545 267) for the provision of licensing to cover the suite of software requirements.  
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Background

2. The City of Greater Dandenong utilises Microsoft software extensively throughout Council’s 
operations. Licensing is not provided directly from Microsoft, rather through third party 
agents, to which Council can form a contract. 

3. MAV Procurement ran a public tender in May 2020 which complies with the requirements of 
councils Procurement Policy and the Local Government Act 2020. This contract offers a pre- 
approved list of suppliers to which Council now wishes to access for the purposes of gaining 
best value for the licensing required. 

4. Data#3, a listed supplier with MAV Procurement, are a respected and well known 
organisation who has partnered with Council over many years in the provision of this service. 
It is recommended that this engagement continue with the establishment of a three (3) year 
contract. 

Financial Implications  

5. The annual resource requirements associated with this report are $646,740 compared to the 
annual budget allocation of $647,00 for this purpose.

6. All Information Technology costs are appropriately budgeted during each year’s operational 
budget process. Annual licensing costs for Microsoft suite of products are considered and 
included every year. The final price is determinant according to the number of user licenses 
required, as well as the type of license required, such as on premise or online.

7. Utilising today’s volume, the following costs are expected to total $1,940,371.23:

Transaction Type Year 1 Total ex 
GST

Year 2 Total ex 
GST

Year 3 Total ex 
GST

Annual Order (On-premises) $54,975.82 $54,975.82 $54,975.82
Annual Order (Online Services) $591,764.59 $591,764.59 $591,764.59
Subtotal $646,740.41 $646,740.41 $646,740.41

Links to the Community Vision and Council Plan

8. This report is consistent with the following principles in the Community Vision 2040:
Not Applicable

9. This report is consistent with the following strategic objectives from the Council Plan 2021-
25:
Not Applicable

Legislative and Policy Obligations  

10. This report has considered Council’s legislative and policy obligations (where applicable) as 
outlined in the Report Considerations section detailed in the front of this Agenda. The 
applicable obligations considered and applied are:
Not Applicable
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Officer Recommendation
 That Council:

1. APPROVES MAV Contract No. NPN 2.17-3 Provision of Microsoft Licensing with Data#3 
Pty Ltd (ABN 31 010 545 267) for a three (3) year period at a total cost of $1,940,371.23;

2. AUTHORISES the Chief Executive Officer to execute the contract agreements with the 
above contractor; and

3. NOTES that the expenditure under this contract is in accordance with Council’s Budget 
for financial year 2024/25 and provisions will be made accordingly for the associated 
future budget periods for this contract. 

MINUTE No.1099
Moved by: Cr Sean O'Reilly
Seconded by: Cr Richard Lim OAM

That Council:

1. APPROVES MAV Contract No. NPN 2.17-3 Provision of Microsoft Licensing with Data#3 
Pty Ltd (ABN 31 010 545 267) for a three (3) year period at a total cost of $1,940,371.23;

2. AUTHORISES the Chief Executive Officer to execute the contract agreements with the 
above contractor; and

3. NOTES that the expenditure under this contract is in accordance with Council’s Budget 
for financial year 2024/25 and provisions will be made accordingly for the associated 
future budget periods for this contract. 

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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4.3.3 Report on Matters Discussed at Councillor Briefing Sessions and Pre-Council 
Meetings

Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate Development
Attachments: Nil

Executive Summary
1. As part of Council’s ongoing efforts to improve transparency in Council processes, matters 

discussed at Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council Meetings (other than those matters 
designated to be of a confidential nature) are reported on at Council meetings.

2. The matters listed in this report were presented to Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council 
Meetings during the period 20 May – 11 June 2024.

3. This report recommends that the information contained within it be received and noted.
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Background
4. The Executive Team and associated staff at Greater Dandenong City Council host Councillor 

Briefing Sessions and Pre-Council Meeting on a regular basis (weekly) to inform Councillors 
about the work officers are undertaking, share information, obtain feedback and discuss 
strategies and options for current and future work.

5. To ensure transparency in this process matters discussed at Councillor Briefing Sessions 
and Pre-Council Meetings (other than those matters designated to be confidential under the 
Local Government Act 2020) are reported on at Council meetings. This report represents 
matters discussed at the Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council Meetings during the 
period 20 May – 11 June 2024.

Matters Presented for Discussion

Item Councillor Briefing 
Session/Pre-
Council Meeting

1. Draft Climate Change Community Engagement and 
Mobilisation Plan (CEMP)
Councillors were provided with details of a proposed, 
evidence-based plan to formalise Council’s approach to 
community climate change engagement.

Councillor Briefing 
Session (CBS) – 20 
May 2024

2. Request to Purchase a Property for Open Space 
(CONFIDENTIAL under section 3(1)(a) & (g) of the Local 
Government Act 2020)

CBS – 20 May 2024

3. Election Period
Councillors and council officers discussed Council’s Election 
Period Policy (which is contained within the Governance 
Rules) and what candidates, council staff and Council (as an 
organisation) are permitted to do during that period after 
nominations have closed.

CBS – 20 May 2024

4. General Discussion
Councillors and council officers briefly discussed the following 
items:
a) lighting at George Andrews Reserve;
b) a recent dog attack within the City;
c) asset management issues for adjacent property owners 

when properties are being developed; and
d) Agenda items for the Council Meeting of 27 May 2024.

CBS – 20 May 2024

5. General Discussion
Councillors and council officers briefly discussed the following 
items:
a) some recent challenges being faced at Council’s leisure 

centres (managed by South East Leisure Pty Ltd); and 
b) Agenda items for the Council Meeting of 27 May 2024.

Pre-Council 
Meeting (PCM) – 27 
May 2024
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6. Strategic Advocacy Framework
Councillors and council officers discussed a proposed 
Strategic Advocacy Framework to strengthen the planning, 
coordination and efficiency of Council’s advocacy efforts in 
order to maximise delivery of best outcomes for the Greater 
Dandenong community.

CBS – 3 June 2024

7. Sandown Racecourse Development
Councillors were presented with details of the proposed 
planning scheme amendment (C229gdan) which will facilitate 
the future urban renewal of Sandown Racecourse. A report is 
being presented to the Council Meeting of 11 June 2024.

CBS – 3 June 2024

8. General Discussion
Councillors and council officers briefly discussed the following 
items:
a) South East Leisure Pty Ltd update;
b) Councillor attendance at ALGA and proposed advocacy; 

and
c) Agenda items for the Council Meeting of 11 June 2024.

CBS – 3 June 2024

9. General Discussion
Councillors and council officers briefly discussed the following 
items:
a) Councillor attendance at ALGA and proposed meetings 

with Members of Parliament; 
b) Update on community events and function room use;
c) Council election update; and
d) Agenda items for the Council Meeting of 11 June 2024.

PCM – 11 June 
2024

Apologies
6. Councillor Bob Milkovic submitted an apology for the Councillor Briefing Session held on 20 

May 2024.

7. Councillors Tim Dark and Jim Memeti submitted apologies for the Pre-Council Meeting held 
on 27 May 2024.

8. Councillor Dark, Mayor Formoso and Councillor Memeti submitted apologies for the 
Councillor Briefing Session held on 3 June 2024.

9. Councillor Memeti submitted an apology for the Pre-Council Meeting held on 11 June 2024.

Legislative and Policy Obligations  
10. Section 9 of the Local Government Act 2020 states that a Council must in the performance of 

its role give effect to the overarching governance principles. 

11. Reporting on matters discussed at Councillor Briefing Sessions and Pre-Council Meetings 
gives effect to the overarching governance principles (in particular, section 9(i) of the Local 
Government Act 2020) in that the transparency of Council actions and information is 
ensured.
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Officer Recommendation
That:

a) the information contained in this report be received and noted; and

b) the information discussed at the above listed Councillor Briefing Session on 20 May 
2024 that was declared confidential under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2020 
in Item 2 above remains confidential until further advisement unless that information 
forms the subject of a subsequent Council report.

MINUTE No.1100
Moved by: Cr Richard Lim OAM
Seconded by: Cr Bob Milkovic

That:

a) the information contained in this report be received and noted; and

b) the information discussed at the above listed Councillor Briefing Session on 20 May 
2024 that was declared confidential under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2020 
in Item 2 above remains confidential until further advisement unless that information 
forms the subject of a subsequent Council report.

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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4.3.4 List of Registered Correspondence to Mayor and Councillors

Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate Development
Attachments: 1. Correspondence Received 3-14 June 2024 [4.3.4.1 - 2 

pages]

Executive Summary
1. Subsequent to past Council resolutions in relation to the listing of registered incoming 

correspondence addressed to the Mayor and Councillors, Attachment 1 to this report 
provides a list of this correspondence for the period 3-14 June 2024.

Officer Recommendation
That the listed items for the period 3-14 June 2024 provided in Attachment 1 to this report 
be received and noted.

MINUTE No.1101
Moved by: Cr Angela Long
Seconded by: Cr Loi Truong

That the listed items for the period 3-14 June 2024 provided in Attachment 1 to this report 
be received and noted.

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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5 NOTICES OF MOTION
5.1 NOTICE OF MOTION NO. 37 - RE-EVALUATION OF MEETING 

SPACE ALLOCATION FOR SPRINGVALE DISTRICTS FOOTBALL 
NETBALL CLUB

Responsible Officer: Executive Director Community Strengthening 
Author: Cr Sean O'Reilly 
  

Preamble
1. The Springvale Districts Football Netball Club (The Club) is an integral part of our community, 

offering valuable sporting opportunities and fostering community spirit.

2. For several years, the Club has expressed concerns regarding the adequacy of the meeting 
spaces allocated to them, which will not support their current and growing needs and activities. 
It is important to ensure that the facilities provided meet the requirements of the Club and 
support its continued growth and contribution to the community. The Club’s substantial growth 
also includes the impending addition of several netball teams, which will further highlight the 
inadequacy of the Club’s current allocated meeting space.

3. The Club has clearly communicated to Council that the small size and inadequate quality of its 
current allocation require the Club to lease the Function Room. Consequently, volunteers at the 
Club are required to spend several hours setting up and packing up the Function Room under 
limited time restrictions.

Motion 
 That Council:
1. reviews the current meeting space allocation for the Springvale Districts Football 

Netball Club to assess its adequacy in meeting the Club's needs and considers the 
seasonal allocation of the Function Room to better support the Club's activities and 
growth, without the requirement to set up and pack up the Function Room; and

2. prepares a report with findings and options to be presented at a future Council 
meeting, expected to be on 22 July 2024, for a decision.

MINUTE No.1102
Moved by: Cr Sean O'Reilly
Seconded by: Cr Tim Dark

That Council:
1. reviews the current meeting space allocation for the Springvale Districts Football 

Netball Club to assess its adequacy in meeting the Club's needs and considers the 
seasonal allocation of the Function Room to better support the Club's activities and 
growth, without the requirement to set up and pack up the Function Room; and

2. prepares a report with findings and options to be presented at a future Council 
meeting, expected to be on 22 July 2024, for a decision.

 CARRIED 10 / 0
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6 REPORTS FROM COUNCILLORS/DELEGATED MEMBERS AND 
COUNCILLORS' QUESTIONS

Question 
Cr Tim Dark
Residents are concerned about Op shop bins located at Parkmore Shopping Centre, Keysborough. 
These bins located near K Mart and Hungry Jacks are accumulating a substantial amount of 
donations resulting in noise at night and mess within the complex. Residents reported this issue to 
centre management who have advised them to contact Council. Can officers provide an update on 
this matter?

Comment 
Cr Lana Formoso, Mayor
This issue is also occurring in Dandenong Square near the RSL Club.

Response
Peta Gillies, Executive Director Community Strengthening 
Officers will follow up and work with Parkmore Shopping Centre and Dandenong Square to 
address this issue. 

Question 
Cr Tim Dark
Residents are concerned about inadequate lighting in Trevor Court, Keysborough. The issue is 
mainly in the middle of the Court. Can officers please investigate and determine if additional 
lighting is required? 

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Question taken on notice. 

Question 
Cr Tim Dark
I would like to inquire about car parking allocation on Church Road between Clarendon Drive and 
Chandler Road, Keysborough. Councillor Garad has raised this issue before. There is one lane for 
traffic each way and traffic flow is affected by the car park allocation especially during peak hour 
and during events at the Serbian Orthodox Church. The traffic is heavily congested. Can this 
please be investigated?
 
Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Question taken on notice. 

Question 
Cr Rhonda Garad
It is unfortunate we are seeing overseas, unprecedented temperatures of around 52 degrees and 
consequently thousands of heat related deaths. Many deaths have occurred in public spaces. In 
preparation for the heat that we likely will experience in the next summer months, Harmony Square 
itself has no water fountain available for the public. Will Council consider placing a fountain 
enabling residents to refill their bottles? Can an audit be completed on existing fountains, 
particularly in public spaces, to ensure they are in working order and that water bottles can be filled 
from those fountains?
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Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Officers can conduct an audit. There is a water fountain in Harmony Square and several nearby 
along Lonsdale Street. 

Comment 
Cr Rhonda Garad
I think there are a couple of inaccuracies that I will discuss with you later. 

Question 
Cr Rhonda Garad
The Keysborough South Maintenance Levy is an annual fee that residents agree to pay via Section 
32 on their homes in Keysborough South. This fee covers the additional 15% maintenance costs 
associated with the estate and capital improvements not directly funded by the Council’s capital 
works program. The fund, currently around $1.8 million, is expected to run into a deficit by 2028-29 
and can be indexed annually by CPI.

1. Which residents are required to pay this levy, and which are exempt, and why?
2. Is it fair for residents to pay this levy when the parks and gardens are accessible to 

residents from outside the area?
3. Is it possible for residents to charge non-residents for using their parks to offset the levy 

costs?
4. Did Council sign an agreement to hold and administer these funds? If so, can this 

agreement be made public?
5. Can the fund be collected and administered by a third party?
6. Why hasn’t the fund expanded with the addition of new dwellings?
7. How many staff members are funded through this levy?
8. Can the levy be discontinued?
9. Can the scope of works covered by the additional 15% be reduced to lower costs?
10. What specific capital improvements have been funded by the Keysborough South 

Maintenance Levy?
11. How does Council plan to address the anticipated deficit in the levy fund by 2028-29?
12. Are there any measures in place to ensure transparency and accountability in the 

administration of the levy fund?
13. How does the maintenance cost and capital improvement benefit provided by the levy 

compare to similar estates without such a levy?
14. What options are available for residents who may find the levy financially burdensome?
15. Has there been any community consultation regarding the future of the levy and potential 

adjustments?
16. How does Council justify the annual CPI indexation of the levy?
17. Are there alternative funding models that could replace the levy without compromising the 

quality of maintenance and improvements?
18. What impact would reducing the scope of works have on the overall maintenance and 

appearance of the estate?
19. How has the fund been managed in previous years, and what lessons have been learned to 

improve its administration?
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Response
Jacqui Weatherill, Chief Executive Officer
There are an extensive number of questions that you have asked. It will take us quite a bit of time 
to pull all that information together and then we will brief Council about it. 

Question 
Cr Rhonda Garad
Is there an update on the 51A Douglas Street tree that the community is so desperate to save? 

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Officers are still in the process of negotiations and have not reached any decision yet. 

Comment 
Cr Angela Long
On Saturday 15 June 2024 I attended the lunch and soccer match between Dandenong City and 
Melbourne Knights. Melbourne Knights won 5:2. 

On Sunday 16 June 2024, as president of Roadsafe South East, I hosted a motorcycle first aid 
course at the Dandenong Civic Centre. We had 41 motorcyclists attend the course. A highway 
motorcycle police officer attended and spoke about the safety of riding motorbikes on the road. It 
was an all-day event sponsored by the Department of Transport. 

On Saturday 22 June 2024, I attended the soccer match between Dandenong City and Dandenong 
Thunder. Thunder won 1:0. 

Comment 
Cr Sophie Tan
Over the weekend, I had the opportunity to attend the Greater Dandenong Refugee Week with 
Mayor Lana Formoso, Deputy Mayor Richard Lim OAM and Councillor Phillip Danh. This year’s 
theme is celebrating the Finding Freedom: Family. We are the most multicultural municipality in 
Australia, so we are here to celebrate the refugees and offer services to them. It was a great 
opportunity to meet refugees who have arrived recently. 

Question 
Cr Sophie Tan
Recently, youth crime has increased in our local areas. I know we do have a Community Safety 
Advisory Committee, but what is our responsibility in terms of helping to reduce crime? Are we 
working with the police? What is the strategy? 



   

MINUTES Council Meeting 240624 556 of 576

Response
Peta Gillies, Executive Director Community Strengthening 
We put a lot of emphasis on community safety and working with VicPol even more. We are working 
very closely with community groups, with our view being that it needs to be an all of community 
approach. While it is no consolation, crime statistics across the state are significantly increased 
and unfortunately, part of that is within our municipality. We are in the final stages of drafting a 
revised Community Safety Action Plan, which talks to a revised strategy that we have developed 
with VicPol and other local community groups to work out how we can best approach community 
safety, both actual and perceptions of community safety, because we now have some data around 
that. That piece of work will be coming to Councillors soon. 
Ultimately, VicPol have responsibility in terms of community safety, apprehending offenders, those 
sorts of things, and I know they work really hard at that. We also work very closely with them in 
terms of our CCTV program, of which we have got the most cameras. We are looking to get more 
in the state, so we want to make sure that they are really assisting in our attempts at improving 
community safety. 

Question 
Cr Sophie Tan
Submissions for the Sandown Racecourse planning scheme is due to be completed this week. 
How are we going with obtaining submissions from residents? 

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
It closed today. Council has submitted its submission as per the Council report from 11 June 2024 
meeting. Any residents are to submit their submissions directly to the authorities. 

Further question 
Cr Sophie Tan
What is the process regarding the submission? When will we hear back? 

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
The public hearing panel will happen in August 2024. 

Comment 
Cr Richard Lim OAM, Deputy Mayor
On Monday 10 June 2024, I had a meeting with Mr John Mullahy, MP Glen Waverley regarding 
State Government Funding for Monash Children and the Climate Emergency. 

On Tuesday 11 June 2024, we met with the Young Leaders and had a chance to answer many 
questions. 

On Wednesday 12 June 2024, I presided over two (2) Citizenship Ceremonies with nearly 400 new 
Australians welcomed. 

On Thursday 13 June 2024, I attended the ”Strong Communities don’t just happen- Springvale’s 
Story” narrative Launch hosted by the Scanlon Foundation Research Institute.  
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On Friday 14 June 2024, I attended the Hopeful Horizons ‘Navigating the Australian Job Market’ 
event. It was to help people learn how to apply for jobs. Later that day, I gave a tour of the 
Springvale Activity Centre to Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures. I also 
attended the Vietnamese Museum Australia Gala Dinner and met with Hon Julie Collins MP about 
the Springvale Revitalisation Action Plan.

On Sunday 16 June 2024, I attended the 2024 Dragon Boat Festival Celebration as a Guest 
Speaker, hosted by the Spring Arts Multicultural Seniors Association. It was an excellent event that 
I have been supporting for the last two (2) or three (3) years. 

On Monday 17 June 2024, I attended a meeting with Greg Sott, president of the Springvale District 
Football Netball Club along with Peta Gillies, Executive Director Community Strengthening, James 
Campbell, Coordinator Sport and Recreation and Councillor Sean O’Reilly. 

On Tuesday 18 June 2024, I attended a meeting with Kidsafe CEO, Melanie Courtney. 

On Thursday 20 June 2024, I met with the Positive Aging Advisory Committee. Later that day, I 
had a Zoom meeting with the Mental Health Foundation Australia Medical Advisory Committee. I 
am very passionate about this cause. 

On Friday 21 June 2024, I attended the launch of SisterWorks Springvale Manufacturing Hub.

On Saturday 22 June 2024, I attended the City of Greater Dandenong Refugee Week celebration 
at Springvale Community Hub.

On Sunday 23 June 2024, I attended the Refugee Week at Dandenong Skate Park organised by 
Mr Wicki hosted by the Sri Lankan community. Later that day, I was a Guest Speaker at Dragon 
Boat Festival hosted by the Jin Hua Chinese Association.  

I also attended the Refugee Week celebration hosted by the Vic Afghan Associations Network.

Question 
Cr Richard Lim OAM, Deputy Mayor
Can we organise a forum on the Springvale Revitalisation Action Plan to inform our community 
leaders and business owners to understand the action plan that was endorsed by Council on 13 
May 2024? 

Question 
Cr Richard Lim OAM, Deputy Mayor
Can we please organise a safety forum? There are concerns about the homeless, beggars and 
drug addicts. I come across these issues every day. The police work very hard but are short 
staffed.

Response
Jacqui Weatherill, Chief Executive Officer
Officers will be happy to investigate Springvale Revitalisation and community safety forums. 
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Comment 
Cr Phillip Danh
I would like to echo the sentiments of Councillor Sophie Tan and Deputy Mayor Richard Lim OAM 
and congratulate Council officers for organising the Refugee Week event at Springvale Library on 
the weekend. That was a well-run event and a fantastic celebration. 

Question 
Cr Phillip Danh
Safety has continued to be a prevalent issue and concern across my ward. I have spoken to 
residents, particularly around Kelvinside Road, Noble Park, who have reported that there is a slow 
rise in break ins and attempted break ins that they have witnessed. They feel that the lighting in the 
area has become quite poor around that strip in Kelvinside Road, with many of the light poles not 
operating fully in the evenings. I am happy to send some photos with specific poles. Can this 
please be investigated and find out what Council can do to better improve lighting around some 
parts of our residential areas? 

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Please send us those details. We are happy to audit the lighting and see whether we need to add 
any more or not.

Question 
Cr Phillip Danh
Another issue being raised is the increase in homelessness and rough sleeping, especially around 
the residential areas and Ross Reserve, Noble Park. Residents have reported that rough sleepers 
are not causing a disturbance, but they want to see that there is appropriate access to shelter 
available for them, particularly now that the winter months have arrived. What local services are 
there for those sleeping rough to access? How can they find out about this information? Given that 
Greater Dandenong has one of the highest rates of homelessness in metropolitan Melbourne, does 
Council have a plan to address this problem? 

Response
Peta Gillies, Executive Director Community Strengthening 
It is something that we are putting significant, ongoing efforts into. There is information on our 
website but we can distribute that more widely. Dandenong Zero is a project whereby we aim to 
know every rough sleeper within our municipality. What we ask is that if you do come across 
someone and it is safe to ask them if they need some help, let us know. We can check the 
Dandenong Zero listing. We work hard to link them in with one of the appropriate local providers. 
There is also Launch Housing, several local providers whose role it is to directly support rough 
sleepers in our community. We work closely with all of those agencies. It is a continued effort and 
is not going to be something that goes away. It does take a joint community effort to help support 
those who need It. Happy to include more information in the Minutes in terms of those agencies: 
www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/works-and-projects/dandenong-zero-homelessness-project, 
and will continue to share that as part of Council News. In Council News, we also publish a 
segment that talks to residents, VicPol are often involved in that, as well as Neighbourhood Watch, 
giving residents tips around safety and how to ensure that they, their homes and their families are 
kept as safe as possible. 

http://www.greaterdandenong.vic.gov.au/works-and-projects/dandenong-zero-homelessness-project
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Further response
Jacqui Weatherill, Chief Executive Officer
This is an increasing and complex issue across Australia, not just the City of Greater Dandenong 
and officers are deeply concerned about it. Our Strategic Advocacy team and I have been working 
hard and talking about briefing the Councillors about homelessness, the experience of 
homelessness and the types of people that become homeless and why they become homeless, 
and what some of the options and solutions are at the City of Greater Dandenong. We look to 
continue that series of briefings when the new Council is elected. We hear what you are saying, 
and we are preparing to provide more information. Once we have briefed Councillors, it could be 
that we look to provide more information to the community.

Comment 
Cr Phillip Danh
Thank you very much for that response and yet, more information would be great. I do not doubt 
that there are a lot of great services in the area, but a lot of the time, people just do not know 
where to find them. I am pleased to say that Council is taking this issue seriously, and also 
acknowledging the work of Marjan Hajjari, Executive Manager Strategic Growth and Advocacy on 
attempting to solve this issue. 

Question 
Cr Phillip Danh
A resident has advised that the gates at the Ross Reserve All Abilities Play Space are not locking 
properly. I went down the other day and the lock is broken, so there is nothing to keep the gates 
shut. As school holidays will be commencing, I wanted to raise this before the park gets busier. 

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Question taken on notice. 

Question 
Cr Sean O’Reilly
We have received some correspondence from a resident around Glendale Reserve, Springvale. 
There are a few issues regarding an abandoned house and low street lighting which I will put 
through the regular channels for investigation. The question I am enquiring about is when we 
receive reports of syringes in parks, does Council then step up its cleaning efforts, or does it have 
hot spots for syringes that it patrols for? 

Response
Sanjay Manivasagasivam, Executive Director City Futures
Officers immediately clean the reported syringe and also we identify hot spots. We then have 
regular inspections of those areas because we can identify if regular dumping is happening. We 
have specialised staff trained in that area to pick up those syringes. Thank you for letting us know. 
We will investigate and monitor that area for any further dumping. 

Comment 
Cr Sean O’Reilly
Congratulations to Mayor Lana Formoso on her election to the Victorian Local Government 
Association Board. I am sure you will have a profound impact on the Local Government sector.
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Comment 
Cr Lana Formoso, Mayor
I will table the events I have attended in the Minutes. One of the events that I am deeply 
passionate about is Refugee Week, which we have just concluded. We did have a great event on 
Saturday, so a big thank you to our organisers for doing such a great job. Would have been better 
to see a few more participants. So, we will work a little bit harder to get that message across 
moving forward. 

I would like to bring to everyone's attention that we obviously chair the Mayoral Task Force “Back 
Your Neighbour” campaign, which is trying to advocate federally for our refugees and asylum 
seekers. I would urge everybody here in the gallery and anyone that is watching at home, if they 
could, please sign the https://backyourneighbour.com.au/petition/. Obviously, the more voices we 
have when we go to Parliament to advocate for our refugees and asylum seekers, the better. 

Question 
Cr Lana Formoso, Mayor
The other thing I wanted to bring to Council’s attention is an issue that comes up pretty much every 
school holidays. I try and sign my children up to some of the Dandenong Council school holidays 
events, and it feels as though they are booked out instantly from the moment that we release them. 
It is a constant battle. I know a lot of my residents have complained of the same issue. Is there an 
opportunity of us doubling up on some of the popular programs? I understand budgeting, but 
clearly there is a lot of people that are being left behind. I feel as though a lot of our families, as 
mentioned earlier, are doing it tough. These free, or low-cost events are quite important for our 
residents. How can we move forward with increasing the number of events that we hold? 

Response
Peta Gillies, Executive Director Community Strengthening 
We will investigate. Obviously, we have just approved our budgets in terms of our programs, and 
there are costs involved in such programs, but we have also got some very good connections in 
with other local program providers. I will provide further information and perhaps look at the 
possibility of increasing those in future years. 

Comment tabled
Cr Lana Formoso, Mayor
On Wednesday 12 June 2024, I attended the flag raising ceremony to celebrate the 126th 
anniversary of Philippine Independence.

On Thursday 13 June 2024, I attended the Youth and the Law Forum facilitated by CGD Youth and 
Family Services. Later that day, I attended the Your Life, Your Choice workshop for staying in 
charge of your finances (free for people aged 55+) hosted by Kingston City Council.

I also attended the ‘Strong communities don’t just happen – Springvale’s story’ narrative launch 
hosted by the Scanlon Foundation Research Institute. 

https://backyourneighbour.com.au/petition/
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On Saturday 15 June 2024, I attended the Multicultural Mental Health Forum hosted by Afri-
Auscare.

On Sunday 16 June 2024, I attended the Eid Al Adha celebration hosted by the Druze Community 
Charity of Victoria. Later that day, I attended the Opening Ceremony for the Sunrise Community 
Centre Hampton Park.

On Monday 17 June 2024, I attended a meeting with Masquerade Youth Productions – supporting 
the Arts, Culture and Heritage Strategy. Later that day, I attended a meeting with South East 
Councils Climate Change Alliance’s new CEO Helen Steel and president Simon Woodland.

On Thursday 20 June 2024, I attended the Wellsprings for Women 30th Anniversary celebration, 
Parliament House. Later that day, I attended the Inaugural NextGen Unite concert showcasing 
talented South Sudanese Australians and other multicultural artists from the South East suburbs.

On Friday 21 June 2024, I attended the launch of SisterWorks Springvale Manufacturing Hub. 
Later that day, I attended a meeting with Inspector Cam Prins. 

On Saturday 22 June 2024, I attended the CGD Refugee Week celebration at the Springvale 
Community Hub. Later that day, I attended the Dandenong Derby: Dandenong Thunder vs 
Dandenong City.

On Sunday 23 June 2024, I attended the Make Your Move in Greater Dandenong: Active and 
Healthy Families at Springers Leisure Centre. Later that day, I attended the Refugee Week 
celebration hosted by the Vic Afghan Associations Network. I also attended the Samoan Safety 
event.

  
Jacqui Weatherill, Chief Executive Officer tabled a listing of responses to questions taken 
on notice/requiring further action at the previous Council meeting. A copy of the responses 
is provided as an attachment.  
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7 URGENT BUSINESS

No urgent business was considered.  
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8 CLOSE OF BUSINESS

The Meeting closed at 8.39 pm.

                                             
Signature
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